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Founded in 1971, GMS operates a network of
approximately 300 distribution centers with extensive
product offerings of wallboard, ceilings, steel framing
and complementary construction products. In addition,
GMS operates approximately 100 tool sales, rental and
service centers, providing a comprehensive selection of
building products and solutions for its residential and
commercial contractor customer base across the United
States and Canada. The Company’s unique operating
model combines the benefits of a national platform
and strategy with a local go-to-market focus, enabling
GMS to generate significant economies of scale while
maintaining high levels of customer service.

GMS at a Glance (as of July 31, 2022):

- Leading North American specialty distributor
of interior construction products

- Approximately 300 distribution locations across
the US and Canada

- ~6,700 employees

- Founded in 1971

- Headquartered in Tucker, GA
- NYSE: GMS
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margin, Adjusted EBITDA and Free Cash Flow to the most directly
comparable GAAP measures, see Appendix.



Dear Fellow Shareholders,

Fiscal 2022 was another record-setting year for GMS.
Our team has demonstrated resiliency and the ability
to manage through continued supply chain constraints,
lingering effects of the pandemic, unprecedented
inflation and external geopolitical factors, all of which
have influenced the broader economy.

Through it all, the more than 6,700 GMS team members
achieved record levels of performance, while maintaining
a relentless focus on delivering best-in-class service for
our customers.

Specifically, we realized:

o Net sales of $4.6 billion, an increase of over 40%
compared to 2021, with each of our four product
categories achieving more than 25% revenue growth;

e Net income of $273.4 million, an increase of 159.0%
compared to 2021;

e Adjusted EBITDA* of $566.9 million, an increase of
77.5% compared to 2021;

e Adjusted EBITDA margin* of 12.2%, a 250-basis point
year-over-year improvement;

o SG&A and Adjusted SG&A* as a percentage of sales
improvement of 260 basis points each as a result of
the inflationary pricing environment and continued
operating cost discipline; and

e Gross profit of $1.5 billion, an increase of 40%
compared to 2021.

GMS maintained a strong balance sheet and liquidity
position throughout fiscal 2022, which enabled us to
continue to achieve significant platform expansion,
investing $350 million in five acquisitions and opening
numerous greenfield locations and AMES stores during
the year. As of our fiscal year-end, GMS had cash on
hand of $101.9 million and $330.7 million of available

liquidity under our revolving credit facilities. We have
no near-term debt maturities and our net debt leverage
at the end of the fiscal year improved to 1.8 times,
compared to 2.5 times at the end of fiscal 2021.

Our strategic growth priorities have continued to guide
our path forward, including:

1. Expanding Share in Our Core Products

Throughout fiscal year 2022, we focused on driving
growth by expanding market share in our core product
categories: wallboard, ceilings, and steel framing.

Our teams worked diligently to maintain exceptional
levels of customer service and to ensure product
availability even through periods of tight supply.

We recorded year-over-year volume growth in each
of our core product categories despite continuing
relative softness in commercial demand. In addition,
we recorded organic revenue growth of 26.5% for
wallboard and 17.0% for ceilings, while total revenues
in steel framing increased more than 100% organically
on exceptionally strong pricing.

As a leader in the markets we serve, our customers
have come to rely upon the benefits our scale provides
to secure the products they need, which we expect will
continue to help us gain share as we move forward.

2. Growing Our Complementary Products

We continue to diversify and profitably expand our
offerings in complementary product lines, such as
insulation, tools & fasteners, lumber, joint treatment, and
stucco/EIFS, enhancing our value to our customers.

During the year, we experienced double digit year-
over-year growth in Complementary Products each
quarter with full year net sales growth of 29% as a
result of both price increases and higher volumes.

In select regions, we added specialists and dedicated
locations to help drive sales in certain products such
as tools & fasteners and the exterior envelope.

As a result of these initiatives, along with our strategic
platform expansion activities, our teams delivered
double digit revenue growth for nearly every product
line within our Complementary Products segment for
the year.

3. Expanding Our Platform Through Accretive
Acquisitions and Greenfield Opportunities

We believe we are well positioned for growth, and our
financial flexibility enables us to continue our focus on
platform expansion, both through acquisitions and
opening new greenfield locations.

*Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA margin and Adjusted SG&A are Non-GAAP financial measures. For a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA,
Adjusted EBITDA margin and Adjusted SG&A to the most directly comparable GAAP measures, see Appendix.

This letter contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Please see the cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements in our attached Annual Report on Form 10-K.



During fiscal 2022, we invested approximately $350
million to acquire five distributors, including Westside
Building Material (one of the largest independent
distributors of interior building products in the U.S.,
with locations in California and Nevada) and AMES
Taping Tools (the leading provider of automatic
taping and finishing tools and related products to
professional drywall finishing contractors).

Notably, AMES represents an important and margin-
accretive addition to our Complementary Product
offerings. Also, during fiscal 2022, we opened 13
GMS greenfield locations and five new AMES stores
while under GMS ownership.

4. Leveraging Scale and Technology to Drive Improved
Efficiency, Productivity and Profitability

In line with our commitment to deliver a best-in-class
customer experience, we continue to leverage our
scale and employ technology and best practices to
provide superior service capabilities, product breath
and an attractive value proposition.

More specifically, we are building what we call

our “Yard of the Future,” improving the customer
experience through technology and productivity
enhancements. Our ecommerce efforts are making
it easier for customers to transact business with us,
enabling them to log in to place and schedule orders,
check pricing and availability, make order and/or
shipping adjustments, check delivery status, pay
online and receive photographic proof of delivery
notification. Additionally, behind the scenes, we
are automating many of our processes and driving
inventory management and operational efficiencies
in our yards and within our support functions to
improve efficiency, productivity and profitability
while delivering greater value to our customers and
stakeholders.

Also, we have made crucial investments to modernize
and upgrade our fleet, adding essential safety features
to protect our employees and customers and to provide
important risk management benefits. These fleet
upgrades are also intended to help us control our
fuel consumption and improve the overall efficiency
of our field and yard operations, as we continue to
control costs and examine ways to reduce our carbon
footprint.

Beyond our progress executing our strategic growth
priorities, our Board of Directors recently approved an
expanded share repurchase program under which the
Company is authorized to repurchase up to $200 million
of outstanding common stock. This announcement
reflects the Board’s, as well as the management team'’s,
confidence in the strength and future prospects of our

business. Going forward, we remain committed to driving
long-term shareholder value with a disciplined capital
allocation strategy that balances investing in our organic
growth initiatives, pursuing accretive M&A transactions,
paying down debt, and opportunistically leveraging
favorable market conditions for share repurchases as
they arise.

Looking ahead to fiscal 2023 and beyond, we believe
that our unique culture and attributes, our business
model and strong underlying market fundamentals
position GMS for continued success. While macro
uncertainties persist and the impact of rising interest
rates coupled with inflation and geopolitical unrest
create many unknowns, we continue to see high levels
of construction activity, and the gap between housing
starts and completions provides confidence for the
remainder of calendar 2022. Although residential single-
family demand may face pressure later in the year, we are
continuing to see signs of improvement in commercial
construction. Further, the investments we have made
over the past several years have helped position GMS
for not only the near-term supply and demand dynamics,
but more importantly for our long-term success.

In total, we believe we are well positioned with a
balanced mix of products and expertise to serve both
commercial and residential customers allowing us to
flex our efforts according to the demands of each
market. Over the longer-term, we are focused on
leveraging our competitive differentiators to deliver
best-in-class service to drive growth and bring value
to all our stakeholders.

On behalf of the entire Board and management team,

| want to thank our team members, customers, supplier
partners and shareholders for their continued support
and trust. We have demonstrated our resilience and
dedication as a team, as well as the value of our platform.
| have full confidence in our ability to continue creating
sustainable and enhanced shareholder value.

Sincerely,

>

John C. Turner, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer
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BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Our fiscal year ends on April 30 of each year. References in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to a
fiscal year mean the year in which that fiscal year ends.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27 A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”). You can generally identify forward-looking statements by our use of forward-looking terminology such

FIaNTS

as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,”
“potential,” “predict,” “seek,” or “should,” or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable
terminology. In particular, statements about the markets in which we operate, including growth of our various
markets, and statements about our expectations, beliefs, plans, strategies, objectives, prospects, assumptions or
future events or performance contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in Item 1A, “Risk Factors,”

Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and Item 1,

“Business” are forward-looking statements.

We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations, assumptions, estimates and
projections. While we believe these expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections are reasonable, such
forward-looking statements are only predictions and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties, many
of which are beyond our control. These and other important factors, including those discussed in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K in Item 1 A, “Risk Factors,” Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and Item 1, “Business,” may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to differ materially from any future results, performance or achievements expressed
or implied by these forward-looking statements. Some of the factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements include:

* the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and other widespread public health crises on our
business, industry and results of operations;

* general business, financial market and economic conditions, including inflation, rising interest rates,
supply chain disruptions, labor shortages and capital market volatility,

* our dependency upon the commercial and residential construction and residential repair and remodeling,
or R&R, markets;

* competition in our highly fragmented industry and the markets in which we operate;
* consolidation in our industry;

* the fluctuations in prices and mix of the products we distribute, and our ability to pass on price
increases to our customers and effectively manage inventories and margins in both inflationary and
deflationary pricing environments;

* our ability to successfully implement our growth strategy, including through making and integrating
acquisitions, opening new branches and expanding our product offerings;

* our ability to expand into new geographic markets;

 product shortages, other disruptions in our supply chain or distribution network and potential loss of
relationships with key suppliers, including increased shipping costs and delays and heightened risks
relating to sourcing products from international suppliers;

* our ability to manage operating costs and achieve cost reduction and productivity initiatives;

* the potential loss of any significant customers and the reduction of the quantity of products our
customers purchase;

* our ability to renew leases for our facilities on favorable terms or identify new facilities,

* our ability to effectively manage our inventory as our sales volume or the prices of the products we
distribute fluctuate,



o significant fluctuations in fuel costs or shortages in the supply of fuel;

* natural or man-made disruptions to our facilities,

* the risk of our Canadian operations, including currency rate fluctuations;

* our ability to continue to anticipate and address evolving consumer demands;

* exposure to product liability and various other claims and litigation, and the adequacy and costs of
insurance related thereto,

 operating hazards that may cause personal injury or property damage,

* the impact of federal, state, provincial and local regulations, including potential changes in our effective
tax rate;

* our inability to engage in activities that may be in our best long-term interests because of restrictions in
our debt agreements;

* our current level of indebtedness and our potential to incur additional indebtedness;
* our ability to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms, if at all;

 our ability to attract and retain key employees while controlling costs, including the impact of labor and
trucking shortages;

* cybersecurity breach, including misappropriation of our customers’, employees” or suppliers’ confidential
information, and the potential costs related thereto;

* a disruption in our IT systems and costs necessary to maintain and update our IT systems;
* the imposition of tariffs and other trade barriers, and the effect of retaliatory trade measures; and

* other risks and uncertainties, including those listed in Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Given these risks and uncertainties, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking
statements. The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not guarantees
of future performance and our actual results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the
development of the industry in which we operate, may differ materially from the forward-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, even if our results of operations, financial condition
and liquidity, and events in the industry in which we operate, are consistent with the forward-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, they may not be predictive of results or developments in
future periods.

Any forward-looking statement that we malke in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speaks only as of the
date of such statement. Except as required by law, we do not undertake any obligation to update or revise, or to
publicly announce any update or revision to, any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of
new information, future events or otherwise, after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should,
however, review the factors and risks we describe in the reports we will file from time to time with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, after the date of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.



PART 1
Item 1.  Business

Company Overview and History

2 ¢

GMS Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “we,” “our,” “us,” “GMS” or the “Company”),
through its wholly owned operating subsidiaries, operates a network of nearly 300 distribution centers with
extensive product offerings of wallboard, ceilings, steel framing and complementary construction products.
We also operate nearly 100 tool sales, rental and service centers. Through these operations, we provide a
comprehensive selection of building products and solutions for our residential and commercial contractor
customer base across the United States and Canada. Our unique operating model combines the benefits of a
national platform and strategy with a local go-to-market focus, enabling us to generate significant economies
of scale while maintaining high levels of customer service.

Since our founding in 1971, we have grown our business from a single location to nearly 300 branches
across 44 U.S. states and six Canadian provinces through a combination of strategic acquisitions, opening
new branches (“greenfields”) and organic growth. Underpinning that growth is our entrepreneurial culture,
which both enables us to drive organic growth by delivering outstanding customer service and makes us
an attractive acquirer for smaller distributors.

During fiscal 2022, this growth included the acquisition of Westside Building Material (“Westside™),
one of the largest independent distributors of interior building products in the U.S. with nine locations
across California and one in Nevada, and the acquisition of Ames Taping Tools Holding LLC (“Ames”),
the leading provider of automatic taping and finishing (“ATF”) tools and related products to the professional
drywall finishing industry and the acquisition of three smaller specialty products distributors. We also
opened 13 greenfield locations.

Business Strategy

The key elements of our business strategy are as follows:

* Expand Core Products. Our business strategy includes an emphasis on expanding our market share
in our core products (wallboard, ceilings and steel framing) both organically and through
acquisitions.

* Grow Complementary Products. We are focused on growing our complementary product lines
(insulation, lumber, ready-mix joint compound, tools, fasteners and various other construction
products) to better serve our customers, diversify and expand our product offerings while driving
higher sales and margins.

* Platform Expansion. Our growth strategy includes the pursuit of both greenfield openings and
strategic acquisitions to further broaden our geographic markets, enhance our service levels and
expand our product offerings.

* Greenfield openings. Our strategy for opening new branches is to further penetrate markets
that are adjacent to our existing operations. Typically, we have pre-existing customer relationships
in these markets but need a new location to fully capitalize on those relationships.

* Acquisitions. We also have a proven history of consummating complementary acquisitions in
new and contiguous markets and intend to continue to pursue acquisitions. Due to the large,
highly fragmented nature of our markets and our reputation throughout the industry, we
believe we will continue to have access to a robust acquisition pipeline to supplement our organic
growth. We use a rigorous targeting process to identify acquisition candidates that we believe
will fit our culture and business model and we have built an experienced team of professionals to
manage the acquisition and integration processes. As a result of our scale, purchasing power
and ability to improve operations through implementing best practices, we believe we can continue
to achieve substantial synergies and drive earnings accretion from our acquisition strategy.



* Drive Improved Productivity and Profitability. Our business strategy entails a focus on enhanced
productivity and profitability across the organization, seeking to leverage our scale and employ both
technology and other best practices to deliver further margin expansion and earnings growth. We
expect to continue to capture profitable market share in our existing footprint by delivering
industry-leading customer service.

Products

We provide a comprehensive product offering of wallboard, ceilings, steel framing and complementary
construction products. By carrying a full line of wallboard and ceilings along with steel framing and other
complementary products, we serve as a one-stop-shop for our customers. For information on net sales of our
products, see Note 17, “Segments” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Wallboard

Wallboard is one of the most widely used building products for interior and exterior walls and ceilings
in residential and commercial structures due to its low cost, ease of installation and superior performance in
providing comfort, fire resistance, thermal insulation, sound insulation, mold and moisture resistance,
impact resistance, aesthetics and design elements. Wallboard is sold in panels of various dimensions, suited
to various applications. In commercial and institutional construction projects, architectural specifications and
building codes provide requirements related to the thickness of the panels and, in some cases, other
characteristics, including fire resistance. In addition, there are wallboard products that provide some
additional value in use. These include lighter weight panels, panels with additional sound insulation, and
panels coated to provide mold and moisture resistance. In addition to the interior wallboard products
described above, exterior sheathing is a water-resistant wallboard product designed for attachment to exterior
sidewall framing as an underlayment for various exterior siding materials.

While highly visible and essential, wallboard typically comprises only 3% to 5% of a new home’s total
cost. Given its low price point relative to other materials, we believe that there is no economical substitute
for wallboard in either residential or commercial applications. We believe wallboard demand is driven by a
balanced mix of both residential and commercial new construction as well as repair and remodeling (“R&R”)
activity.

Ceilings

Our ceilings product line consists of suspended mineral fiber, soft fiber and metal ceiling systems
primarily used in offices, hotels, hospitals, retail facilities, schools and a variety of other commercial and
institutional buildings. The principal components of our ceiling systems are typically square mineral fiber tiles
and the metal grid that holds the tile in place, and architectural specialty ceilings. Architectural specialty
ceiling products are a growing component of our product offering given their specified, often customized
nature and our ability to service customer requirements through a dedicated and experienced sales force
focused on such products.

Our ceilings product line is primarily sold into commercial and institutional applications. Because
interior contractors frequently purchase ceilings and wallboard from the same distributor, the breadth of
our offerings serves to increase sales of all of our product lines, which are often delivered together to the same
worksite as part of a commercial package. In the ceilings market, brand is highly valued and often specified
by the architect of a commercial building. Because of our strong market position, we have exclusive
access to the leading ceilings brands in many of our local markets. In addition, because ceiling tile systems
differ in size, shape and aesthetic appeal between manufacturers, they can be replaced with the same brand for
R&R projects. As a result, the leading brands’ installed base of product generates built-in demand for
replacement product over time, and we can benefit from these recurring sales.



Steel Framing

Our steel framing product line consists of steel track, studs and the various other steel products used to
frame the interior walls of a commercial or institutional building. Typically, the contractor who installs the
steel framing also installs the wallboard, and the two products, along with ceilings, insulation and
complementary products are sold together as part of a commercial package. Most of our steel framing
products are sold for use in commercial buildings.

Complementary Products

We offer our customers complementary products, including insulation, lumber and other wood
products and ready-mix joint compound, as well as ancillary products they need to complete a construction
project, including tools, fasteners and safety products. We partner with leading vendors for many of these
products and merchandise them in showrooms that are adjacent to many of our warehouses or free-standing,
in the case of our Ames tool sales, rental and service centers. In addition, certain products are provided on
a regional basis to address local preferences. We believe our customers value our product breadth and
geographic reach, as well as our on-site expertise and consultative services. While pricing is important to
our customers, availability, convenience and expertise are also important factors in their purchase decisions.
These complementary products allow us to provide a full suite of products across our entire business,
enhancing our margins and creating value for our customers. In recent years, through specific initiatives and
strategic acquisitions, we have expanded our complementary product lines to further solidify our position
as a one-stop-shop for the interior contractor and gain a greater share of their overall purchases. During fiscal
2022, we acquired the leading provider of ATF tools and related products to the professional drywall
finishing industry. ATF tools enable interior finishing contractors to finish drywall joints faster than less
productive hand finishing methods.

Distribution

We distribute our core products and most complimentary products through our distribution centers.
We distribute ATF tools and related tools and products through our tool sales, rental and service centers
and an independent network of wholesale dealers. We also distribute our products through e-commerce
platforms.

We serve as a critical link between our suppliers and our fragmented customer base. Our sales, dispatch
and delivery teams coordinate an often complicated, customized delivery plan to ensure that our delivery
schedule matches the customer’s job site schedule, that deliveries are made with regard to the specific challenges
of a customer’s job site, that no damage occurs to the customer’s property and, most importantly, that
proper safety procedures are followed at all times. Often this requires us to send an employee to a job site
before the delivery to document the specific requirements and safety considerations of a particular location.
Given the logistical intensity of this process and the premium contractors place on distributors delivering
the right product, at the right time, in the right place, we can differentiate ourselves based on service. In
addition to executing a logistics-intensive service, we facilitate purchasing relationships between suppliers and
our customer base by transferring technical product knowledge, educating contractors on proper installation
techniques for new products, ensuring local product availability and extending trade credit.

Additionally, based on certain unique product attributes and delivery requirements, for some of our
products, the distribution of these items requires a higher degree of logistics and service expertise than most
other building products. For example, wallboard has a high weight-to-value ratio, is easily damaged,
cannot be left outside and often must be delivered to a job site before or after normal business hours. As a
value-added service, we often deliver our products directly to the specific room where it is installed. For
example, we can place the amount and type of wallboard necessary for a fifth story room of a new building
through the fifth story window using a specialized truck with an articulating boom loader. To do this
effectively, we need to load the truck at the branch so that the amount and type of wallboard for each room
of the building can be off-loaded by the articulating boom loader in the right sequence. In this way, the
service we provide delivers significant value to our customers.



Our Industry

As the construction market in North America evolved during the second half of the 20th century,
contractors began to specialize in specific trades within the construction process, and specialty distributors
emerged to supply them. We, along with other specialty distributors, tailored our product offerings and service
capabilities to meet the unique needs of these trades. Today, specialty distributors comprise the preferred
distribution channel for wallboard, ceilings and steel framing in both the commercial and residential
construction markets. In addition to focusing on their core products, specialty distributors also offer
additional and ancillary products, which are complementary to their main products in an effort to provide
their customers with a full suite of relevant products and to drive additional sales and margin opportunities.
These products include insulation, lumber and other wood products, ready-mix joint compound, tools,
fasteners, safety products and various other construction products.

We believe the success of the specialty distribution model in wallboard, ceilings and steel framing is
driven by the strong value proposition we provide to our customers. Given the logistical complexity of the
distribution services we provide to safely deliver and stock the right products to the appropriate locations, the
expertise needed to execute effectively, and the special equipment required, we believe specialty distributors
focused on wallboard, ceilings and steel framing are best suited to meet contractors’ needs. The main drivers
for our products are commercial new construction, commercial R&R, residential new construction and
residential R&R.

Commercial

Our addressable commercial construction market is comprised of a variety of commercial and
institutional sub-segments with varying demand drivers. Our commercial markets include offices, hotels,
retail stores and other commercial buildings, while our institutional markets include educational facilities,
healthcare facilities, government buildings and other institutional facilities. The principal demand drivers
across these markets typically include the overall economic outlook, the general business cycle, government
spending, vacancy rates, employment trends, interest rates, availability of credit and demographic trends.

We believe commercial R&R spending has historically been more stable than new commercial
construction activity. Commercial R&R spending is typically driven by several factors, including commercial
real estate prices and rental rates, office vacancy rates, government spending and interest rates. Commercial
R&R spending is also driven by commercial lease expirations and renewals, as well as tenant turnover. Such
events often result in repair, reconfiguration and/or upgrading of existing commercial space. Commercial
R&R activity has been negatively impacted by COVID-19 and there is uncertainty regarding timing and
method of recovery.

Residential

Residential construction activity is driven by several factors, including demographics, the overall
economic outlook, employment, income growth, availability of housing, home prices, availability of
mortgage financing and related government regulations, interest rates and consumer confidence, among
others.

We believe residential R&R activity is typically more stable than new residential construction activity.
The primary drivers of residential R&R spending include changes in existing home prices, existing home
sales, the average age of the housing stock, consumer confidence and interest rates.

Customers

We have a diversified portfolio of customers across the United States and Canada that includes
professional contractors and homebuilders. Our customers vary in size, ranging from small contractors to
large contractors and builders that operate on a national scale. We maintain local relationships with our
contractors through our network of branches and our extensive salesforce. We also serve our large homebuilder
customers through our local branches, but often coordinate the relationships on a national basis through
our corporate facility. Our ability to serve multi-regional homebuilders across their footprints provides value
to them and differentiates us from most of our competitors. During fiscal 2022 and 2021, our single largest
customer accounted for 2.5% and 2.3% of our net sales and our top ten customers accounted for 8.1% and
9.0% of our net sales, respectively.



Suppliers

We source the products we distribute from various suppliers. We also purchase components used in
assembling ATF tools. Our leading market position, North American footprint and superior service
capabilities have allowed us to develop strong relationships with our suppliers. We maintain strong, long-term
relationships with the major North American wallboard, ceilings, steel and insulation manufacturers, as
well as vendors of other complementary building products, where the supply base is widely fragmented.
Because we account for a meaningful portion of their volumes and provide them with an extensive salesforce
to market their products, we are viewed by our suppliers as a key channel partner and have exclusive
relationships with these suppliers in certain markets. We believe this position often provides us with
advantaged procurement.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing strategy is to provide a comprehensive suite of high-quality products and
superior services to contractors and builders reliably, safely, accurately and on-time. We have an experienced
sales force who manage our customer relationships and grow our customer base. We have strategies to
increase our customer base at both the corporate and local branch levels, which focus on building and growing
strong relationships with our customers, whether they serve a small local market, or a national footprint.

We believe that the experience and expertise of our salesforce differentiates us from our competition
particularly in the commercial market, which requires a highly technical and specialized product knowledge
and a sophisticated delivery plan. We also employ various marketing strategies to reach our customers in
the most efficient and effective manner. We market our products through our websites, social media, targeted
advertisements and a range of industry trade shows.

Competition

We compete against other specialty distributors as well as big box retailers and lumberyards. Among
specialty distributors, we compete against a few large distributors and many small, local, privately-owned
distributors. Our largest competitors are Foundation Building Materials and L&W Supply Co. Inc (a
subsidiary of ABC Supply Company). However, we believe smaller, regional or local competitors still
comprise a significant proportion of the industry along with big-box retailers. The principal competitive
factors in our business are pricing of products; availability of materials and supplies; technical product
knowledge and expertise; advisory or other service capabilities; our delivery capabilities; and availability of
credit. Brand recognition with respect to our complementary products, including ATF tools, is also important.

Seasonality

In a typical year, our operating results are impacted by seasonality. Historically, sales of our products
have been slightly higher in the first and second quarters of each fiscal year due to favorable weather and
longer daylight conditions during these periods. Seasonal variations in operating results may be impacted by
inclement weather conditions, such as cold or wet weather, which can delay construction projects. We
anticipate that we will continue to experience these seasonal fluctuations in the future.

Intellectual Property

We own numerous intellectual property rights that we use in our business, including trademarks,
tradenames, domains and patents. We maintain registered trademarks for the trade names under which
certain of our local branches operate, Ames® stores and TapeTech® products. We also hold patents that relate
to the design of our ATF tools. Generally, registered trademarks have a perpetual life, provided that they
are renewed on a timely basis and continue to be used properly as trademarks. We intend to maintain these
trademark registrations as long as they remain valuable to our business. While we do not believe our business
is dependent on any one of our trademarks, we believe the retention helps maintain customer loyalty. We
vigorously protect all our intellectual property rights.



Human Capital

Employees

As of April 30, 2022, we had 5,475 active team members. We do not have a significant number of
employees affiliated with labor unions. We believe that we have good relations with our employees.
Additionally, we believe that the training provided through our employee development programs and our
entreprencurial, performance-based culture provides significant benefits to our employees.

Health, Safety and Wellness

Providing a safe work environment for our employees, vendors, and customers is a primary mission for
our company. Our goal is to incur zero accidents and to ensure that everyone goes home safely at the end of
every day. To achieve this goal, we abide by all safety requirements and regulations and endeavor to
eliminate unsafe conditions and minimize related risks by identifying and supporting safe work practices,
promoting safety awareness, furnishing protective equipment, and providing employee training and education.
An example of our safety philosophy at work is the implementation of a comprehensive and uniform
vehicle fall protection safety policy across our organization that mitigates the risk of falls from vehicles, a
potentially serious safety hazard in our business.

We continue to take actions to protect the health and well-being of our employees during the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic. These actions include providing personal protective equipment, expanding healthcare
benefits and re-configuring working spaces and arrangements.

Safety is a constant focus of our management team with regular reporting to, and oversight by, our
Board of Directors. We work together to protect employees, contractors, and customers by promoting a
culture of shared responsibility with collaborative program development, best practices, and the open
exchange of suggestions, ideas and concerns.

Inclusion and Diversity

Every person is important to us and as such, we have a responsibility to foster a workplace that values
contributions and perspectives from a variety of backgrounds, skills and experiences regardless of race,
color, age, sex, national origin, religion, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression,
disability, or veteran status. Our differences make us a stronger team and the diversity in our thoughts and
ideas makes us better able to serve our customers and other stakeholders. Both our Board of Directors and
Leadership Team are committed to fulfilling this responsibility and recognize our work here is never
done.

We have a company-wide inclusion and diversity program designed to support an inclusive and diverse
work environment. We are committed to our comprehensive inclusion and diversity strategy to do our part
to drive change. Recognizing this is an ongoing journey, we have committed human and financial resources to
execute this strategy and further the work we need to do to within our Company and our communities,
with regular counsel from and oversight by our Board of Directors.

Compensation and Benefits

We are committed to providing our employees with a competitive compensation package that rewards
performance and achievement of desired business results. Our total compensation package includes,
depending on the position, cash compensation (wages or base salary and incentive or bonus payments),
company contributions toward additional benefits (such as health and disability plans), retirement plans with
a company match and paid time off. We also offer the opportunity to become a stockholder through
equity grants for management and our employee stock purchase plan. We analyze our compensation and
benefits programs annually to ensure we remain competitive and make changes, as necessary.



Available Information

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and in accordance therewith, we file reports, proxy and information statements and other information with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to these reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act are available through the investor relations section
of our website at www.gms.com. Reports are available free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after
we electronically file them with, or furnish them to, the SEC. The information contained on our website is
not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition to our website, you may read and copy public reports we file with or furnish to the SEC at
the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. You may obtain information
on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains
an Internet site that contains our reports, proxy and information statements, and other information that
we file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.



Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following risk factors may be important to understanding any statement in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K or elsewhere. Our business, financial condition and results of operations can be affected by several
factors, whether currently known or unknown, including but not limited to those described below. Any one or more
of such factors could directly or indirectly cause our actual results of operations and financial condition to
vary materially from past or anticipated future results of operations and financial condition. Any of these factors,
in whole or in part, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.

Risks Relating to our Industry and Economic Conditions

The ongoing effect of the COVID-19 pandemic and other widespread public health crises may adversely affect
our business and results of operations.

The COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-197) and its contributory effects have impacted, and may continue
to impact, our business and results of operations. Our business depends in large part on both new construction
and repair and remodeling (“R&R”) activity in both the commercial and residential markets, all of which
are generally dependent on the overall health of the economy. There has been strong underlying demand for
residential products since the disruption caused by the initial onset of COVID-19. However, commercial
markets, which have been particularly affected by the pandemic, have been slow to rebound. Driven in part
by residential demand, COVID-19 has caused significant disruptions and delays in the manufacture and
distribution of building products throughout the industry supply chain, primarily related to products
needed during construction phases outside of those serviced by us, resulting in shortages, shipping delays
and increased cycle times. There has also been disruptions in the ability to get equipment, repair parts and
service vehicles. The pandemic has also led to significant spikes in the prices of many building products. While
we have largely been able to pass along these price increases to our customers, there is no guarantee that
we will be able to continue to do so, which could adversely impact our margins. Furthermore, COVID-19
has resulted in increased labor costs and a general labor shortage. The extent and duration of the continued
effects of COVID-19 on our business and results of operations will depend on future developments, which
are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. These developments include the scope, duration and severity of
the pandemic (including the possibility of further surges or variants of COVID-19 or the emergence of
other health epidemics or pandemics), the actions taken to contain or mitigate its impact, and the direct and
indirect economic effects of the pandemic and related containment measures, among others. Any of these
developments could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, the other risk factors included herein could be heightened because of the impact of
COVID-19 or any other public health crisis. We continue to actively monitor COVID-19 and may take
actions that alter our business operations if required by federal, state, provincial or local authorities or that
we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers, suppliers and stockholders.

Our business is affected by general business, financial market and economic conditions, which could adversely
affect our results of operations.

Our business and results of operations are dependent on the commercial and residential construction
and R&R markets, which are significantly affected by general business, financial market and economic
conditions in the United States and Canada. General business, financial markets and economic conditions
that impact the level of activity in the commercial and residential construction and R&R markets include,
among others, interest rate fluctuations, inflation, unemployment levels, tax rates and policy, capital
spending, bankruptcies, volatility in both the debt and equity capital markets, liquidity of the global financial
markets, credit and mortgage markets, consumer confidence and spending, global economic growth, local,
state, provincial and federal government regulation, housing supply and affordability, the strength of regional
and local economies in which we operate and the impact of public health emergencies, including COVID-19.
Furthermore, commercial and residential construction and R&R markets generally face significant
contraction in an economic downturn or recession. In the event of an economic downturn or recession in
any region in which we operate, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows would
likely be materially and adversely affected.
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Our sales are in part dependent upon the commercial new construction market and the commercial R&R
market.

COVID-19 significantly impacted the commercial new construction market and the commercial R&R
market with activity in such markets recovering slower than residential markets, in particular, the hospitality
and office space sectors. We cannot predict the duration of the current market conditions, changes in the
demand for commercial space, or the timing or strength of any future recovery or downturn of commercial
construction activity in our markets. Further or increased weakness in the commercial construction market
and the commercial R&R market, would likely have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and operating results. Furthermore, uncertainty about current and future economic conditions will continue
to pose a risk to our business that serves the commercial new construction and R&R markets as participants
in this industry may postpone spending in response to continued uncertainty around COVID-19 or otherwise,
including demand for commercial office space, tighter credit, negative financial news, a recession and/or
declines in income, which could have a continued material negative effect on the demand for our products
and services.

Our sales are also in part dependent upon the residential new construction market and home R&R activity.

The distribution of our products, particularly wallboard, to contractors serving the residential market
represents a significant portion of our business. Though its cyclicality has historically been somewhat
moderated by R&R activity, wallboard demand is highly correlated with housing starts. Housing starts and
R&R activity, in turn, are dependent upon a number of factors, including housing demand, housing
inventory levels, housing affordability, mortgage rates, building mix between single- and multi-family homes,
foreclosure rates, geographical shifts in the population and other changes in demographics, the availability
of land, local zoning and permitting processes, the availability of construction financing, and the health of the
economy and mortgage markets, including related government regulations. Unfavorable changes in any of
these factors beyond our control could adversely affect consumer spending, result in decreased demand for
homes and adversely affect our business.

We also rely, in part, on home R&R activity. Although the market for residential R&R has improved in
recent years, there is no guarantee that it will continue to improve. Higher interest rates, inflation, higher
gas prices, consumer confidence, stock market volatility and performance, unemployment, and lower home
prices may restrict consumer spending, particularly on discretionary items such as home improvement projects,
and affect consumer confidence levels leading to reduced spending in the R&R end markets. Furthermore,
consumer preferences and purchasing practices and the strategies of our customers may adjust in a manner
that could result in changes to the nature and prices of products demanded by the end consumer and our
customers and could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our industry and the markets in which we operate are highly fragmented and competitive, and increased
competitive pressure may adversely affect our results of operations.

We primarily compete in the distribution markets of wallboard, ceilings and complementary interior
construction products with smaller distributors, but we also face competition from several national and
multi-regional distributors of building materials, some of which are larger and may have greater financial
resources than us.

Competition varies depending on product line, type of customer and geographic area. If our competitors
have greater financial resources or offer a broader range of building products, such as roofing, they may be
able to offer higher levels of service or a broader selection of inventory than we can. Furthermore, any of our
competitors may (i) foresee the course of market development more accurately than we do, (ii) provide
superior service and sell or distribute superior products, (iii) have the ability to supply or deliver similar
products and services at a lower cost, (iv) develop stronger relationships with our customers and other
consumers in the industry in which we operate, (v) adapt more quickly to evolving customer requirements
than we do, (vi) develop a superior network of distribution centers in our markets, (vii) access financing on
more favorable terms than we can obtain or (viii) bundle products we do not offer with other products
that are competitive with the products we sell.
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The consolidation of homebuilders may result in increased competition for their business. Certain
product manufacturers that sell and distribute their products directly to homebuilders may increase the
volume of such direct sales. Our suppliers may also elect to enter into exclusive supplier arrangements with
other distributors. As a result, we may not be able to compete successfully with our competitors and our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be adversely affected.

Consolidation in our industry may negatively impact our business.

Our industry has experienced consolidation in recent years and may continue to experience
consolidation, which could cause markets to become increasingly competitive as greater economies of scale
are achieved by distributors that are able to efficiently expand their operations. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to effectively take advantage of this trend toward consolidation which may make it more
difficult for us to maintain operating margins and could also increase the competition for acquisition
targets in our industry, resulting in higher acquisition costs and prices.

Risks Relating to our Business

We are subject to significant fluctuations in prices and mix of the products we distribute, including as a result
of inflationary and deflationary pressures, and we may not be able to pass on price increases to our customers and
effectively manage inventories and margins.

Prices for our products are driven by many factors, including general economic conditions, labor and
freight costs, competition, demand for our products, international conflicts, government regulation and
trade policies. Certain products we distribute have recently seen extreme price volatility, caused in large part
by the contributory effects of COVID-19 and the international conflicts. We may be subject to large and
significant price increases, especially in periods of high inflation. Conversely, we may experience lower sales
in a deflationary environment. We may not always be able to reflect increases in our costs in our own
pricing, especially in times of extreme price volatility. Any inability to pass cost increases on to customers
may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if market prices
for the products that we sell decline, we may realize lower margins from selling such products and lower
revenues from sales of existing inventory of such products.

Large contractors and homebuilders in both the commercial and residential industries have historically
been able to exert significant pressure on their outside suppliers and distributors to keep prices low in the
highly fragmented building products supply and services industry. Continued consolidation in the commercial
and residential industries and changes in builders’ purchasing policies and payment practices could result
in even further pricing pressure. Furthermore, if new construction and R&R activity significantly declines,
we could face increased pricing pressure from our competitors as we compete for a reduced number of projects.
Overall, these pricing pressures may adversely affect our operating results and cash flows. In addition, we
may experience changes in our customer mix or in our product mix. If customers require more lower-
margin products from us and fewer higher-margin products, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows may suffer.

We may be unsuccessful in making and integrating acquisitions and opening new branches.

The success of our long-term business strategy depends in part on increasing our sales and growing our
market share through strategic acquisitions and opening new branches. If we fail to identify and acquire
suitable acquisition targets on appropriate terms or fail to identify and open new branches that expand our
market, our growth strategy may be materially and adversely affected. Further, if our operating results decline,
we may be unable to obtain the capital required to effect new acquisitions or open new branches.

In addition, we may not be able to integrate the operations of future acquired businesses in an efficient
and cost-effective manner or without significant disruption to our existing operations. Even if we successfully
integrate the businesses, there can be no assurance that we will realize the anticipated benefits of an
acquisition. Moreover, acquisitions involve significant risks and uncertainties, including uncertainties as to
the future financial performance of the acquired business, difficulties integrating acquired personnel and
corporate cultures into our business, the potential loss of key employees, customers or suppliers, difficulties
in integrating different computer and accounting systems, exposure to unknown or unforeseen liabilities of
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acquired companies, difficulties implementing disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting for the acquired businesses, and the diversion of management attention and resources
from existing operations. We may also be required to incur additional debt or issue equity in order to
consummate acquisitions in the future, which may increase our indebtedness or result in dilution to our
shareholders. Our failure to integrate future acquired businesses effectively or to manage other consequences
of our acquisitions, including increased indebtedness, could prevent us from remaining competitive and,
ultimately, could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may not be able to expand into new geographic markets or expand our complementary products, which may
impact our ability to grow our business.

We intend to continue to pursue our business strategy to expand into new geographic markets and
grow our complementary products for the foreseeable future. Our expansion into new geographic markets
or the introduction of new product lines may present competitive, distribution and other challenges that differ
from the challenges we currently face. In addition, we may be less familiar with the customers in these
markets and may ultimately face different or additional risks, as well as increased or unexpected costs,
compared to those we experience in our existing markets. Expansion into new geographic markets or product
lines may also expose us to direct competition with companies with whom we have limited or no experience
as competitors. To the extent we rely upon expanding into new geographic markets and growing our
complementary products and do not meet, or are unprepared for, any new challenges posed by such expansion
or growth, our future sales growth could be negatively impacted, our operating costs could increase, and
our business and results of operations could be negatively affected.

Product shortages, loss of key suppliers or failure to develop relationships with qualified suppliers, and our
dependence on third-party suppliers and manufacturers could affect our financial health.

The products we distribute are manufactured by several major suppliers. Our ability to offer a wide
variety of products to our customers is dependent upon our ability to obtain adequate product supply from
manufacturers and other suppliers. Historically the wallboard and steel products we distribute have been
available from various sources and in sufficient quantities to meet our customer demand. However, given the
current high demand in residential construction, certain wallboard and steel products are on long lead
times from suppliers and as a result, our ability to obtain adequate supply of such wallboard and steel
products has been, and may continue to be, adversely affected. Ceiling distribution arrangements are often
exclusive to certain specified geographic areas. Any disruption or shortage in our sources of supply,
particularly of the most commonly sold items, could result in a loss of revenues, reduced margins and
damage to our relationships with customers. Supply shortages may occur as a result of, among other things,
unanticipated increases in demand, shortage of raw materials, including the availability of synthetic
gypsum, work stoppages, manufacturing challenges, natural disasters and pandemics, including COVID-19,
military conflicts, civil unrest, acts of terrorism, difficulties in production or delivery or failure to maintain
satisfactory relationships with our key suppliers. The loss of, or a substantial decrease in the availability of,
products from our suppliers or the loss of key supplier arrangements, such as those whereby we are
afforded exclusive distribution rights in certain geographic areas, could adversely impact our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our ability to maintain relationships with qualified suppliers who can satisfy our high standards for
quality and our need to be supplied with products in a timely and efficient manner is a significant challenge.
In addition, our suppliers may elect to distribute some or all of their products directly to end-customers.
This could also adversely impact our ability to obtain favorable pricing from suppliers and optimize margins
and revenue with respect to our customers.

Although in some instances we have agreements with our suppliers, these agreements are generally
terminable by either party on limited notice. If market conditions change or if suppliers change their
strategies for distributing products, suppliers may stop offering us favorable terms.
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Increases in operating costs or failure to achieve operating efficiencies could adversely affect our results of
operations and cash flows.

Our financial performance is affected by the level of our operating costs, which have recently been
subject to increased inflationary pressures. To the extent such costs increase as a result of inflation or
otherwise, we may be prevented, in whole or in part, from passing these cost increases through to our existing
and prospective customers, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial position,
results of operations and cash flows. In addition, our business strategy entails a heightened focus on enhanced
productivity and profitability across the organization. If we do not recognize the anticipated benefits of
our operating efficiency and cost reduction opportunities in a timely manner or they present greater than
anticipated costs, our results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.

The loss of any of our significant customers, a reduction in the quantity of products they purchase or inability
to pay could affect our financial health.

Our ten largest customers generated approximately 8.1%, 9.0% and 8.8% of our net sales in the
aggregate for fiscal 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We cannot guarantee that we will maintain or improve
our relationships with these customers, or successfully assume the customer relationships of any businesses
that we acquire, or that we will continue to supply these customers at historical levels. We extend credit to
numerous customers who are generally susceptible to the same economic business risks that we are,
including COVID-19. Unfavorable market conditions could result in financial failures of one or more of
our significant customers. If our larger customers’ financial positions were to become impaired, our ability
to fully collect receivables from such customers could be impaired and negatively affect our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, our customers may: (i) purchase some of the products that we currently sell and distribute
directly from manufacturers; (ii) elect to establish their own building products manufacturing and distribution
facilities; or (iii) favor doing business with manufacturing or distribution intermediaries in which they have
an economic stake. Continued consolidation among professional homebuilders and commercial builders could
also result in a loss of some of our present customers to our competitors. The loss of one or more of our
significant customers or deterioration in our existing relationships with any of our customers could adversely
affect our financial condition, operating results and cash flows. Furthermore, our customers typically are
not required to purchase any minimum amount of products from us. Should our customers purchase the
products we distribute in significantly lower quantities than they have in the past, or should the customers of
any businesses that we acquire purchase products from us in significantly lower quantities than they had
prior to our acquisition of the business, such decreased purchases could adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We occupy many of our facilities under long-term non-cancellable leases, and we may be unable to renew our
leases at the end of their terms.

Many of our facilities are located on leased premises subject to non-cancellable leases. Typically, our
leases have initial terms ranging from three to five years, with options to renew for specified periods of time.
We believe that our future leases will likely also be long-term and non-cancellable and have similar renewal
options. If we close or stop fully utilizing a facility, we will most likely remain obligated to perform under the
applicable lease, which would include, among other things, making the base rent payments, and paying
insurance, taxes and other expenses on the leased property for the remainder of the lease term. Our inability
to terminate a lease when we stop fully utilizing a facility or exit a geographic market can have a significant
adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, at the end of the
lease term and any renewal period for a facility, we may be unable to renew the lease without substantial
additional cost, if at all. If we are unable to renew our facility leases, we may close or relocate a facility, which
could subject us to construction and other costs and risks, which in turn could have a material adverse
effect on our business and operating results. Further, we may not be able to secure a replacement facility in
a location that is as commercially viable, including access to rail service, as the lease we are unable to renew.
Having to close a facility, even briefly to relocate, would reduce the sales that such facility would have
contributed to our revenues. Additionally, a relocated facility may generate less revenue and profit, if any,
than the facility it was established to replace.
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We may be unable to effectively manage our inventory and working capital as our sales volume changes or the
prices of the products we distribute fluctuate, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We purchase products, including wallboard, ceilings, steel framing and complementary products, from
manufacturers which are then sold and distributed to customers. We must maintain, and have adequate
working capital to purchase, sufficient inventory to meet customer demand. Due to the lead times required
by our suppliers, we order products in advance of expected sales. As a result, we are required to forecast our
sales and purchase accordingly. In periods characterized by significant changes in economic growth and
activity in the commercial and residential building and home R&R industries, it can be especially difficult to
forecast our sales accurately. We must also manage our working capital to fund our inventory purchases.
Significant increases in the market prices of certain building products, such as wallboard, ceilings and steel
framing, can put negative pressure on our operating cash flows by requiring us to invest more in inventory. In
the future, if we are unable to effectively manage our inventory and working capital as we attempt to
expand our business, our cash flows may be negatively affected, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Any significant fuel cost increases or shortages in the supply of fuel could disrupt our ability to distribute
products to our customers, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We currently use our own fleet of owned and leased delivery vehicles to service customers in the
regions in which we operate. As a result, we are inherently dependent upon energy to operate and are
impacted by changes in fuel prices. The cost of fuel is largely unpredictable and has a significant impact on
our results of operations. Fuel availability, as well as pricing, is also impacted by political, economic and
market factors that are outside our control. Significant increases in the cost of fuel or disruptions in the
supply of fuel could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Natural or man-made disruptions to our facilities may adversely affect our business and operations.

We maintain facilities throughout the United States and Canada, as well as our corporate headquarters
in Tucker, Georgia, which supports our facilities with various back-office functions. In the event any of our
facilities are damaged or operations are disrupted from fire, earthquake, hurricanes, tornados and other
weather-related events, an act of terrorism, civil or political unrest, pandemics, including COVID-19, or any
other cause, a significant portion of our inventory could be damaged and our ability to distribute products
to customers could be materially impaired. In addition, general weather patterns affect our operations
throughout the year, with adverse weather historically reducing construction activity in our third and fourth
quarters. Adverse weather events, natural disasters or similar events, including as a result of climate
change, could generally reduce or delay construction activity and our operations, which could adversely
impact our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Moreover, we could incur significantly higher costs and experience longer lead times associated with
distributing products to our customers during the time that it takes for us to reopen or replace a damaged
facility. Disruptions to the transportation infrastructure systems in the United States and Canada, including
those related to a terrorist attack, civil unrest, pandemics, including COVID-19, may also affect our ability
to keep our operations and services functioning properly. If any of these events were to occur, our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Our Canadian operations could have a material adverse effect on us, including from currency rate fluctuations.

We operate in six provinces in Canada. We are subject to several risks specific to this country. We may
also become subject to risks specific to other countries where we may operate our business. These risks include
social, political and economic instability, unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, tariffs and other
trade barriers, currency exchange fluctuations, acts of war or terrorism and import/export requirements. Our
financial statements are reported in United States dollars with international transactions being translated
into United States dollars.

Our exposure to currency rate fluctuations could be material to the extent that currency rate changes
are significant or that our international operations comprise a larger percentage of our consolidated results.
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In addition, such fluctuations may also affect the comparability of our results between financial periods. We
do not currently hedge the net investments in our foreign operations. There can be no assurances that any
of these factors will not materially impact our production cost or otherwise have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be unable to continue to anticipate and address evolving consumer demands.

Our success depends on meeting consumer needs and anticipating changes in consumer preferences
with successful new products and product improvements. We aim to introduce products and new or improved
production processes proactively to offset obsolescence and decreases in sales of existing products. While
we devote significant focus to the development of new products, we may not be successful in product
development and our new products may not be commercially successful. In addition, it is possible that
competitors may improve their products more rapidly or effectively, which could adversely affect our sales.
Furthermore, market demand may decline because of consumer preferences trending away from our categories
or trending down within our brands or product categories, which could adversely impact our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Risks Relating to Legal, Regulatory and Compliance

We are exposed to product liability, warranty, casualty, construction defect, contract, tort, personal injury,
employment and other claims and legal proceedings related to our business, the products we distribute, the
services we provide and services provided for us by third parties.

In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to various claims and litigation. Any such claims,
whether with or without merit, could be time consuming and expensive to defend and could divert
management’s attention and resources. The building materials industry has been subject to personal injury
and property damage claims arising from alleged exposure to raw materials contained in building products as
well as claims for incidents of catastrophic loss, such as building fires. As a distributor of building materials,
we face an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims if the use of the products we have distributed
in the past or may in the future distribute is alleged to have resulted in economic loss, personal injury or
property damage or violated environmental, health or safety or other laws. Such product liability claims
have included and may in the future include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure
to warn of dangers inherent in the product, negligence, strict liability or a breach of warranties. Certain of
our subsidiaries have been the subject of claims related to alleged exposure to asbestos-containing products
they distributed prior to 1979, which have not materially impacted our financial condition or operating
results. See “Item 3, Legal Proceedings.” Such cases are continuing to be filed, and plaintiffs are attempting
to expand such causes of action to include additional products, cause of exposure, and time periods beyond
1979. If such attempted expansion by plaintiffs is successful, our financial condition, operating results and
cash flows could be adversely affected.

We are also from time to time subject to casualty, contract, tort and other claims relating to our
business, the products we have distributed in the past or may in the future distribute, and the services we
have provided in the past or may in the future provide, either directly or through third parties. If any such
claim were adversely determined, our financial condition, operating results and cash flows could be adversely
affected if we were unable to seek indemnification for such claims or were not adequately insured for such
claims. We rely on manufacturers and other suppliers to provide us with the products we sell or distribute.
Since we do not have direct control over the quality of products that are manufactured or supplied to us by
third parties, we are particularly vulnerable to risks relating to the quality of such products. In addition,
many of our employees, and our delivery and warehouse employees in particular, are subject to hazards
associated with providing services on construction sites, at our distribution centers and delivering our products.
As a result, we have a heightened risk of potential claims arising from the conduct of our employees,
builders and their subcontractors, and third-party installers for which we may be liable. We and they are
subject to regulatory requirements and risks applicable to general contractors, which include management
of licensing, permitting and quality of third-party installers. As they apply to our business, if we fail to
manage these processes effectively or provide proper oversight of these services, we could suffer lost sales, fines
and lawsuits, as well as damage to our reputation, which could adversely affect our business, results of
operations and cash flows.
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Insurance costs continue to rise and retention amounts have been increasing. Furthermore, increased
claims could cause the costs of our insurance to increase even further. Although we believe we currently
maintain suitable and adequate insurance in excess of our self-insured amounts, there can be no assurance
that we will be able to maintain such insurance on acceptable terms or that such insurance will provide
adequate protection against potential liabilities, and the cost of any product liability, warranty, casualty,
construction defect, contract, tort, employment or other litigation or other proceeding, even if resolved in
our favor, could be substantial. Additionally, we do not carry insurance for all categories of risk that our
business may encounter. Any significant uninsured liability may require us to pay substantial amounts. There
can be no assurance that any current or future claims will not adversely affect our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

Federal, state, provincial, local and other regulations could impose substantial costs and restrictions on our
operations that would reduce our net income.

We are subject to various federal, state, provincial, local and other laws and regulations, including,
among other things, environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, transportation regulations
promulgated by the U.S. Department of Transportation, or the DOT, work safety regulations promulgated
by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, or OSHA, employment regulations promulgated by
the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, regulations of the U.S. Department of Labor,
consumer protection laws regarding privacy, and state and local zoning restrictions, building codes and
contractors’ licensing regulations. More burdensome regulatory requirements in these or other areas may
increase our general and administrative costs and adversely affect our financial condition, operating results
and cash flows. Moreover, failure to comply with the regulatory requirements applicable to our business could
expose us to litigation and substantial fines and penalties that could adversely affect our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, the commercial and residential construction industries are subject to various local, state
and federal statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations concerning zoning, building design and safety,
construction, contractor licensing, energy conservation and similar matters, including regulations that
impose restrictive zoning and density requirements on the residential new construction industry or that limit
the number of homes or other buildings that can be built within the boundaries of a particular area.
Regulatory restrictions may increase our operating expenses and limit the availability of suitable building
lots for our customers, any of which could negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Risks Relating to Our Liquidity and Capital Resources

The agreements that govern our indebtedness contain various financial covenants that could limit our ability to
engage in activities that may be in our best long-term interests.

The agreements that govern our indebtedness include covenants that, among other things, may impose
significant operating and financial restrictions, including restrictions on our ability to engage in activities
that may be in our best long-term interests. These covenants may restrict our ability to:

 incur additional indebtedness;

 create or maintain liens on property or assets;

* make investments, loans and advances;

+ sell certain assets or engage in acquisitions, mergers or consolidations;
* redeem debt;

* pay dividends and repurchase our shares; and

 enter into transactions with affiliates.

In addition, under the terms of our senior secured asset based revolving credit facility (the “ABL
Facility”), we may at times be required to comply with a specified fixed charge coverage ratio. Our ability to
meet this ratio could be affected by events beyond our control, and we cannot assure that we will meet this
ratio.
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A breach of any of the covenants under any of our debt agreements may result in a default under such
agreement. If any such default occurs, the administrative agent under the agreement would be entitled to
take various actions, including the acceleration of amounts due under the agreement and all actions permitted
to be taken by a secured creditor. This could have serious adverse consequences on our financial condition
and could cause us to become insolvent.

Our current indebtedness, degree of leverage and any future indebtedness we may incur, may adversely affect
our cash flow, limit our operational and financing flexibility and negatively impact our business and our ability
to make payments on our indebtedness and declare dividends and make other distributions.

As of April 30, 2022, $504.6 million was outstanding under our senior secured first lien term loan
facility (the “Term Loan Facility”), $350.0 million was outstanding under our senior unsecured notes
(“Senior Notes”) and $211.1 million was outstanding under our ABL Facility. In addition, we may incur
substantial additional debt in the future. Our current indebtedness and other debt instruments we may enter
in the future, may have significant consequences to our business and, as a result, may impact our
stockholders, including:

* impairing our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions or general corporate purposes;

 requiring us to dedicate a significant portion of our cash flows from operations to pay interest on
any outstanding indebtedness, which would reduce the funds available to us for operations and other
purposes;

* limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business, the industries in which
we operate;

+ making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness;

+ making us more vulnerable to adverse changes in general economic, industry and competitive
conditions and adverse changes in government regulation;

* placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that are less leveraged and,
therefore, more able to take advantage of opportunities that our leverage prevents us from exploiting;

* impairing our ability to refinance existing indebtedness or borrow additional amounts for working
capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service requirements, execution of our business strategy
or other purposes;

* restricting our ability to pay dividends, make other distributions and repurchase our shares; and

* adversely affecting our credit ratings.

Any of the above listed factors could materially adversely affect our financial condition, liquidity or
results of operations.

Furthermore, we expect that we will depend primarily on cash generated by our operations to pay our
expenses and any amounts due under our existing indebtedness and any future indebtedness we may incur.
As a result, our ability to repay our indebtedness depends on the future performance of our business, which
will be affected by financial, business, economic and other factors, many of which we cannot control. Our
business may not generate sufficient cash flows from operations in the future and we may not achieve our
currently anticipated growth in revenues and cash flows, either or both of which could result in our being
unable to repay indebtedness or to fund other liquidity needs. If we do not have enough funds, we may be
required to refinance all or part of our then existing indebtedness, sell assets or borrow additional funds, in
each case on terms that may not be acceptable to us, if at all. In addition, the terms of existing or future debt
agreements, including our existing ABL Facility, Term Loan Facility and Senior Notes, may restrict us
from engaging in any of these alternatives. Our ability to recapitalize and incur additional debt in the future
could also delay or prevent a change in control of our Company, make certain transactions more difficult
to complete or impose additional financial or other covenants on us.
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Despite our current level of indebtedness, we may still be able to incur substantially more debt.

We may be able to incur significant additional indebtedness in the future, including secured debt.
Although the agreements governing our indebtedness contain restrictions on the incurrence of additional
indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to several qualifications and exceptions, and the additional
indebtedness incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. These restrictions also will
not prevent us from incurring obligations that do not constitute indebtedness, including obligations under
operating lease arrangements. In addition, the ABL Facility provides a commitment of up to $545.0 million,
subject to a borrowing base. As of April 30, 2022, we had available borrowing capacity of $307.4 million
under the ABL Facility and $23.3 million under our Canadian revolving credit facility. If new debt is added
to our current debt levels, the related risks that we now face could intensify.

An increase in interest rates would increase the cost of servicing our debt and could reduce our profitability.

Our Term Loan Facility and ABL Facility bear interest at variable rates. We have entered into interest
rate swaps for a portion of our debt with the objective of minimizing the risks associated with our Term
Loan Facility. However, these interest rate swaps terminate in February 2023. In addition, increases in interest
rates with respect to any amount of our debt not covered by the interest rate swaps could increase the cost
of servicing our debt and could materially reduce our profitability and cash flows. Such increases may occur
from changes in regulatory standards or industry practices. Excluding the effect of the interest rate swaps
and the interest rate floor on the Term Loan Facility, each 1% increase in interest rates on the Term Loan
Facility would increase our annual interest expense by $5.0 million based on balances outstanding under the
Term Loan Facility as of April 30, 2022. Assuming the ABL Facility was fully drawn up to the $545.0 million
maximum commitment, each 1% increase in interest rates would result in a $5.5 million increase in annual
interest expense on the ABL Facility.

We may have future capital needs that require us to incur additional debt and may be unable to obtain additional
financing on acceptable terms, if at all.

We rely substantially on the liquidity provided by our existing ABL Facility and cash on hand to
provide working capital and fund our operations. Our working capital and capital expenditure requirements
may increase as our markets rebound and we execute our strategic growth plan. Economic and credit
market conditions, increases in interest rates, the performance of the commercial and residential construction
markets, and our financial performance, as well as other factors, may constrain our financing abilities. Our
ability to secure additional financing, if available, and to satisfy our financial obligations under indebtedness
outstanding from time to time will depend upon our future operating performance, the availability of
credit, economic conditions and financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control.
The prolonged continuation or worsening of current housing market conditions and the macroeconomic
factors that affect our industry could require us to seek additional capital and have a material adverse effect
on our ability to secure such capital on favorable terms, if at all.

We may be unable to secure additional financing or financing on favorable terms or our operating cash
flow may be insufficient to satisfy our financial obligations under our outstanding indebtedness. If additional
funds are raised through the issuance of additional equity or convertible debt securities, our stockholders
may experience significant dilution. We may also incur additional indebtedness in the future, including secured
debt, subject to the restrictions contained in the ABL Facility, the Term Loan Facility and Senior Notes. If
new debt is added to our current debt levels, the related risks that we now face could intensify.
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General Risk Factors

Failure to attract and retain key employees while controlling costs could have a significant adverse effect on our
business.

Our success depends in part on our ability to attract, hire, train and retain qualified managerial,
operational, sales and other personnel. We face significant competition for these types of employees in our
industry and from other industries. We may be unsuccessful in attracting and retaining the personnel we
require to conduct and expand our operations successfully. In addition, key personnel may leave us and
compete against us. Our success also depends to a significant extent on the continued service of our senior
management team. The loss of any member of our senior management team or other experienced senior
employees could impair our ability to execute our business plan, cause us to lose customers and reduce
our net sales, or lead to employee morale problems and/or the loss of other key employees. In any such event,
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.

COVID-19 has resulted in labor shortages, particularly among drivers and material handlers. As a
result, we may face higher operating expenses and may lose revenue opportunities if labor shortages prevent
us from having the capacity to meet customer demand. We could be required to increase our use of
temporary or contract labor. Using temporary or contract labor typically requires higher cost, and may be
less productive than full-time associates. In addition, a shortage of qualified drivers could require us to increase
driver compensation, let trucks sit idle, utilize common carriers, utilize less experienced drivers, or face
difficulty meeting customer demands, all of which could adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

Cybersecurity breaches could harm our business.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, including our proprictary
business information and that of our customers, suppliers and business partners, and personally identifiable
information of our customers and employees, in our data centers and on our networks. The secure
processing, maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to our operations. We have incurred
costs and may incur significant additional costs to implement the security measures that we believe are
appropriate to protect our IT systems. Our security measures are focused on the prevention, detection and
remediation of damage from computer viruses, natural or man-made disasters, unauthorized access,
cyber-attacks and other similar disruptions. Despite our security measures, our I'T systems and infrastructure
may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or breached due to employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions.
To date, we have not experienced a material breach of our IT systems. Any attacks on our IT systems
could result in our systems or data being breached or damaged by computer viruses or unauthorized physical
or electronic access. Such a breach could result in not only business disruption, but also theft of our
intellectual property or other competitive information or unauthorized access to controlled data and any
personal information stored in our IT systems. To the extent that any data is lost or destroyed or any
confidential information is inappropriately disclosed or used, it could adversely affect our competitive
position or customer relationships. In addition, any such access, disclosure or other loss of information
could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal information,
damage our reputation and cause a loss of confidence in our business, products and services, which could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

A disruption of our IT systems could adversely impact our business and operations.

We rely on the accuracy, capacity and security of our IT systems, some of which are managed or
hosted by third parties, and our ability to continually update these systems in response to the changing
needs of our business. Our IT systems and those of our third-party service providers are vulnerable to damage
or interruption from fires, earthquakes, hurricanes, tornados, floods and other natural disasters, terrorist
attacks, power loss, capacity limitations, telecommunications failures, software and hardware defects or
malfunctions, break-ins, sabotage and vandalism, human error and other disruptions that are beyond our
control. We continue to invest capital to enhance, expand and increase the reliability of our network, but these
capital expenditures may not achieve the results we expect. The occurrence of any disruption or system
failure or other significant disruption to business continuity may result in a loss of business, increase expenses,
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damage our reputation or expose us to litigation and possible financial losses, any of which could adversely
affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.

Trade policies could make sourcing product firom foreign countries more difficult or more costly.

We source some of our products from outside of the United States or Canada. Suppliers that we utilize
may rely upon non-domestic products, and therefore, any significant changes to the United States or
Canadian trade policies (and those of other countries in response) may cause a material adverse effect on our
ability to procure products from suppliers that source from other countries or significantly increase the
costs of obtaining such products, which could result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile.

The trading price of our common stock has been and may continue to be subject to fluctuations in
response to certain events and factors, such as quarterly variations in results of operations, changes in
financial estimates, unstable economic conditions, changes in recommendations or reduced coverage by
securities analysts, the operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors may deem
comparable to us, news reports relating to trends in the markets in which we operate, general economic
conditions or other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition, the stock market in general and the market prices for companies in our industry have
experienced volatility that often has been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. These
broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the price of our stock, regardless of our
operating performance. Additionally, volatility or a lack of positive performance in our stock price may
adversely affect our ability to retain key employees, many of whom have been granted stock incentive awards.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2.  Properties

Our corporate headquarters is in Tucker, Georgia. As of April 30, 2022, we operated our business
through nearly 300 distribution centers across 44 states and the District of Columbia in the United States
and six provinces in Canada. Our distribution centers typically consist of storage, warehouse and office space.
We also operated our business through nearly 100 tool sales, rental and service centers throughout the
United States and have a tool assembly facility in Suwanee, Georgia. As of April 30, 2022, we owned 83 of
our facilities, some of which were used as collateral to secure the Term Loan Facility. Our distribution centers
range in size from approximately 2,000 to 150,000 square feet and our tool sales, rental and service centers
range in size from approximately 1,000 to 6,000 square feet. We believe that our properties are in good
operating condition and adequately serve our current business operations.

The following table summarizes our real estate facilities as of April 30, 2022:

Leased Owned

Property Type Facilities  Facilities  Total
Corporate headquarters . ................0 o, 1 — 1
Distribution centers . . ............ .. ... 211 83 294
Tool sales, rental and servicecenters . . .. ............ ... .. 96 — 96
Total . .. ... @ § E

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in lawsuits that are brought against us in the normal course of
business. We are not currently a party to any legal proceedings that we currently believe would, either
individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on our business or financial condition.

The building materials industry has been subject to personal injury and property damage claims
arising from alleged exposure to raw materials contained in building products as well as claims for incidents
of catastrophic loss, such as building fires. As a distributor of building materials, we face an inherent risk
of exposure to product liability claims if the use of the products we have distributed in the past or may in the
future distribute is alleged to have resulted in economic loss, personal injury or property damage or
violated environmental, health or safety or other laws. Such product liability claims have included and may
in the future include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers
inherent in the product, negligence, strict liability or a breach of warranties. Certain of our subsidiaries
have been the subject of claims related to alleged exposure to asbestos-containing products they distributed
prior to 1979. Since 2002 and as of April 30, 2022, approximately 1,035 asbestos-related personal injury
lawsuits have been filed against us and we have vigorously defended and continue to vigorously defend against
them. Of these lawsuits, 988 have been dismissed without any payment by us, 37 are pending and only
10 have been settled, which settlements have not materially impacted our financial condition or operating
results. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Legal, Regulatory and Compliance — We are exposed
to product liability, warranty, casualty, construction defect, contract, tort, employment and other claims
and legal proceedings related to our business, the products we distribute, the services we provide and services
provided for us by third parties.”

Item4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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PART 1I

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Market Information
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “GMS.”

As of the close of business on May 31, 2022, there were 10 holders of record of the Company’s common
stock, which does not reflect those shares held beneficially or those shares held in “street” name. Accordingly,
the number of beneficial owners of our common stock exceeds this number.

Dividend Policy

No dividends were paid to stockholders during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 or 2020. The
Company currently intends to retain all its future earnings, if any, to finance operations, support our
growth strategies, repay indebtedness and repurchase shares. Most of the Company’s indebtedness contains
restrictions on the Company’s activities, including paying dividends on its capital stock. See Note 7,
“Long-Term Debt” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Any future determination relating to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of the
Company’s board of directors and will depend on several factors, including future earnings, capital
requirements, financial conditions, future prospects, contractual restrictions and covenants and other
factors that the board of directors may deem relevant.

Performance Graph

The following graph shows a comparison of cumulative total return to holders of shares of GMS Inc.’s
common stock against the cumulative total return of S&P 500 Index and Industrial Select Sector SPDR®
Fund (XLI) from April 30, 2017 through April 30, 2022 (the last trading day in our fiscal 2022). The
comparison of the cumulative total returns for each investment assumes that $100 was invested in GMS Inc.
common stock and the respective indices on April 30, 2017 through April 30, 2022 including reinvestment
of any dividends. Historical share price performance should not be relied upon as an indication of future
share price performance.

This performance graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be
“filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that
Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities
Act or Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing. The
points on the graph represent stock prices on the last trading days in the fiscal years presented.
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Total Return Performance
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On November 30, 2018, our Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase program to
repurchase up to $75.0 million of our outstanding common stock. The number of shares repurchased and
the average price paid per share for each month in the three months ended April 30, 2022 are as follows:

Total Number of Approximate Dollar

Total Number Shares Repurchased  Value that May Yet
of Shares Average Price as Part of Publicly be Purchased Under
Repurchased  Paid per Share  Announced Program the Program

(in thousands)

February 1 through February 28 . ... .. 56,784 $51.71 56,784 $33,526
March 1 through March 31 .......... 88,387 52.31 88,387 28,902
April 1 through April30 . ........... 203,026 49.60 203,026 18,832
Total . ........ ... ... ... ... ...... 348,197

On June 23, 2022, our Board of Directors approved an expanded share repurchase program under
which we are authorized to repurchase up to $200.0 million of our outstanding common stock. This
expanded program replaces our previous share repurchase authorization of $75.0 million. We may conduct
repurchases under the share repurchase program through open market transactions, under trading plans
in accordance with SEC Rule 10b5-1 and/or in privately negotiated transactions, in each case in compliance
with Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The timing and amount of any purchases
of our common stock are subject to a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, our liquidity, credit
availability, general business and market conditions, our debt covenants and the availability of alternative
investment opportunities. The share repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire any particular
amount of common stock, and it may be suspended or terminated at any time at our discretion.

Item 6. Reserved
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

GMS Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “we,” “our,” “us,” “GMS” or the “Company”),
through its wholly owned operating subsidiaries, operates a network of nearly 300 distribution centers with
extensive product offerings of wallboard, ceilings, steel framing and complementary construction products.
We also operate nearly 100 tool sales, rental and service centers. Through these operations, we provide a
comprehensive selection of building products and solutions for our residential and commercial contractor
customer base across the United States and Canada. Our unique operating model combines the benefits of a
national platform and strategy with a local go-to-market focus, enabling us to generate significant economies
of scale while maintaining high levels of customer service.

Fiscal 2022 Highlights

Key highlights in our business during fiscal 2022 are described below:

» Generated net sales of $4,634.9 million in fiscal 2022, a 40.5% increase from the prior year primarily
due to inflationary pricing, healthy residential end markets, acquisitions over the past year and the
negative impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-19”) in the prior year.

* Generated net income of $273.4 million in fiscal 2022, a 159.0% increase from the prior year,
primarily due to the increase in net sales noted above, partially offset by increases in related operating
costs, the provision for income taxes and depreciation and amortization. Supply chain dynamics
have led to high levels of product inflation, which have been the principal driver of both sales growth
and incremental profitability, as inflation on sales outpaced operating cost inflation.

* Generated Adjusted EBITDA (a non-GAAP measure, sece “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” in this
Item 7) of $566.9 million in fiscal 2022, a 77.5% increase from the prior fiscal year, primarily due
to the increase in net sales noted above. Adjusted EBITDA, as a percentage of net sales, increased to
12.2% in fiscal 2022 compared to 9.7% for the prior year primarily due to better operating leverage,
as product price inflation on sales outpaced operating cost inflation.

* Completed five acquisitions and opened 13 new branches (“greenfields”), increasing the Company’s
geographic footprint and product offerings.

Recent Developments

Acquisitions

Westside. On July 1, 2021, we acquired substantially all the assets of Westside Building Material
(“Westside™), one of the largest independent distributors of interior building products in the U.S., for
preliminary consideration of $140.1 million. Westside is a leading supplier of steel framing, wallboard,
ceilings, insulation and complementary building products serving commercial and residential markets.
Westside’s distribution network comprises ten locations, including nine across California (Anaheim, Hesperia,
Oakland, Chatsworth, Fresno, Lancaster, Santa Maria, San Diego and National City) and one in Las
Vegas, Nevada. The acquisition of Westside was funded with cash on hand and borrowings under our asset
based lending facility (“ABL Facility”). For more information regarding our acquisition of Westside, see
Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Ames. On December 1, 2021, we acquired Ames Taping Tools Holding LLC (“Ames”) for preliminary
consideration of $226.7 million. Ames is the leading provider of automatic taping and finishing (“ATF”)
tools and related products to the professional drywall finishing industry. Ames operates nearly 100 retail
locations servicing professionals in the interior finishing market. The acquisition of Ames was primarily
funded with borrowings under our ABL Facility. For more information regarding our acquisition of
Ames, see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Other. On June 3, 2021, we acquired the assets of Architectural Coatings Distributors, Inc.
(“Architectural Coating”). Architectural Coating is an interior building products distributor in Cleveland,
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Ohio. On August 2, 2021, we acquired certain assets of DK&B Construction Specialties, Inc. (“DK&B”).
DK&B is a distributor of External Insulation and Finishing Systems (“EIFS”) and stucco products through
one location in Omaha, Nebraska. On December 1, 2021, we acquired the assets of Kimco Supply Company
(“Kimco™). Kimco is an interior building products distributor through two locations in the Tampa, Florida
area. Subsequent to the fiscal year end on June 1, 2022, we acquired certain assets of Construction Supply
of Southwest Florida, Inc. (“CSSWF”). CSSWF is a distributor of various stucco, building and waterproofing
supplies serving markets in the southwest Florida area.

Greenfields

During fiscal 2022, we opened 13 greenfield locations. This included locations in Hickory, North
Carolina; Scarborough, Ontario; Denver, Colorado; Jackson, Mississippi; Wilmington, Delaware; Johnson
City, Tennessee; Ft. Myers, Florida; Woodlawn, Maryland; Abilene, Texas; Milford, Connecticut; Statesboro,
Georgia; Ocean Springs, Mississippi; and Woburn, Massachusetts.

Market Conditions and Outlook

Residential

There has been strong underlying demand for residential products since mid-calendar year 2020. We
believe this strength in residential demand has been driven by a combination of factors including favorable
demographics, historically low interest rates, low levels of supply of new and existing homes for sale, strong
wages amid a solid job market, as well as by changes in workplace habits and preferences resulting from
COVID-19. It is expected that the current favorable demand environment for our products will continue
throughout calendar year 2022 given the underlying requirements for housing and the gap that has existed
between residential starts and completions. The recent uptick in affordability concerns, including higher
mortgage interest rates and product and labor inflation as well as geopolitical concerns, creates an unknown
that may eventually result in some cyclical suppression of demand over the longer term.

Driven in part by the solid level of residential demand, homebuilders and contractors are facing
significant inflationary pressures for products and labor plus supply chain constraints, primarily related to
products needed during construction phases outside of those serviced by us, resulting in significantly increased
cycle times and a decreased ability to predict project timing, as compared to historical periods. As a result,
and as our sales teams work hard to ensure product availability for our customers, and given product inflation,
we have experienced an increase in our inventory balances. We expect our inventory levels on a unit basis
to return to more normal levels as the supply chain constraints further subside in future quarters.

Commercial

Demand for commercial projects was severely impacted by COVID-19 and has been slow to recover in
certain sectors. While construction to support medical, educational and governmental projects has generally
rebounded, hospitality and larger office projects, both new and for repair and remodeling (“R&R”),
remain tempered, particularly in certain geographic markets. Leading indicators of commercial activity,
such as the Architectural Billings Index, as well as our own quoting activity and discussions with customers
make us optimistic that we will begin to see a possible recovery in new and R&R commercial projects
beginning sometime this calendar year.

As with residential contractors, both we and commercial contractors face significant inflationary and
in certain cases availability pressures for fuel, labor, building products and other miscellaneous expenses.

26



Factors and Trends Affecting our Operating Results

General Economic Conditions

Our business is sensitive to changes in general economic conditions, including, in particular, conditions
in the U.S. and Canadian commercial construction and housing markets. The markets we serve are broadly
categorized as commercial new construction, commercial R&R, residential new construction and residential
R&R. Prior to the pandemic, we believed all four end markets were in an extended period of expansion
following a deep and prolonged downturn. The impacts of COVID-19 caused significant disruption and
uncertainty. While the economy showed significant signs of recovery from COVID-19 in fiscal 2022, the
economy remains impacted by COVID-19 and its contributory effects. Furthermore, any resurgence or future
pandemics may have a negative impact on our customers and the construction industry in general, as it
may impact, among others, economic activity, employment levels, consumer spending and consumer
confidence, which would decrease demand for new construction and R&R activity, adversely affecting our
business.

Commercial New Construction

Our addressable commercial construction market is composed of a variety of commercial and
institutional sub-segments with varying demand drivers. Our commercial markets include offices, hotels,
retail stores and other commercial buildings, while our institutional markets include educational facilities,
healthcare facilities, government buildings and other institutional facilities. The principal demand drivers
across these markets include the overall economic outlook, the general business cycle, government spending,
vacancy rates, employment trends, interest rates, availability of credit and demographic trends. Given the
depth of the last recession and the negative impacts of COVID-19, activity in the commercial construction
market remains below average historical levels.

Commercial R&R

We believe commercial R&R spending is typically more stable than new commercial construction
activity. Commercial R&R spending is driven by several factors, including commercial real estate prices and
rental rates, office vacancy rates, government spending and interest rates. Commercial R&R spending is
also driven by commercial lease expirations and renewals, as well as tenant turnover. Such events often result
in repair, reconfiguration and/or upgrading of existing commercial space. As such, the commercial R&R
market has historically been less volatile than commercial new construction. While there is very limited
third-party data for commercial R&R spending, commercial R&R spending has been negatively impacted by
COVID-19. However, we believe there are early indications of some recovery in the market.

Residential New Construction

Residential construction activity is driven by several factors, including the overall economic outlook,
employment, income growth, home prices, availability of mortgage financing and related government
regulations, interest rates and consumer confidence, among others. While housing starts have generally
recovered in recent years, activity in the market remains below historical peaks. However, the U.S. residential
market experienced an increase in demand and activity during fiscal 2022, as did the Canadian housing
market.

Residential R&R

Residential R&R activity is typically more stable than new construction activity. Following a prolonged
period of under-investment during the downturn from 2007 to 2011, residential R&R activity experienced
above-average growth, which we expect to continue for the next several years. The primary drivers of residential
R&R spending include changes in existing home prices, existing home sales, the average age of the housing
stock, consumer confidence and interest rates.
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Price and Mix Changes

Prices for certain of our products are subject to fluctuations arising from changes in domestic and
international supply and demand, labor costs, competition, market speculation, government regulations,
tariffs and trade restrictions, and periodic delays in delivery. Certain products we distribute have recently seen
extreme price volatility, caused in large part by the contributory effects of COVID-19 and the international
conflicts. Price inflation may impact demand for these products while price deflation may reduce our net sales
and compress our margins. There is no assurance that we can successfully pass on price increases from our
vendors to our customers. In addition, we may experience changes in our customer mix or in our product mix.
Our operating results may be negatively impacted if customers require more lower-margin products from
us and few higher-margin products.

Acquisitions

Our results of operations are impacted by acquisitions, as we complement our organic growth strategy
with acquisitions. During fiscal 2022, we completed five acquisitions. During fiscal 2021, we completed one
acquisition. During fiscal 2020, we completed three acquisitions. We believe that significant opportunities
exist to expand our geographic footprint by executing additional strategic acquisitions and we consistently
strive to maintain an extensive and active acquisition pipeline. We are often evaluating several acquisition
opportunities at any given time. See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information regarding our business acquisitions.

COVID-19 Update

We continue to actively monitor the ongoing impacts of COVID-19 on our business. We will continue
to implement, as deemed necessary or advisable, procedures and processes to protect the health and safety
of our employees, customers, partners and suppliers.

To date, our business experienced the largest adverse impact from COVID-19 during the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2020 and the first three quarters of fiscal year 2021, primarily the result of the suspension of
construction activity related to mandated shutdowns and cancelled, delayed or temporarily paused building
projects as customers focused on responding to COVID-19. We also temporarily closed many of our
showrooms. The resulting decrease in net sales was more pronounced in our ceilings and steel framing
products, as these product categories are tied primarily to commercial construction, which was more impacted
by COVID-19 than the residential market. However, the residential market experienced an increase in
demand and activity during the latter half of fiscal 2021 that continued in fiscal 2022. Our results of
operations and financial condition were not materially adversely impacted by COVID-19 during fiscal 2022.

We may take actions that alter our business operations if required by federal, state, provincial or local
authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers, suppliers and
stockholders. Furthermore, while COVID-19 had a limited impact on our financial results and operations
during the year ended April 30, 2022, there is no guarantee that COVID-19 will not have a material impact on
our future financial results or operations. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
for a discussion of risks which could have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial results.
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Results of Operations

A discussion regarding our results of operations and financial condition for the year ended April 30,
2022 compared to the year ended April 30, 2021 is presented below. A discussion regarding our results of
operations and financial condition for the year ended April 30, 2021 compared to the year ended April 30,
2020 can be found under Item 7 of Part II of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
April 30, 2021, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 24, 2021.

The following table summarizes key components of our results of operations:

Year Ended April 30,

2022 2021 2020
(dollars in thousands)

Statement of operations data:

Netsales . .. ... $4,634,875 $3,298,823  $3,241,307
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown

separately below) .. ........ ... .. .. ... ... .. 3,146,600 2,236,120 2,178,093
Gross profit . ... ... 1,488,275 1,062,703 1,063,214
Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative expenses . ............. 950,125 763,629 784,081

Depreciation and amortization . ...................... 119,232 108,125 116,533

Impairment of goodwill . ......... ... ... ............. — — 63,074
Total operating eXpenses . . . . . oo vt v v it e 1,069,357 871,754 963,688
Operating iINCOME . . . . . oottt ettt e e e et 418,918 190,949 99,526
Other (expense) income:

Interest eXpense . . ... ..ottt (58,097) (53,786) (67,718)

Gain on legal settlement . ........................... — 1,382 14,029

Write-off of debt discount and deferred financing fees . ... ... — (4,6006) (1,331)

Otherincome, net . . ... ... .. 3,998 3,155 1,819
Total other expense, net .. ..............utiinurnen... (54,099) (53,855) (53,201)
Income beforetaxes .. .......... ... ... .. .. .. .. ... ... 364,819 137,094 46,325
Provision for income taxes . ............. .. ... ... 91,377 31,534 22,944
NEtINCOME . . o vt eee  e e e $ 273,442 $§ 105,560 $ 23,381
Non-GAAP measures:
Adjusted EBITDA® ... ... . . . $ 566,921 $ 319,371 $ 299,759
Adjusted EBITDA margin®® ... ... ... ... ......... .. 12.2% 9.7% 9.2%

(1) Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin are non-GAAP measures. See “Non-GAAP
Measures” in this Item 7 for how we define and calculate Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
margin, reconciliations thereof to net income and a discussion of why we believe these measures are
useful.

(2) Adjusted EBITDA margin is Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of net sales.
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Net Sales

Year Ended April 30, Change
2022 2021 Dollar Percent
(dollars in thousands)
Wallboard . ....... ... .. ... $1,710,851  $1,346,648 $§ 364,203 27.0%
Ceilings .. ... 567,700 451,766 115,934 25.7%
Steel framing . ............ ... . ... 1,027,941 469,048 558,893  119.2%
Complementary products . . . .................... 1,328,383 1,031,361 297,022 28.8%
Totalnetsales ........... ... ... . ... ....... $4,634,875 $3,298,823  §1,336,052  40.5%

The increase in net sales during our fiscal year ended April 30, 2022 compared to the prior fiscal year
was primarily due to inflationary pricing, healthy residential end markets and the negative impacts of
COVID-19 in the prior year. Also contributing to the increase were acquisitions over the past year. Partially
offsetting these increases was one less selling day during the year ended April 30, 2022 compared to the
prior year. The increase in net sales consisted of the following:

 an increase in wallboard sales, which are impacted by both commercial and residential construction
activity, primarily due to an increase in price/product mix and slightly higher volume;

 an increase in ceilings sales, which is principally impacted by commercial construction activity,
primarily due to an increase in price/product mix and slightly higher volume driven by acquisitions;

* an increase in steel framing sales, which is principally impacted by commercial construction activity,
primarily due to an increase in price/product mix and higher volume; and

* an increase in complementary products sales, which include insulation, joint treatment, tools, lumber
and various other specialty building products, primarily due to an increase in pricing in certain
product categories, positive contributions from acquisitions and the execution of growth initiatives
to increase other products sales.

The following table breaks out our net sales into organic, or base business, net sales and recently
acquired net sales for the years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021. When calculating organic sales growth, we
exclude the net sales of acquired businesses until the first anniversary of the acquisition date. In addition, we
exclude the impact of foreign currency translation in our calculation of organic net sales growth.

Year Ended April 30, Change
2022 2021 Dollar Percent
(dollars in thousands)
Netsales .. ... $4,634,875 $3,298.,823
Recently acquired net sales™ .. .. ... ... ... ... .. .. (286,283) —
Impact of foreign currency® . ... ................ (29,029) —
Base business net sales® . ... ... ... ... ... ... $4,319,563  $3,298,823  $1,020,740  30.9%

(1) Represents net sales of branches acquired by us until the first anniversary of the acquisition date. For
the year ended April 30, 2022, this includes net sales from the following acquisitions: D.L. Building
Materials acquired on February 1, 2021, Westside acquired on July 1, 2021, Ames acquired on
December 1, 2021 and Kimco acquired on December 1, 2021. Our acquisitions of Architectural
Coatings and DK&B have been treated as greenfields and are included in base business net sales.

(2) Represents the impact of foreign currency translation on net sales.
(3) Represents net sales of existing branches and branches that were opened by us during the period
presented.

The increase in organic net sales was primarily driven by inflationary pricing, healthy residential end
markets, growth in complementary products sales and the negative impacts of COVID-19 in the prior year.
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Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Year Ended April 30, Change
2022 2021 Dollar Percent
(dollars in thousands)
Grossprofit .. ... ... $1,488,275 $1,062,703  $425,572  40.0%
GIroSSMAargin . . .. ...v v e i e 32.1% 32.2%

The increase in gross profit during the year ended April 30, 2022 compared to the prior year was
primarily due to the successful pass through of product inflation, strength in residential market demand,
incremental gross profit from acquisitions and the negative impacts of COVID-19 in the prior year. Gross
margin on net sales during the year ended April 30, 2022 decreased slightly from the prior year primarily due
to challenging price-cost dynamics for certain product categories, partially offset by the impact of
inflationary market pricing on sales. Wallboard and steel gross margins were unfavorably impacted by these
dynamics while complementary products and ceilings were favorably impacted. Included in cost of sales
for the year ended April 30, 2022 was $3.8 million in non-cash charges to increase acquired inventory to its
estimated fair value. These adjustments had a negative effect on both gross profit and gross margin as the
related inventory was sold.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended April 30, Change
2022 2021 Dollar Percent
(dollars in thousands)
Selling, general and administrative expenses . ... .......... $950,125 $763,629 $186,496  24.4%
Y%ofnetsales .. ... . 20.5% 23.1%

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of warehouse, delivery and general and
administrative expenses. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses during the year ended
April 30, 2022 compared to the prior year was primarily due to increases in payroll and payroll related costs,
fuel costs, travel costs and facilities costs, which were driven by increased sales volume, inflationary pressures
and incremental selling, general and administrative expenses from acquisitions. Selling, general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of our net sales decreased during the year ended April 30, 2022
compared to the prior year primarily due to the impact of inflationary market pricing on sales.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Year Ended April 30, Change
2022 2021 Dollar Percent
(dollars in thousands)
Depreciation .. ............ ... $ 55437 $ 50,480 $ 4,957 9.8%
AmOrtization . . ... ...t 63,795 57,645 6,150  10.7%
Depreciation and amortization . ... .................. $119,232  $108,125 $11,107  10.3%

Depreciation and amortization includes depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of
definite-lived intangible assets. The increase in depreciation expense during the year ended April 30, 2022
compared to the prior year was primarily due to incremental expense resulting from property and equipment
obtained in the acquisitions of Westside, Ames and D.L. Building Materials, partially offset by assets
becoming fully depreciated during the period. The increase in amortization expense during the year ended
April 30, 2022 compared to the prior year was primarily due to incremental expense resulting from definite-
lived intangible assets obtained in the acquisition of Westside, Ames and D.L. Building Materials, partially
offset by time-based progression of our use of the accelerated method of amortization for acquired customer
relationships.
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Interest Expense

Year Ended April 30, Change
2022 2021 Dollar Percent

(dollars in thousands)

Interest EXPEnse . . . . . oot i $58,097 $53,786 $4,311 8.0%

Interest expense consists primarily of interest expense incurred on our debt and finance leases and
amortization of deferred financing fees and debt discounts. The increase in interest expense during the year
ended April 30, 2022 compared to the prior year was primarily due to an increase in average debt
outstanding and an increase in interest rates.

Gain on Legal Settlement

During the year ended April 30, 2021, we received proceeds as part of a class action settlement against
certain drywall manufacturers related to purchases made during calendar years 2012 and 2013. The Company
recorded a gain on legal settlement of $1.4 million during the year ended April 30, 2021.

Write-Off of Debt Discount and Deferred Financing Fees

During the year ended April 30, 2021, we recorded a write-off of debt discount and deferred financing
fees of $4.6 million related to the refinancing of our senior secured first lien term loan facility in April 2021.
For more information regarding our debt transactions, see Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2022.

Income Tax Expense

Year Ended April 30, Change
2022 2021 Dollar Percent
(dollars in thousands)
Provision for incCome taxes . .. ... ... .. ..., $91,377 $31,534 $59.843  189.8%
Effectivetaxrate . ...... ... ... ... ... 25.0% 23.0%

The change in the effective income tax rate during the year ended April 30, 2022 compared to the prior
year was primarily due to the impact of state taxes, foreign taxes and stock-based compensation. For
information regarding the significant differences between the U.S. federal statutory rate and our effective tax
rate, see Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2022.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Summary

We depend on cash flow from operations, cash on hand and funds available under our ABL Facility to
finance working capital needs, capital expenditures and acquisitions. We believe that these sources of funds
will be adequate to fund debt service requirements and provide cash, as required, to support our growth
strategies, ongoing operations, capital expenditures, lease obligations and working capital for at least the
next twelve months and in the long term. We also believe we would be able to take measures to preserve
liquidity should there be an economic downturn, recession or other disruption to our business in the future.

On November 30, 2021, we amended our ABL Facility to, among other things, increase the commitments
thereunder by $100.0 million from $445.0 million to $545.0 million and change the London Interbank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”) interest rate provisions to Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) interest rate
provisions. As of April 30, 2022, we had available borrowing capacity of approximately $307.4 million under
our $545.0 million ABL Facility. The ABL Facility is scheduled to mature on September 30, 2024.
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As of April 30, 2022, we had available borrowing capacity of approximately $23.3 million under our
Canadian revolving credit facility (the “Canadian Facility”) that provides for aggregate revolving
commitments of $23.3 million ($30.0 million Canadian dollars). The Canadian Facility matures on
January 12, 2026.

For more information regarding our ABL Facility and other indebtedness, see Note 7 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
April 30, 2022.

We regularly evaluate opportunities to optimize our capital structure, including through consideration
of the issuance or incurrence of additional debt, to refinance existing debt and to fund ongoing cash needs
such as general corporate purposes, growth initiatives, acquisitions and our stock repurchase program.

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth summarized cash flow data:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020
(in thousands)
Cash provided by operating activities . .. .............. $ 179,611 §$ 153,304 $303,079
Cash used in investing activities . . . .. ................ (387,210) (63,587)  (47,100)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities . ......... 143,278  (136,622)  (91,334)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents . . ... (775) 3,008 (1,074)
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ... ...... $ (65,096) § (43,897) $163,571

Operating Activities

The increase in cash provided by operating activities during the year ended April 30, 2022 compared to
the prior year was primarily due to the increase in operating results previously discussed, partially offset by
an increase in inventory related to ensuring product availability and managing price inflation amid an
environment of tight and less reliable supply, as well as an increase in accounts receivable. In addition, in
the prior year period we were still conserving cash in response to COVID-19.

Investing Activities

The increase in cash used in investing activities during the year ended April 30, 2022 compared to the
prior year was primarily due to a $312.1 million increase in cash used for acquisitions and an $11.2 million
increase in capital expenditures.

Capital expenditures during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020 primarily consisted of real
estate purchases, building and leasehold improvements, vehicles and IT-related spending. Capital expenditures
vary depending on prevailing business factors, including current and anticipated market conditions.
Historically, capital expenditures have remained at relatively low levels in comparison to the operating cash
flows generated during the corresponding periods.

Financing Activities

The change in cash flows from financing activities during the year ended April 30, 2022 compared to
the prior year was primarily due to net borrowings of $211.3 million under our revolving credit facilities
during the year ended April 30, 2022, compared to net repayments of $87.4 million during the prior year.
During the year ended April 30, 2022, we used our revolving credit facilities to help fund the Westside and
Ames acquisitions and for general working capital needs. During the prior year, we repaid the proceeds we
proactively borrowed in March 2020 due to COVID-19. Also contributing to the change was a $31.3 million
increase in repurchases of common stock during the year ended April 30, 2022.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our contractual obligations and commitments as of April 30, 2022:

Year Ending April 30,
Total 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter
(in thousands)

Long-term debt™" . . . .. $1,072,833 $ 9,615 $ 6,991 $216,944 $489.283 $ — $350,000
Interest on long-term

debt® ... ... ... 167,323 33,028 32,949 32,904 19,115 16,412 32,915

Finance leases® . . . . . . 131,441 43,734 34,501 23,492 15,718 9,308 4,688

Operating leases™® . . . . 168,440 44,730 42,299 31,526 20,125 10,836 18,924

Total . ............. $1,540,037 $131,107 $116,740 $304,866 $544,241 $36,556  $406,527

(1) Long-term debt includes principal payments on outstanding debt obligations. Long-term debt excludes
unamortized discounts and deferred financing fees. As of April 30, 2022, we had $1,072.8 million
aggregate amount of debt outstanding, consisting of $504.6 million of our Term Loan Facility due
2025, $350.0 million under our Senior Notes due 2029, $211.1 million under our ABL Facility and
$7.1 million of installment notes due in monthly and annual installments through 2025.

(2) Interest payments on long-term debt includes interest due on outstanding debt obligations and
commitment and borrowing costs under our ABL Facility.

(3) Represents remaining payments under finance leases, including interest on finance lease obligations.

(4) Represents base rent payments under non-cancellable operating leases.

We may, from time to time, repurchase or otherwise retire or extend our debt and/or take other steps to
reduce our debt or otherwise improve our financial position. These actions may include open market debt
repurchases, negotiated repurchases, other retirements of outstanding debt and/or opportunistic refinancing
of debt. The amount of debt that may be repurchased or otherwise retired or refinanced, if any, will
depend on market conditions, trading levels of our debt, our cash position, compliance with debt covenants
and other considerations.

We lease certain office and warehouse facilities and equipment, some of which provide renewal options.
Rent expense for operating leases, which may have escalating rents over the terms of the leases, is recorded
on a straight-line basis over the minimum lease terms. Rent expense under operating leases approximated
$65.6 million, $55.3 million, and $55.4 million for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. As existing leases expire, we anticipate such leases will be renewed or replaced with other leases
that are substantially similar in terms, which are consistent with market rates at the time of renewal.

During fiscal 2022, 2021 and 2020, we recorded $41.7 million, $27.4 million and $50.5 million for finance
lease obligations for equipment and vehicles. We expect to continue to enter in to finance lease obligations
for equipment and vehicles in fiscal 2023.

Share Repurchase Program

On November 30, 2018, our Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase program to
repurchase up to $75.0 million of our outstanding common stock. We repurchased 715 thousand shares of
our common stock during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2022 for $35.5 million. As of April 30, 2022, we had
$18.8 million of remaining purchase authorization under this share repurchase program.

On June 23, 2022, our Board of Directors approved an expanded share repurchase program under
which we are authorized to repurchase up to $200.0 million of our outstanding common stock. This
expanded program replaces our previous share repurchase authorization of $75.0 million. We may conduct
repurchases under the share repurchase program through open market transactions, under trading plans
in accordance with SEC Rule 10b5-1 and/or in privately negotiated transactions, in each case in compliance
with Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The timing and amount of any purchases
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of our common stock are subject to a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, our liquidity, credit
availability, general business and market conditions, our debt covenants and the availability of alternative
investment opportunities. The share repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire any particular amount
of common stock, and it may be suspended or terminated at any time at our discretion.

Interest Rate Swap

We have interest rate swap agreements with a notional amount of $500.0 million to convert the variable
interest rate on a portion of our Term Loan Facility to a fixed 1-month LIBOR interest rate of 2.46%. These
contracts were effective on February 28, 2019 and terminate on February 28, 2023.

Debt Covenants

The ABL Facility contains certain affirmative covenants, including financial and other reporting
requirements. We were in compliance with all such covenants as of April 30, 2022.

The Term Loan Facility and the indenture governing the Senior Notes contain a number of covenants
that limit our ability and the ability of our restricted subsidiaries, as described in the respective credit
agreement and the indenture, to: incur more indebtedness; pay dividends, redeem or repurchase stock or make
other distributions; make investments; create restrictions on the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to pay
dividends to us or make other intercompany transfers; create liens securing indebtedness; transfer or sell
assets; merge or consolidate; enter into certain transactions with our affiliates; and prepay or amend the
terms of certain indebtedness. Such covenants are subject to several important exceptions and qualifications
set forth in the Term Loan Facility and the indenture governing the Senior Notes. We were in compliance
with all restrictive covenants as of April 30, 2022.

Interest Rates

Our Term Loan Facility includes available interest rate options based on LIBOR. LIBOR publications
will end after June 30, 2023, and the United States and other countries are currently working to replace
LIBOR with alternative reference rates. The consequences of these developments with respect to LIBOR
cannot be entirely predicted; however, we do not believe that the discontinuation of LIBOR as a reference rate
in our loan agreements will have a material adverse effect on our financial position or materially affect our
interest expense.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of April 30, 2022, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or for other contractually
narrow or limited purposes.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of operating results and financial condition are based upon our audited
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The preparation of our
financial statements, in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”), requires us
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, net sales, expenses
and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on experience and other
assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates on an
ongoing basis. Our critical accounting policies are those that materially affect our consolidated financial
statements and involve difficult, subjective or complex judgments by management. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions that may impact us in
the future, actual results may be materially different from the estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting policies are affected by significant judgments and estimates
used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements and that the judgments and estimates are
reasonable.
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Business Combinations

Description.  We account for business combinations by recognizing the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the acquisition date fair value. In valuing acquired assets and liabilities, fair value estimates use
Level 3 inputs, including future expected cash flows and discount rates. Goodwill is measured as the excess of
consideration transferred over the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. While the
Company uses its best estimates and assumptions as a part of the acquisition accounting process to accurately
value assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, the Company’s estimates are inherently
uncertain and subject to refinement. As a result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one
year from the acquisition date, the Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent
adjustments arising from new facts and circumstances are recorded to the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Judgments and Uncertainties. Accounting for business combinations requires our management to
make significant estimates and assumptions about intangible assets, obligations assumed and pre-
acquisition contingencies, including uncertain tax positions and tax-related valuation allowances and reserves.
Critical inputs and assumptions in valuing certain of the intangible assets include, but are not limited to,
future expected cash flows from customer relationships and developed technologies; the acquired company’s
brand and competitive position, as well as assumptions about the period of time the acquired brand will
continue to be used in the combined company’s product portfolio; and discount rates.

Effect if Actual Results Differ. Although we believe the assumptions and estimates we have made in
the past have been reasonable and appropriate, they are inherently uncertain. As a result, actual results may
differ from estimates.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Description. 'We perform an impairment test of our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets
annually during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year (February 1) or when events and circumstances indicate
goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets might be impaired. Impairment testing of goodwill is required
at the reporting unit level. We may first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to
perform a quantitative impairment test. The quantitative goodwill impairment test involves comparing the
estimated fair value of our reporting units with the reporting unit’s carrying amount, including goodwill. If
the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, a goodwill impairment loss is measured as
the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying
amount of goodwill. We evaluate our reporting units on an annual basis or when events or circumstances
indicate our reporting units might change.

Judgments and Uncertainties. Application of the impairment tests requires judgment, including the
identification of reporting units, assigning assets and liabilities to reporting units and determining the fair
values of reporting units. We estimated the fair values of our reporting units based on weighting of the income
and market approaches. These models use significant unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs, as defined by
the fair value hierarchy. Significant estimates and assumptions inherent in the valuations include the amount
and timing of future cash flows (including expected growth rates and profitability), the discount rate
applied to the cash flows and the selection of guideline companies. The assumptions with the most significant
impact on the fair value of our reporting units are those related to the discount rate, the terminal value,
future operating cash flows and the growth rate.

Effect if Actual Results Differ From Assumptions. As of April 30, 2022, we had $695.9 million of
goodwill and $84.4 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets. During the year ended April 30, 2020, we
recognized a $63.1 million non-cash impairment charge to write off goodwill related to our Canada reporting
unit in conjunction with our annual goodwill impairment test performed in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2020. The primary factors contributing to the impairment was an increase in the discount rate and a decrease
in market multiples, combined with a decrease in the reporting unit’s forecasted near-term cash flows,
primarily resulting from COVID-19 driven economic uncertainty. The impairment charge was equal to the
excess of the reporting unit’s carrying value over its fair value. As of April 30, 2022, we had $138.3 million of
remaining goodwill related to our Canada reporting unit. Our annual impairment test during the fourth
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quarter of fiscal 2020 indicated the estimated fair values of our other reporting units exceeded their
carrying values. Our fiscal 2022 and 2021 annual impairment tests indicated that none of our reporting units
were at risk of failing the goodwill impairment test. Our impairment tests for indefinite-lived intangible
assets for fiscal 2022, 2021 and 2020 also indicated no impairment. Changes to our business strategy, changes
in industry or market conditions, changes in operating performance, a prolonged weakness in general
economic conditions, volatility in the equity and debt markets or other similar circumstances could affect
the assumptions used in the impairment tests. Although management currently believes that the estimates
used in the evaluation of goodwill are reasonable, if the assumptions used in the impairment analysis are not
met or materially change, it could cause goodwill to be impaired.

Long-Lived Assets

Description. 'We depreciate property and equipment and amortize intangible assets over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. Estimates of useful lives are based on the nature of the underlying assets as well as
our experience with similar assets and intended use. We periodically review estimated useful lives for
reasonableness. We evaluate recoverability of long-lived assets, including property and equipment and
intangible assets, when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount
of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flow expected to be generated by the assets. If the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by
the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.

Judgments and Uncertainties. Determining the useful life of an intangible asset requires judgment.
Estimates of useful lives can differ from actual useful lives due to the inherent uncertainty in making these
estimates. Our impairment tests contain uncertainties because they require management to make assumptions
and apply judgment regarding the amount and timing of future cash flows (including expected growth
rates and profitability) and the discount rate applied to the cash flows.

Effect if Actual Results Differ. As of April 30,2022, we had $350.7 million of property and equipment,
$370.4 million of definite-lived intangible assets and $153.3 million of operating lease right-of-use assets.
During the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020, we recorded impairments of $1.0 million and $1.9 million,
respectively, of operating lease right-of-use assets due to restructuring plans to close certain facilities. We
did not recognize any other material impairment charges for our long-lived assets during the past three years.
We did not have any material changes in useful lives for our long-lived assets during the past three years.
However, changes in management intentions, market events or conditions, projected future net sales, operating
results and other similar circumstances could affect the assumptions used in the impairment tests. Although
management currently believes that the estimates used in the evaluation of long-lived assets are reasonable,
differences between actual and expected net sales, operating results and cash flow could cause these assets to
be impaired.

Income Taxes

Description. Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized based on the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Inherent in the measurement of deferred balances
are certain judgments and interpretations of existing tax law and published guidance as applicable to our
operations.

We evaluate our deferred tax assets to determine if valuation allowances are required. In assessing the
realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider both positive and negative evidence in determining whether
it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The primary
negative evidence considered includes the cumulative operating losses generated in prior periods. The
primary positive evidence considered includes the reversal of deferred tax liabilities related to depreciation
and amortization that would occur within the same jurisdiction and during the carry-forward period necessary
to absorb the federal and state net operating losses and other deferred tax assets. The reversal of such
liabilities would utilize the federal and state net operating losses and other deferred tax assets.
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We record amounts for uncertain tax positions that management believes are supportable, but are
potentially subject to successful challenge by the applicable taxing authority. Consequently, changes in our
assumptions and judgments could materially affect amounts recognized related to income tax uncertainties
and may affect our results of operations or financial position. We believe our assumptions for estimates
continue to be reasonable, although actual results may have a positive or negative material impact on the
balances of such tax positions. Historically, the variation of estimates to actual results is immaterial and
material variation is not expected in the future.

Judgments and Uncertainties. 'We consider the probability of future taxable income and our historical
profitability, among other factors, in assessing the amount of the valuation allowance. Significant judgment
is involved in this determination, including projections of future taxable income. Our liability for
unrecognized tax benefits contains uncertainties because management is required to make assumptions and
to apply judgment to estimate the exposures associated with our various filing positions. Our effective
income tax rate is also affected by changes in tax law, our level of earnings and the results of tax audits.

Effect if Actual Results Differ From Assumptions. Although we believe that the judgments and
estimates used are reasonable, changes in estimates and assumptions could materially affect the amount or
timing of valuation allowances.

Newly Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for information regarding recently adopted and recently issued accounting pronouncements.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin are non-GAAP measures. We report our financial
results in accordance with GAAP. However, we present Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin,
which are not recognized financial measures under GAAP, because we believe they assist investors and
analysts in comparing our operating performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by excluding
items that we do not believe are indicative of our core operating performance. Management believes
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin are helpful in highlighting trends in our operating results,
while other measures can differ significantly depending on long-term strategic decisions regarding capital
structure and allocation, the tax jurisdictions in which companies operate and capital investments and
acquisitions.

In addition, we utilize Adjusted EBITDA in certain calculations under our debt agreements. Our debt
agreements permit us to make certain additional adjustments in calculating Consolidated EBITDA, such as
projected net cost savings, which are not reflected in the Adjusted EBITDA data presented in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We may in the future reflect such permitted adjustments in our calculations of Adjusted
EBITDA.

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin are frequently used by analysts,
investors and other interested parties in their evaluation of companies, many of which present an Adjusted
EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA margin measure when reporting their results. Our presentation of Adjusted
EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or
non-recurring items. In addition, Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used
by other companies in our industry or across different industries.

We also include information concerning Adjusted EBITDA margin, which is calculated as Adjusted
EBITDA divided by net sales. We present Adjusted EBITDA margin because it is used by management as a
performance measure to judge the level of Adjusted EBITDA that is generated from net sales.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin have their limitations as analytical tools and should
not be considered in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP.
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The following is a reconciliation of our net income to Adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020
(in thousands)

NetinCome . . ..o v et $ 273442 $ 105560 $ 23,381
Interestexpense . .. ......... ..., 58,097 53,786 67,718
Write-off of debt discount and deferred financing fees . . — 4,606 1,331
Interestincome . ............................ (163) (86) (88)
Provision for incometaxes . . . ... ....... ... . ... .. 91,377 31,534 22,944
Depreciation eXpense . . ... ........c..oiroin.... 55,437 50,480 51,332
AmOrtization €XpPense . . . . ..o vt 63,795 57,645 65,201
Impairment of goodwill . ...................... — — 63,074
Stock appreciation expense™ . . ... ... ... ... ... 4,403 3,173 1,572
Redeemable noncontrolling interests® . .. ... ... .. .. 1,983 1,288 520
Equity-based compensation® ... ... ... ... . ...... 10,968 8,442 7,060
Severance and other permitted costs ... 1,132 2,948 5,733
Transaction costs (acquisitions and other)® . ... ... .. 3,545 1,068 2,414
(Gain) loss on disposal and impairment of assets® . . . . . 913) (1,011) 658
Effects of fair value adjustments to inventory® . ... ... 3,818 788 575
Gain on legal settlement .. ..................... — (1,382) (14,029)
Secondary public offering costs™ . . ... ... L. — — 363
Debt transaction costs” . . ... ... L. — 532 —
Adjusted EBITDA . ....... ... . ... ... ........ $ 566,921 $ 319,371 $§ 299,759
Netsales .. ..ot $4,634,875 $3,298,823  $3,241,307
Adjusted EBITDA Margin .. ................... 12.2% 9.7% 9.2%

(a)
(b)
©
(d)

(e)
()
(2)

(h)
()

Represents changes in the fair value of stock appreciation rights.
Represents changes in the fair values of noncontrolling interests.
Represents non-cash equity-based compensation expense related to the issuance of share-based awards.

Represents severance expenses and other costs permitted in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA
under the ABL Facility and the Term Loan Facility, including certain unusual, nonrecurring costs and
credits due to COVID-19.

Represents costs related to acquisitions paid to third parties.

Includes gains from the sale of assets and impairment of assets resulting from restructuring plans to
close certain facilities.

Represents the non-cash cost of sales impact of acquisition accounting adjustments to increase
inventory to its estimated fair value.

Represents costs paid to third-party advisors related to secondary offerings of our common stock.

Represents costs paid to third-party advisors related to debt refinancing activities.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk through fluctuations in interest rates on our debt obligations. A
significant portion of our outstanding debt bears interest at variable rates. As a result, increases in interest
rates could increase the cost of servicing our debt and could materially reduce our profitability and cash flows.
We seek to manage exposure to adverse interest rate changes through our normal operating and financing
activities, as well as through hedging activities, such as entering into interest rate derivative agreements. We
have entered into interest rate swap agreements with a notional amount of $500.0 million to convert the
variable interest rate on a portion of our Term Loan Facility to a fixed 1-month LIBOR interest rate of
2.46%. These contracts were effective on February 28, 2019 and terminate on February 28, 2023. Excluding
the impact of this interest rate swap and the interest rate floor on the Term Loan Facility, each 1% increase
in interest rates on the Term Loan Facility would increase our annual interest expense by approximately
$5.0 million based on the aggregate principal amount outstanding under the Term Loan Facility as of
April 30, 2022. Assuming the ABL Facility was fully drawn, each 1% increase in interest rates would result
in a $5.5 million increase in our annual interest expense on the ABL Facility. Assuming the Canadian Facility
was fully drawn, each 1% increase in interest rates would result in a $0.2 million increase in our annual
interest expense. As of April 30, 2022, $504.6 million aggregate principal amount was outstanding under
the Term Loan Facility and $211.1 million was outstanding under the ABL Facility. No amounts were
outstanding under the Canadian Facility.

Foreign Currency Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations for our operations in Canada, which can
adversely impact our net income and cash flows. Approximately 14% of our net sales during the year ended
April 30, 2022 were derived from sales to customers in Canada. These operations are primarily conducted
in the local currency. This exposes us to risks associated with changes in foreign currency that can adversely
affect reported net sales, net income and cash flows. We currently do not enter into financial instruments
to manage this foreign currency translation risk.

Commodity Price Risk

We are exposed to changes in prices of commodities used in our operations, primarily associated with
energy, such as crude oil, and raw materials, such as steel. We generally manage the risk of changes in
commodity prices that impact our costs by seeking to pass commodity-related inflation on to our customers.

40



Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

GMS INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOBID:42) . ...............
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of April 30,2022 and 2021 . .......... ... .. .. ... o ...

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended
April 30,2022, 2021 and 2020 . . . ..

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and
2020 L

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020 . ... ...
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . .. ............. ... .. ...,

41




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of GMS Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of GMS Inc. (the Company) as of
April 30, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
(loss), stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended April 30, 2022,
and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company at April 30, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended April 30, 2022, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of April 30,
2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated June 23,
2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the
financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and
that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matters
does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we
are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit
matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Description of the Matter

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

Description of the Matter

Goodwill Impairment Assessment

As of April 30, 2022, the Company’s goodwill was $695.9 million. As explained in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company tested goodwill for impairment at the reporting
unit level during its fiscal fourth quarter. The Company performed a qualitative assessment to
determine whether it was more likely than not that the fair value of each reporting unit was less
than its carrying value.

Auditing management’s annual goodwill qualitative assessment required the application of a
higher degree of auditor judgment. Qualitative events and circumstances, such as
macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial
performance, market capitalization and events specific to the entity and its reporting units,
required a higher degree of auditor judgment to evaluate. These qualitative events and
circumstances could have a significant effect on the Company’s qualitative assessment and the
determination of whether a quantitative goodwill impairment test for one or more

reporting units was required.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of
controls over the Company’s goodwill qualitative assessment, including controls over
management’s review of the qualitative factors described above.

To test the goodwill qualitative assessment, we performed audit procedures that included, among
others, considering macroeconomic conditions and analyzing the financial performance of the
consolidated Company and reporting units, the Company’s market capitalization, the carrying
value of the reporting units, and other entity and reporting unit specific events. We further
assessed the historical accuracy of management’s estimates of future financial performance and
performed sensitivity analyses of significant assumptions, such as the discount rate, to evaluate if
changes in these assumptions could indicate that the fair value of one or more reporting units
was more likely than not less than its carrying value.

Fair Value Estimates of Customer Relationships and Tradenames

During fiscal 2022, the Company acquired Westside Building Material and Ames Taping Tools
Holding LLC for aggregate consideration of $366.8 million. The Company recognized the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition date fair values, $171.8 million of which
related to customer relationships and tradenames, as disclosed in Note 2 in the consolidated
financial statements. The Company used the multi-period excess earnings method and the relief
from royalty method to estimate the preliminary fair value of customer relationships and
tradenames, respectively, which are based on management’s inputs and assumptions.

Auditing the preliminary fair values of customer relationships and tradenames was complex and
subjective due to the estimation uncertainty in determining significant assumptions, such as
management’s cash flow projections, customer attrition rates, royalty rates and discount rates
which had a significant impact on the estimated fair values. These significant assumptions are
forward-looking and could be affected by future market and economic conditions.
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How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of
controls over the Company’s acquisition accounting process, including controls over the
estimation processes and models to estimate the fair values of the above identified intangible
assets, as well as controls over management’s review of the valuation methodologies and
significant assumptions described above.

To test the fair value estimates, our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating the
Company’s selection of the valuation methodologies, testing the significant assumptions, and
testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data. For example, we compared cash flow
projections to historical results and publicly available information. With the assistance of our
valuation specialists, we evaluated the valuation methodologies, and the customer attrition rates,
royalty rates and discount rates used within the models. This included understanding and
validating the source information underlying the determination of the customer attrition rates,
royalty rates and discount rates and testing the mathematical accuracy of the calculations. We
also performed sensitivity analyses to evaluate the changes in the fair value of the intangible
assets that would result from changes in the customer attrition rates, royalty rates and discount
rates.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.

Atlanta, Georgia
June 23, 2022

44



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of GMS Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited GMS Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2022, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, GMS
Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as
of April 30, 2022, based on the COSO criteria.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,
management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
did not include the internal controls of Westside Building Material (Westside) and Ames Taping Tools
Holding LLC (Ames), which are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company constituted
5% and 9% of total assets, respectively, as of April 30, 2022 and 4% and 1% of revenues, respectively, for
the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not
include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Westside or Ames.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of April 30, 2022 and
2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended April 30, 2022, and the related notes
and our report dated June 23, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in
the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to
the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
June 23, 2022
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GMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ............ ... .. ... .. ... .
Trade accounts and notes receivable, net of allowances of $9,346 and $6,282,
TESPECHIVELY . . o ot
Inventories, NEt . . . . . . . . e
Prepaid expenses and other currentassets . . . . ......................
Total current assets . . . . ... ..ottt
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $227,288 and
$193,364, respectively . . . ... ...
Operating lease right-of-use assets . ............ ... ... ...
Goodwill . . ...
Intangible assets, Net . . . . . ... .
Deferred INCOME tAXES . . . . v vttt e
Other assets . . . ..ot
Total assets . . . ..o

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable . ... .. ...

Accrued compensation and employee benefits . . . . ........... ... .....

Other accrued expenses and current liabilities . ... ...................

Current portion of long-termdebt. ... ....... ... ... ... ... . ... ....

Current portion of operating lease liabilities . . ... ...................

Total current liabilities . . . . . ... ... ... .
Non-current liabilities:

Long-term debt, less current portion . ... .......... ... ............

Long-term operating lease liabilities .. ...........................

Deferred income taxes, Net . . ... ... ...

Other liabilities . . .. ... ..

Total liabilities . . .. .. ..
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 500,000 shares authorized; 42,773
and 43,073 shares issued and outstanding as of April 30, 2022 and 2021,
respectively . ... ..

Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, 50,000 shares authorized; 0 shares
issued and outstanding as of April 30,2022 and 2021 ... .............

Additional paid-incapital . .. ......... ... ...

Retained earnings . .. ... ... ... it

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) . ... .................

Total stockholders’ equity . .......... ... ... . .. ..
Total liabilities and stockholders’equity . ........... ... ... ... ....

April 30, April 30,
2022 2021

$ 101,916 § 167,012

750,046 558,661
550,953 357,054
20,212 19,525

1,423,127 1,102,252

350,679 311,326
153,271 118,413
695,897 576,330
454,747 350,869
17,883 15,715
8,795 8,993

$3,104,399  §2,483,898

§ 367,315 § 322,965

107,925 72,906
127,938 87,138
47,605 46,018
38,415 33,474

689,198 562,501

1,136,585 932,409

112,161 90,290
46,802 12,728
55,155 63,508

2,039,901 1,661,436

428 431

522,136 542,737
547,977 274,535
(6,043) 4,759

1,064,498 822,462

$3,104,399  $2,483,898

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020

Netsales . ..o vt $4,634,875  $3,298,823  $3,241,307
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown

separatelybelow) . ....... ... .. ... .. .. .. ... 3,146,600 2,236,120 2,178,093
Gross profit . ... ... .. 1,488,275 1,062,703 1,063,214
Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative .. ................... 950,125 763,629 784,081

Depreciation and amortization . ...................... 119,232 108,125 116,533

Impairment of goodwill . ........................... — — 63,074
Total Operating eXpenses . . . . . oo vt v v e e e e 1,069,357 871,754 963,688
Operating INCOME . . . . vt vt et e e e e e et 418,918 190,949 99,526
Other (expense) income:

Interest eXpense . . .. .. ... ..ottt (58,097) (53,786) (67,718)

Gain on legal settlement . .. ......................... — 1,382 14,029

Write-off of debt discount and deferred financing fees .. ... .. — (4,6006) (1,331)

Otherincome, net . . . ... ... i 3,998 3,155 1,819
Total other expense, net . ............... ..., (54,099) (53,855) (53,201)
Income beforetaxes . .. ........ .. . ... 364,819 137,094 46,325
Provision for income taxes . .. ....... ... ... ... 91,377 31,534 22,944
NEetinCoOmMe . . .. oot $ 273442 § 105,560 $ 23,381
Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic . ... 43,075 42,765 41,853

Diluted . ... . 43,898 43,343 42,504
Net income per common share:

Basic . ... $ 635 § 247 § 0.56

Diluted . ... .. $ 623 § 244 § 0.55
Comprehensive income (loss)

NEtINCOME . . . . oottt e e e e e $ 273442 $§ 105,560 $ 23,381

Foreign currency translation gain (loss) . . .. .............. (25,805) 61,341 (18,257)

Changes in other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax . . . .. 15,003 8,500 (20,251)
Comprehensive income (10SS) .. .......... ... . $ 262,640 § 175401 §$ (15,127)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balances as of April 30, 2019
Net income
Exercise of Exchangeable Shares
Foreign currency translation loss
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax . . . .
Equity-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Vesting of restricted stock units
Tax withholding related to net share

settlements of equity awards
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
employee stock purchase plan

Balances as of April 30, 2020
Net income
Repurchase and retirement of common

stock
Foreign currency translation gain
Other comprehensive income, net of tax . .
Equity-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Vesting of restricted stock units
Tax withholding related to net share

settlements of equity awards
Issuance of common stock pursuant to

employee stock purchase plan

Balances as of April 30, 2021
Net income
Repurchase and retirement of common

stock
Foreign currency translation loss
Other comprehensive income, net of tax . .
Equity-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Vesting of restricted stock units
Tax withholding related to net share

settlements of equity awards
Issuance of common stock pursuant to

employee stock purchase plan

Balances as of April 30, 2022

(in thousands)

Accumulated

Common Stock Addi.tio'nal ) Other ) Total
_—  — — Exchangeable Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’

Shares Amount Shares Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Equity
40,375 $404  $ 29,639 $480,113 $145,594 $(26,574) $ 629,176
— — — — 23,381 — 23,381
1,129 11 (29,639) 29,628 — — —
- . — . (18257) (18,257
- — — — (20251)  (20,251)
— — — 6,878 — — 6,878
857 9 — 11,784 — — 11,793
78 1 - (1) - - —
- — (532) - — (532)
115 1 — 1,792 — — 1,793
42,554 426 — 529,662 168,975 (65,082) 633,981
— — — — 105,560 — 105,560
(134) (1) — (4,159) — — (4,160)
- — — — 61,341 61,341
S — — - 8,500 8,500
S . 8,412 - - 8,412
483 4 — 7,555 — — 7,559
75 1 — (1) . — —
N — (807) — — (807)
95 1 — 2,075 — — 2,076
43,073 431 — 542,737 274,535 4,759 822,462
S — 273,442 — 273,442
715 (7) . (35481) — . (35,488)
- — — — (25,805) (25,805)
— — — — — 15,003 15,003
— — — 10,968 — — 10,968
222 2 - 4,432 — — 4,434
123 1 — (1) — — —
- — (2,850) - - (2,850)
70 1 — 2,331 — — 2,332
42,773 $428 $ —  $522,136 $547,977 $ (6,043) $1,064,498

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
NELINCOME . . . o vttt e e e e e e e
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization . . . . .....................
Impairment of goodwill . ........ ... ... ... ... .. ... ....
Write-off and amortization of debt discount and debt issuance
COSES . .
Equity-based compensation . .. ........................
(Gain) loss on disposal and impairment of assets . ...........
Deferred incometaxes . .. ......... ...
Otheritems, NEt . .. ... ... .
Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions:
Trade accounts and notes receivable . . .. ................
Inventories . .. ... ... ...
Prepaid expenses and other assets . ....................
Accounts payable . ......... ... ...
Accrued compensation and employee benefits . . . . ... ......
Other accrued expenses and liabilities . .................
Cash provided by operating activities . . . . ...............
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment . .. .................
Proceeds fromsale of assets .. .........................
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired . ..............
Cash used in investing activities . . .. ......................
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments on revolving credit facilities . .. ...............
Borrowings from revolving credit facilities . . ... ............
Payments of principal on long-termdebt . ... ..............
Payments of principal on finance lease obligations . ..........
Borrowings fromtermloan . ......... ... ... ... .....
Repayments of termloan . ...........................
Issuance of Senior Notes . . . .................... ... ..
Repurchases of commonstock .. .......................
Payments for contingent consideration ...................
Debt issuance CoSts . . . . v v v v v
Proceeds from exercises of stock options . . ................
Payments for taxes related to net share settlement of equity
awards . ...
Proceeds from issuance of stock pursuant to employee stock
purchaseplan . ........ ... ... .. ... ... ...
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities . .. ...........
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents ............
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents .. ..............
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year . .................
Cash and cash equivalents,end of year . .....................
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid forincome taxes . ..........................
Cash paid forinterest . ............ ... ... ... .......

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended April 30,

2022

2021

2020

$ 273,442 $105,560 $§ 23,381

119,232 108,125 116,533
— 63,074

2,744 7,568 4,541
17,354 12,872 8,970
©13)  (1,011) 658
(351)  (10,329) 926
5,706 1,552 4,110
(162,118) (101,617) 50,215
(156,311)  (46,660)  (4,579)
92)  (2,621) 6,623
28,423 65446 31,499
32,564 4,477 4,740
19,931 9,042 (7,612)
179.611 153,304 _ 303,079
(41,082)  (29,873)  (25,193)
1,922 2,262 2,229
(348,050)  (35,976)  (24,136)
(387,210) _ (63,587) _ (47,100)
(1,178,897) (102,189) (837,424)
1,390,222 14,750 880,698
(5,110)  (8,754) (109,968)
(31,365)  (30,371)  (25,275)
511,000 —

— (869.427) —

— 350,000 —
(35,488)  (4,160) —
- — (11,133)
—(6299)  (1,286)

4,434 7,559 11,793
(2,850) (807) (532)
2,332 2,076 1,793
143278 (136,622) _ (91,334)
(775) 3,008  (1,074)
(65,096)  (43,897) 163,571
167,012 210,909  47.338
$ 101,916 $ 167,012 $ 210,909
$ 86288 S 46417 $ 29,761
46,204 49,650 63,745



GMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Business, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business

Founded in 1971, GMS Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “we,” “our,” “us,” “GMS” or
the “Company”), through its wholly owned operating subsidiaries, operates a network of nearly 300
distribution centers with extensive product offerings of wallboard, ceilings, steel framing and complementary
construction products. The Company also operates nearly 100 tool sales, rental and service centers. Through
these operations, the Company provides a comprehensive selection of building products and solutions for
its residential and commercial contractor customer base across the United States and Canada. The Company’s
unique operating model combines the benefits of a national platform and strategy with a local go-to-
market focus, enabling the Company to generate significant economies of scale while maintaining high
levels of customer service.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements present the results of operations, financial position, stockholders’
equity and cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries. All material intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The results of operations of businesses acquired are
included from their respective dates of acquisition.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rate
prevailing at the balance sheet date, while income and expenses are translated at average rates for the period.
Translation gains and losses are reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and other
comprehensive income (loss). Gains and losses on foreign currency transactions are recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) within other income, net.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior year notes to consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to
conform to the current year presentation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents.

Trade Accounts Receivable

The Company records accounts and notes receivable net of allowances, including an allowance for
expected credit losses. The Company maintains an allowance for estimated losses due to the failure of
customers to make required payments, as well as allowances for cash discounts. The Company’s estimate of
the allowance for expected credit losses is based on an assessment of individual past due accounts, historical
loss information, accounts receivable aging and current economic factors and the Company’s expectation
of future economic conditions. Account balances are written off when the potential for recovery is considered
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

remote. Other receivables primarily include vendor rebate receivables. Other allowances includes reserves for
cash discounts and reserves for service charges.

The Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and generally does not require
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable are limited due to the large
number of geographically diverse customers comprising the Company’s customer base.

Inventories

Inventories primarily consist of finished goods purchased for resale and include wallboard, ceilings,
steel framing and other complementary products. Included within complementary products are parts,
merchandise and tools held for sale. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market (net realizable
value). The cost of inventories is determined by the moving average cost method. The Company routinely
evaluates inventory for excess or obsolescence and considers factors such as historical usage rates and demand.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Property and equipment
obtained through business combinations is stated at estimated fair value as of the acquisition date.
Expenditures for improvements are capitalized, while the costs of maintenance and repairs are charged to
operating expense as incurred. Gains and losses related to the sale of property and equipment are recorded
in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Depreciation expense for property and equipment of U.S. subsidiaries is determined using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the various asset classes. The estimated useful lives of property
and equipment are as follows:

Buildings . .......... ... . ... .. ... ... ... 25 — 39 years

Furniture, fixtures and automobiles . .......... 3 — 5years

Computer hardware and software . ............ 3 — 5years

Warehouse, delivery equipment and tools . . . . .. .. 3 — 10 years

Leaschold improvements .. ................. Shorter of estimated useful life or lease term

Depreciation expense for property and equipment of Canadian subsidiaries is recognized over the
estimated useful lives of the various asset classes as follows:

Vehiclesand trucks . ...................... 30% — 40% declining balance

Furniture and fixtures .. ................... 8% — 20% declining balance

Buildings . ........ ... . ... . ... 4% declining balance

Machinery and equipment . . ................ 30% declining balance

Leasehold improvements . .................. Straight-line over shorter of estimated useful life or
lease term

Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of identifiable net assets
acquired in business combinations accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting. The Company
does not amortize goodwill. The Company tests its goodwill annually during the fourth quarter of its fiscal
year or when events and circumstances indicate goodwill might be impaired. Impairment testing of goodwill
is required at the reporting unit level (operating segment or one level below operating segment). The
Company may make a qualitative assessment of the likelihood of goodwill impairment in order to determine
whether a detailed quantitative analysis is required. The quantitative impairment test involves comparing
the estimated fair values of the Company’s reporting units with the reporting units’ carrying amounts,
including goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, a goodwill impairment
loss is measured as the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, not to
exceed the carrying amount of goodwill.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships, trade names and other assets acquired in conjunction
with the purchases of businesses or purchases of assets from other companies. The Company typically uses
an income method to estimate the acquisition date fair value of intangible assets obtained through a
business combination, which is based on forecasts of the expected future cash flows attributable to the
respective assets. When management determines material intangible assets are acquired in conjunction with
the purchase of a business, the Company determines the fair values of the identifiable intangible assets by
considering management’s own analysis and an independent third-party valuation specialist’s appraisal.
Intangible assets determined to have definite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Intangible
assets determined to have indefinite lives are tested for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of
the Company’s fiscal year or when events and circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the
asset is impaired.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets, including property and equipment,
operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and definite-lived intangible assets, for impairment when events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Conditions that would necessitate an impairment assessment include a significant decline in the observable
market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used or a significant
adverse change that would indicate the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets is not recoverable.
For long-lived assets to be held and used, the Company recognizes an impairment loss if the carrying amount
is not recoverable through the undiscounted cash flows and measures an impairment loss, if any, based on
the difference between the carrying amount and fair value. Long-lived assets held for sale are reported at the
lower of cost or fair value less costs to sell and are recorded within prepaid expenses and other current
assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company classifies assets as held for sale if it commits to a
plan to sell the asset within one year and actively markets the asset in its current condition for a price that is
reasonable in comparison to its estimated fair value.

Leases

The Company leases facilities, distribution and warehouse equipment and its fleet of vehicles. The
Company’s leases have lease terms ranging from one to eleven years. The Company’s facility leases generally
contain renewal options for periods ranging from one to five years. The exercise of lease renewal options is
typically at the Company’s sole discretion. The Company does not recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities for
renewal options unless it is determined that the Company is reasonably certain of exercising renewal
options at lease inception. Certain of the Company’s equipment leases include options to purchase the
leased property and residual value guarantees. Any residual value payment deemed probable is included in
the Company’s lease liability. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material restrictive
covenants.

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception and evaluates whether the lease
meets the classification criteria of a finance or operating lease. Operating leases are included in operating
lease right-of-use assets, current portion of operating lease liabilities and long-term operating lease liabilities
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Finance leases are included in property and equipment, current
portion of long-term debt and long-term debt in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Lease ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present
value of the future lease payments over the lease term. For leases that do not provide an implicit rate, the
Company uses its incremental borrowing rate in determining the present value of future payments. The
Company determines its incremental borrowing rate based on the applicable lease terms and the current
economic environment. Lease ROU assets also include any lease payments made in advance and excludes
lease incentives and initial direct costs incurred. Some of the Company’s lease agreements contain rent
escalation clauses (including index-based escalations), rent holidays, capital improvements funding or other
lease concessions. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis based on the fixed component over
the lease term. Variable lease costs consist primarily of taxes, insurance and common area or other
maintenance costs for leased facilities and vehicles and equipment, which are expensed as incurred. The
Company also made the accounting policy election to not separate lease components from non-lease
components related to its fleet of vehicles.
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Insurance Liabilities

The Company is self-insured for certain losses related to medical claims. The Company has stop-loss
coverage to limit the exposure arising from medical claims. In addition, the Company has deductible-based
insurance policies for certain losses related to general liability, automobile and workers’ compensation. The
expected ultimate cost for claims incurred as of the balance sheet date is not discounted and is recognized
as a liability. Insurance losses for claims filed and claims incurred but not reported are accrued based upon
estimates of the aggregate liability for uninsured claims using historical loss development factors and actuarial
assumptions followed in the insurance industry.

The following table presents the Company’s aggregate liabilities for medical self-insurance, general
liability, automobile and workers’ compensation and the expected recoveries for medical self-insurance,
general liability, automobile and workers’ compensation. Liabilities for medical self-insurance are included
in other accrued expenses and current liabilities. Reserves for general liability, automobile and workers’
compensation are included in other accrued expenses and current liabilities and other liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Expected recoveries for insurance liabilities are included in prepaid expenses
and other current assets and other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

April 30,
2022 2021
(in thousands)
Medical Self-INSUTANCE . . . . . . . ottt e e e $ 3,371 $ 3,852
General liability, automobile and workers’ compensation . .. .................. 21,707 19,807
Expected recoveries for insurance liabilities . ............................. (4,973)  (3,209)

Restructuring

The Company recognizes a liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity when the
liability is incurred. After the appropriate level of management approves the detailed restructuring plan and
the appropriate criteria for recognition are met, the Company establishes accruals for employee termination
and other costs, as applicable. During the fourth quarter of 2020, the Company initiated a restructuring plan
to close one of its facilities. The Company recorded $2.2 million of restructuring costs, consisting of
$1.9 million for impairment of the operating lease right-of-use asset and $0.3 million for severance and
other employee costs. Restructuring costs are classified within selling, general and administrative expenses
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Debt Issuance Costs

The Company defers debt issuance costs and amortizes them over the term of the related debt. The
Company uses the straight-line method to amortize debt issuance costs for its revolving credit facilities and
uses the effective interest method to amortize debt issuance costs for its other debt facilities. Amortization
of debt issuance costs is recorded in interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss). The Company classifies debt issuance costs for its revolving credit facilities as
an asset in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and classifies debt issuance costs for its other debt facilities as
a reduction of the related debt in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Stock Appreciation Rights, Deferred Compensation and Liabilities to Noncontrolling Interest Holders

Certain subsidiaries have equity-based compensation agreements with the subsidiary’s employees and
minority stockholders. These agreements are stock appreciation rights, deferred compensation agreements
and liabilities to noncontrolling interest holders. Since these agreements are typically settled in cash or notes,
they are accounted for as liability awards and measured at fair value. See Note 13, “Stock Appreciation
Rights, Deferred Compensation and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests,” for additional information with
respect to these agreements.

Derivative Instruments

The Company has entered into derivative instruments to manage its exposure to certain financial risks.
The Company’s derivative financial instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets and measured at fair value. Derivative instruments that do not qualify as a hedge or are not
designated as a hedge are adjusted to estimated fair value in earnings. Derivative instruments that meet hedge
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criteria are designated as hedges. For derivative instruments designated as a cash flow hedge, the Company
recognizes the change in fair value, net of taxes, to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, and an amount is reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) into earnings to offset the earnings impact that is attributable to the risk being hedged. See
Note 14, “Fair Value Measurements,” for additional information with respect to the Company’s derivative
instruments.

Revenue Recognition

General. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised goods to customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods.
Revenue is recognized net of any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to
governmental authorities. The Company includes shipping and handling costs billed to customers in net
sales. These costs are recognized as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses. See Note
17, “Segments,” for information regarding disaggregation of revenue, including revenue by product and by
geographic area.

Performance Obligations. The Company satisfies its performance obligations at a point in time, which
is upon delivery of products. The Company’s payment terms vary by the type and location of its customers.
The amount of time between point of sale and when payment is due is not significant and the Company
has determined its contracts do not include a significant financing component.

The Company’s contracts with customers involve performance obligations that are one year or less.
Therefore, the Company applied the standard’s optional exemption that permits the omission of information
about its unfulfilled performance obligations as of the balance sheet dates.

Significant Judgments. The Company’s contracts may include terms that could cause variability in the
transaction price, including customer rebates, returns and cash discounts for prompt payment. Variable
consideration is estimated and included in the transaction price based on the expected value method. These
estimates are based on historical experience, anticipated performance and other factors known at the
time. The Company only includes estimated amounts in the transaction price to the extent it is probable
that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is resolved.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales reflects the direct cost of goods purchased from third parties, rebates earned from
vendors, adjustments for inventory reserves and the cost of inbound freight.

Vendor Rebates

Typical arrangements with vendors provide for the Company to receive a rebate of a specified amount
after it achieves any of a number of measures generally related to the volume of our purchases over a period
of time. The Company records these rebates to effectively reduce its cost of sales in the period in which the
Company sells the product. Throughout the year, the Company estimates the amount of rebates receivable for
the periodic programs based upon the expected level of purchases. The Company accrues for the receipt of
vendor rebates based on purchases and reduces inventory to reflect the deferral of cost of sales.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses include expenses related to the delivery and warehousing
of the Company’s products, as well as employee compensation and benefits expenses for employees in the
Company’s branches and yard support center, as well as other administrative expenses, such as legal,
accounting and information technology costs. Selling, general and administrative expenses included delivery
expenses of $275.0 million, $232.8 million and $243.0 million during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021
and 2020, respectively.

Advertising Expense

The cost of advertising is expensed as incurred and included in selling, general and administrative
expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). Advertising
expense was $4.2 million, $2.3 million and $3.3 million during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.
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Equity-Based Compensation

As of April 30, 2022, the Company had various stock-based compensation plans, which are more fully
described in Note 12, “Equity-Based Compensation.” The Company measures compensation cost for all share-
based awards at fair value on the grant date (or measurement date if different) and recognizes compensation
expense, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest. The
Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model and determines
the fair value of restricted stock units based on the quoted price of GMS’s common stock on the date of
grant. The Company estimates forfeitures based on historical analysis of actual forfeitures and employee
turnover. Actual forfeitures are recorded when incurred and estimated forfeitures are reviewed at least annually.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized based on the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Inherent in the measurement of deferred balances are certain
judgments and interpretations of existing tax law and published guidance as applicable to our operations.

The Company evaluates its deferred tax assets to determine if valuation allowances are required. In
assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider both positive and negative evidence in
determining whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. The primary negative evidence considered includes the cumulative operating losses generated in
prior periods. The primary positive evidence considered includes the reversal of deferred tax liabilities related
to depreciation and amortization that would occur within the same jurisdiction and during the carry-
forward period necessary to absorb the federal and state net operating losses and other deferred tax assets.
The reversal of such liabilities supports the realizability of the federal and state net operating losses and other
deferred tax assets.

The Company records amounts for uncertain tax positions that management believes are supportable
but are potentially subject to successful challenge by the applicable taxing authority. Consequently, changes
in our assumptions and judgments could materially affect amounts recognized related to income tax
uncertainties and may affect our results of operations or financial position. We believe our assumptions for
estimates are reasonable, although actual results may have a positive or negative material impact on the
balances of such tax positions. Historically, the variation of estimates to actual results is not significant and
material variation is not expected in the future.

Concentrations of Risk

COVID-19 Pandemic. The Company continues to monitor the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact
on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The Company will continue to
implement, as deemed necessary or advisable, procedures and processes to protect the health and safety of its
employees, customers, partners and suppliers. While the COVID-19 pandemic had a limited impact on the
Company’s financial results and operations during the year ended April 30, 2022, there is no guarantee that
the COVID-19 pandemic or its contributory effects will not have a material impact on future financial
results or operations.

Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations
of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and trade accounts and notes receivable. The
Company assesses the credit standing of counterparties as considered necessary. The Company routinely
assesses the financial strength of its customers and generally does not require collateral. Concentrations of
credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable are limited due to the substantial number of geographically
diverse customers comprising the Company’s customer base. Additionally, the Company maintains
allowances for expected credit losses. The Company does not enter into financial instruments for trading or
speculative purposes. As of April 30, 2022 and 2021, no customer accounted for more than 10% of gross
accounts receivable.

Supply Risk. The Company purchases most of its inventories from a select group of vendors. Without
these vendors, the Company’s ability to acquire inventory would be significantly impaired.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Authoritative guidance for
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fair value measurements establishes a three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation models
based upon the degree to which they are observable. The three levels of the fair value measurement hierarchy
are as follows:

Level 1 Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
reporting entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 Inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 Inputs are unobservable inputs for which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an
entity to develop its own assumptions.

The carrying values of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables
approximate their fair values because of their short-term nature. Based on borrowing rates available to the
Company for loans with similar terms, the carrying values of the Company’s variable rate debt instruments
approximate fair value. See Note 14, “Fair Value Measurements,” for additional information with respect
to the Company’s fair value measurements.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of outstanding shares of common stock for the period. Diluted earnings per share
reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock,
including stock options and restricted stock units (collectively “Common Stock Equivalents”), were exercised
or converted into common stock. The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and restricted stock units
is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock method. In applying the
treasury stock method for stock-based compensation arrangements, the assumed proceeds are computed as
the sum of the amount the employee must pay upon exercise and the amount of compensation cost
attributed to future services and not yet recognized. Diluted earnings per share is computed by increasing
the weighted-average number of outstanding shares of common stock computed in basic earnings per share
to include the dilutive effect of Common Stock Equivalents for the period. In periods of net loss, the
number of shares used to calculate diluted loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share.

The holders of the Company’s Exchangeable Shares (as defined in Note 11, “Stockholders’ Equity”)
were entitled to receive dividends or distributions that were equal to any dividends or distributions on the
Company’s common stock. As a result, when the Exchangeable Shares were outstanding during the year
ended April 30, 2020, they were classified as a participating security and thereby required the allocation of
income that would have otherwise been available to common stockholders when calculating earnings per
share. Diluted earnings per share for the year ended April 30, 2020 was calculated by utilizing the most dilutive
result of the if-converted and two-class methods. In both methods, net income attributable to common
stockholders and the weighted-average common shares outstanding are adjusted to account for the impact
of the assumed issuance of potential common shares that are dilutive, subject to dilution sequencing rules.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Reference Rate Reform — In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued
new guidance to temporarily ease the potential burden in accounting for reference rate reform. The guidance
provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships and
other transactions affected by reference rates that are expected to be discontinued, such as the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). The guidance was effective upon issuance and generally can be applied
through December 31, 2022. However, the new guidance is not applicable to contract modifications made,
and hedging relationships entered into or evaluated after, December 31, 2022. The Company will adopt this
guidance when its relevant contracts are modified to alternative reference rates. The Company does not
expect the adoption to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Business Combinations — In October 2021, the FASB issued new guidance which requires the
recognition and measurement of contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination
in accordance with Accounting Standards Code 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” This creates
an exception to the general recognition and measurement principles in existing business combination
guidance. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early
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adoption permitted. The amendments in this new guidance should be applied prospectively to business
combinations occurring on or after the effective date of the amendments. The Company does not expect the
adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

2. Business Combinations

The Company accounts for business combinations by recognizing the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the acquisition date fair value. In valuing certain acquired assets and liabilities, fair value estimates
use Level 3 inputs, including future expected cash flows and discount rates. Goodwill is measured as the
excess of consideration transferred over the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
While the Company uses its best estimates and assumptions to value assets acquired and liabilities assumed
at the acquisition date, the Company’s estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. As a
result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company
records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill.
Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments arising from new facts and
circumstances are recorded to the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
The results of operations of acquisitions are reflected in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
from the date of acquisition. The Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive
Income for the year ended April 30, 2022 included $237.9 million of net sales and $4.6 million of net income
from acquisitions made in fiscal 2022. The Company recorded transaction cost of $3.5 million, $1.1 million
and $2.4 million during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Fiscal 2022 Acquisitions

Westside Acquisition

On July 1, 2021, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of Westside Building Material
(“Westside”), one of the largest independent distributors of interior building products in the U.S., for
preliminary consideration of $140.1 million. Westside is a leading supplier of steel framing, wallboard,
ceilings, insulation and complementary building products serving commercial and residential markets.
Westside’s distribution network comprises ten locations, including nine across California (Anaheim, Hesperia,
Oakland, Chatsworth, Fresno, Lancaster, Santa Maria, San Diego and National City) and one in Las
Vegas, Nevada. The acquisition was funded with cash on hand and borrowings under the Company’s asset
based revolving credit facility. The primary purpose of the transaction was to expand the geographical
coverage of the Company and grow the business.

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recognized at their acquisition date fair values. The
acquisition accounting is subject to change as the Company obtains additional information during the
measurement period about the facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. The primary
area of the preliminary acquisition accounting that is not yet finalized relates to settlement of the holdback
liability.

The following table summarizes the components of the preliminary consideration:

(in thousands)

Cash consideration . . . . . .. ... $126,608
Holdback liability ... ... ... ... . . 13,500
Total preliminary consideration transferred . . ... ........ ... ... ........ $140,108

Included in the total preliminary consideration as of April 30, 2022 is a $13.5 million holdback liability
for general representations and warranties of the sellers that is scheduled to be settled 15 months after the
acquisition date.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary acquisition accounting for this acquisition, and
subsequent measurement period adjustments recorded, based on currently available information:

Initial Updated
Acquisition Acquisition
Accounting  Adjustments  Accounting

(in thousands)

Trade accounts and notes receivable . ................. $ 27,081 $(799) § 206,282
Inventories . . . ... ... 28,900 (145) 28,755
Prepaid and other currentassets . .. .................. 228 — 228
Property and equipment . ......................... 16,687 16,687
Operating lease right-of-use assets . .................. 20,782 20,782
Customer relationships .. ......................... 51,500 — 51,500
Tradenames . . ... ... ... .. 11,300 — 11,300
Goodwill . ... ... . .. 13,351 1,363 14,714
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . . . ... .......... (14,375) 54 (14,321)
Operating lease liabilities . ... ...................... (15,819) (15,819)
Fair value of consideration transferred . ............... $139,635 $ 473 $140,108

Goodwill recognized is attributable to synergies achieved through the streamlining of operations
combined with improved margins attainable through increased market presence and is attributable to the
Company’s geographic divisions reportable segment. Goodwill is expected to be deductible for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. The estimated useful life for the customer relationships is 12 years and the estimated
useful life for the tradenames is 15 years.

Trade accounts and notes receivable had an estimated fair value of $26.3 million and a gross contractual
value of $26.4 million. The difference represents the Company’s best estimate of the contractual cash flows
that will not be collected.

Ames Acquisition

On December 1, 2021, the Company acquired Ames Taping Tools Holding LLC (“Ames”) for
preliminary consideration of $226.7 million in cash. Ames is the leading provider of automatic taping and
finishing (“ATF”) tools and related products to the professional drywall finishing industry. Ames operates
nearly 100 retail locations servicing professionals in the interior finishing market. The acquisition was
primarily funded with borrowings under the Company’s asset based revolving credit facility. The primary
purpose of the transaction was to expand the Company’s complementary product offerings and grow the
business.

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recognized at their acquisition date fair values. The
acquisition accounting is subject to change as the Company obtains additional information during the
measurement period about the facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. The primary
areas of the preliminary acquisition accounting that are not yet finalized relate to the finalization of working
capital adjustments and residual goodwill.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary acquisition accounting for this acquisition, and
subsequent measurement period adjustments recorded, based on currently available information:

Initial Updated
Acquisition Acquisition
Accounting  Adjustments  Accounting

(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents . ........................ $ 10,692 $§ — § 10,692
Trade accounts and notes receivable . ................. 9,955 (54) 9,901
Inventories . . . ... ... . 15,464 870 16,334
Prepaid and other current assets . .. .................. 1,941 — 1,941
Property and equipment . ......................... 6,165 — 6,165
Operating lease right-of-useassets . .................. 8,238 (235) 8,003
Customer relationships .. ......................... 63,000 (3,000) 60,000
Tradenames .. ... ......... ...t 53,000 (4,000) 49,000
Patents . ... ... . ... 3,000 — 3,000
Goodwill . ... .. 104,557 3,383 107,940
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . . . .. ........... (14,827) 3,170 (11,657)
Deferred tax liability .. ........ ... ... ... ........... (28,440) 1,794 (26,646)
Operating lease liabilities . ... ...................... (8,238) 235 (8,003)
Fair value of consideration transferred . ............... $224,507  $ 2,163  $226,670

Goodwill recognized is attributable to expected synergies and the expected value in the potential to
expand and enhance the Company’s complementary product offerings and is attributable to the Company’s
other reportable segment. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
The estimated useful life for the customer relationships is 11 years and the estimated useful life for the patents
is 10 years. Tradenames valued at $26.0 million have an estimated useful life of 15 years and tradenames
valued at $23.0 million are expected to have an indefinite useful life.

Trade accounts and notes receivable had an estimated fair value of $9.9 million and a gross contractual
value of $11.6 million. The difference represents the Company’s best estimate of the contractual cash flows
that will not be collected.

Pro Forma Financial Information

The following table presents the unaudited pro forma consolidated net sales and net income for the
Company for the periods indicated:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021
(in thousands)
NetSales . . o v e e e $4,718,531  $3,579,882
NetinCome . . . ... .o 281,151 113,478

The above pro forma results have been calculated by combining the historical results of the Company,
Westside and Ames as if the acquisitions of Westside and Ames had occurred on May 1, 2020, the first day
of the comparable prior reporting period. The pro forma results include estimates for intangible asset
amortization, depreciation, interest expense and income taxes, and are subject to change once final asset
values have been determined. The pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of the results that would
have been achieved had the transactions occurred on the first day of each of the periods presented or that
may be achieved in the future.

Other Acquisitions

On June 3, 2021, the Company acquired the assets of Architectural Coatings Distributors, Inc.
(“Architectural Coating”). Architectural Coating is an interior building products distributor in Cleveland,
Ohio. On August 2, 2021, the Company acquired certain assets of DK&B Construction Specialties, Inc.
(“DK&B”). DK&B is a distributor of External Insulation and Finishing Systems (“EIFS”) and stucco
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products through one location in Omaha, Nebraska. On December 1, 2021, the Company acquired the
assets of Kimco Supply Company (“Kimco”). Kimco sells building and construction supplies through two
locations in the Tampa, Florida area. The impact of these acquisitions is not material to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fiscal 2021 Acquisition

On February 1, 2021, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of D.L. Building Materials
Inc. (“D.L. Building Materials”) for consideration of approximately $38.9 million ($49.9 million Canadian
dollars). D.L. Building Materials distributes wallboard, acoustical ceilings, steel framing, insulation and related
building products in the Eastern Ontario and Western Quebec markets through two locations in Gatineau,
Quebec and Kingston, Ontario.

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recognized at their acquisition date fair values. The
following table summarizes the acquisition accounting:
Preliminary Final
Acquisition Acquisition
Accounting  Adjustments  Accounting

(in thousands)

Cash . ... $ 4,179 § — $ 4,179
Trade accounts and notes receivable . ................. 8,325 (24) 8,301
Inventories ... ...... .. .. .. ... 5,075 (8) 5,067
Prepaid and other currentassets . . . .................. 675 — 675
Property and equipment . ......................... 2,721 — 2,721
Operating lease right-of-use assets . .................. 1,103 — 1,103
Customer relationships . . ......................... 20,926 (476) 20,450
Tradenames . . ... ... . ... . 2,498 — 2,498
Goodwill ... ... . 9,084 — 9,084
Liabilitiesassumed . .. ........................... (12,282) (45) (12,327)
Deferred income taxes . ................. ... (2,830) — (2,830)
Fair value of consideration transferred . ............... $ 39,474 $(553)  $ 38,921

Goodwill recognized is attributable to synergies achieved through the streamlining of operations
combined with improved margins attainable through increased market presence and is all attributable to the
Company’s geographic divisions reportable segment. Goodwill is not deductible for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. The pro forma impact of this acquisition is not presented as it is not considered material to
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fiscal 2020 Acquisitions

In fiscal 2020, the Company completed the following acquisitions, with an aggregate purchase price of
$24.9 million of cash consideration. The purpose of these acquisitions was to expand the geographical
coverage of the Company and grow the business.

Company Name Form of Acquisition Date of Acquisition

J.P. Hart Lumber Company Purchase of net assets June 3, 2019

Rigney Building Supplies Ltd. Purchase of 100% of outstanding November 1, 2019
common stock

Trowel Trades Supply, Inc. Purchase of net assets February 1, 2020
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3. Accounts Receivable

The Company’s trade accounts and notes receivable consisted of the following:

April 30,
2022 2021
(in thousands)
Trade receivables .. ... ... ... ... .. $675,724  $488,002
Otherreceivables . . ... ... ... ... e 83,668 76,941
Allowance for expected creditlosses ... ........................ (5,087) (3,254)
Other allowances . .......... ... . .. .. .. .. (4,259) (3,028)
Trade accounts and notesreceivable .. ... ....... .. ... .. ... ..... $750,046  $558,661

The following table presents the change in the allowance for expected credit losses during the year
ended April 30, 2022:

(in thousands)

Balance as of April 30, 2021 . .. ... ... $3.254
Provision . . . . ... . e 1,588
Other . ... 245
Balance as of April 30, 2022 . . ... ... $5,087

Receivables from contracts with customers, net of allowances, were $666.4 million and $481.7 million
as of April 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company did not have material amounts of contract assets
or liabilities as of April 30, 2022 or 2021.

4. Property and Equipment

The Company’s property and equipment consisted of the following:

April 30,
2022 2021
(in thousands)
Land . . . ... $ 62,185 § 56,841
Buildings and leasehold improvements .. ....................... 130,824 120,616
Machinery and equipment . . . ... ... ... . 381,090 324,375
Construction N PrOZIESS . . . v v v v v v e e e e e e e e e e 3,868 2,858
Total property and equipment . . ........... ... ...t 577,967 504,690
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization . . .. .............. 227,288 193,364
Total property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation . . . ... .. $350,679  $311,326

Depreciation expense for property and equipment, which includes amortization of property under
finance leases, was $55.4 million, $50.5 million and $51.3 million during the years ended April 30, 2022,
2021 and 2020, respectively.
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5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The following table presents changes in the carrying amount of goodwill:

Gross Accumulated Net
Carrying Amount  Impairment Loss  Carrying Amount

(in thousands)

Balance as of April 30,2021 . ............. $645,377 $(69,047) $576,330
Goodwill recognized from acquisitions . . . . . 125,842 — 125,842
Acquisition accounting adjustments . ... ... (476) — (476)
Translation adjustment .. .............. (8,319) 2,520 (5,799)

Balance as of April 30,2022 .............. $762.,424 $(66,527) $695,897

Goodwill recognized from acquisitions includes $107.9 million assigned to the Company’s other
segment. All other goodwill relates to the Company’s geographic divisions reportable segment.

In connection with the Company’s annual goodwill impairment test during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2022, the Company performed a qualitative assessment of the carrying value of its goodwill. This assessment
took into consideration changes in the broader economy, the Company’s industry and the Company’s
business since the last quantitative impairment test. Based on the Company’s assessment, the Company
concluded there was no impairment of goodwill. The Company identified nine reporting units for evaluating
goodwill for the fiscal 2022 annual impairment test, which were Central, Midwest, Northeast, Southern,
Southeast, Southwest, Western, Canada and Ames. Each of these reporting units constitutes a business for
which discrete financial information is available and segment management regularly reviews the operating
results. The Company evaluates its reporting units on an annual basis.

When the Company performs a quantitative test, the Company estimates the fair values of its
reporting units based on weighting of the income and market approaches. These models use significant
unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs, as defined by the fair value hierarchy. Under the income approach,
the Company calculates the fair value of the reporting unit based on the present value of estimated cash flows
using a discounted cash flow method. The significant assumptions used in the discounted cash flow
method include internal forecasts and projections developed by management for planning purposes, available
industry/market data, discount rates and the growth rate to calculate the terminal value. Under the market
approach, the fair value is estimated using the guideline company method. The Company selects guideline
companies in the industry in which each reporting unit operates. The Company primarily uses revenue
and EBITDA multiples based on the multiples of the selected guideline companies.

The Company recognized a $63.1 million non-cash impairment charge to write off goodwill related to
its Canada reporting unit in conjunction with its annual goodwill impairment test performed in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2020. This charge was included in impairment of goodwill in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the year ended April 30, 2020. The Company’s annual
impairment test during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020 indicated the estimated fair values of its other
reporting units exceeded their carrying values. The primary factors contributing to the impairment was an
increase in the discount rate and a decrease in market multiples, combined with a decrease in the reporting
unit’s forecasted near-term cash flows, primarily resulting from COVID-19 driven economic uncertainty.
The impairment charge was equal to the excess of the reporting unit’s carrying value over its fair value. The
Company’s annual impairment tests during the fourth quarters of fiscal 2022 and 2021 indicated that the
fair value of the Company’s reporting units exceeded their carrying values. As of April 30, 2022, the Company
had $138.3 million of remaining goodwill related to its Canada reporting unit.
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Intangible Assets

The following tables present the components of the Company’s definite-lived intangible assets:

Estimated Weighted April 30, 2022

Useful Average Gross Net
Lives Amortization Carrying Accumulated Carrying
(years) Period Amount Amortization Value
(dollars in thousands)
Customer relationships . ............... 5-16 12.5 $669,018  $(381,650) $287,368
Definite-lived tradenames . ............. 5-20 15.6 97,453 (19,496) 77,957
Vendor agreements . .................. 8-10 10.0 1,000 (475) 525
Developed technology . ................ 5-10 6.8 8,471 (4,462) 4,009
Other.......... .. .. .. ... .. .. ...... 3-5 3.6 1,761 (1,240) 521
Definite-lived intangible assets . .......... $777,703  $(407,323) $370,380
Indefinite-lived intangible assets . ......... 84,367
Total intangible assets,net . . .. ......... $454,747

Estimated Weighted April 30, 2021

Useful Average Gross Net
Lives Amortization Carrying Accumulated Carrying
(years) Period Amount Amortization Value
(dollars in thousands)
Customer relationships . ............... 5-16 13.3 $569,255  $(330,880) $238,375
Definite-lived tradenames . ............. 5-20 16.8 62,084 (14,842) 47,242
Vendor agreements . .................. 8-10 8.3 6,644 (5,372) 1,272
Developed technology .. ............... 5 4.9 5,699 (3,381) 2,318
Other.......... ... . .. ... . ... .. 3-5 33 4,291 (3,996) 295
Definite-lived intangible assets . .......... $647,973  $(358,471) $289,502
Indefinite-lived intangible assets . ......... 61,367
Total intangible assets,net . . .. ......... $350,869

The Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets, other than goodwill, consist of tradenames that had a
carrying amount of $84.4 million and $61.4 million as of April 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. In connection
with the Company’s annual impairment test during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022, the Company
performed a qualitative assessment of the carrying value of its indefinite-lived intangible assets similar to
the goodwill assessment described above. Based on the Company’s assessment, the Company concluded there
was no impairment of its indefinite-lived intangible assets.

Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives. The Company amortizes
its customer relationships using an accelerated method to match the estimated cash flow generated by such
assets and amortizes its other definite-lived intangibles using the straight-line method because a pattern to
which the expected benefits will be consumed or otherwise used up could not be reliably determined.
Amortization expense related to definite-lived intangible assets was $63.8 million, $57.6 million and
$65.2 million during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and is recorded in
depreciation and amortization expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Income (Loss).
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The following table summarizes the estimated future amortization expense for definite-lived intangible
assets. Actual amortization expense to be reported in future periods could differ materially from these
estimates as a result of acquisitions, changes in useful lives, foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and
other relevant factors.

(in thousands)

Year Ending April 30,
2023 e $ 66,574
2024 55,679
202 46,644
2026 . . 39,412
2027 34,300
Thereafter . . . . . . . e 127,771
Total . .. $370,380

6. Other Accrued Expenses and Current Liabilities

The Company’s other accrued expenses and current liabilities consisted of the following:

April 30,
2022 2021
(in thousands)
Insurance related liabilities . . ... ... ... ... .. ... $ 14,775 $14,301
Customer rebates payable ... ............ ... .. .. ... ... ... ... 16,724 12,723
Sales taxes payable . .. ... ... ... ... ... 16,702 11,529
Income taxes payable . .......... ... . ... ... ... 7,125 5,928
Holdback Liability™ . . ... ... . . . . .. 14,179 —
Reserve forsalesreturns . ... ... ... ... e 9,772 6,028
Accrued interest™® . . L 8,953 881
Derivative liability® . . ... ... .. 1,136 11,817
Other . . ... . 38,572 23,931
Total other accrued expenses and current liabilities . .. ............. $127,938 $87,138

(a) The holdback liability as of April 30, 2022 primarily consists of a holdback liability for general
representation and warranties of the sellers for the Westside acquisition that is scheduled to be released
15 months from the acquisition date. See Note 2, “Business Combinations,” for more information.

(b) Accrued interest as of April 30, 2022 primarily consists of accrued interest on the Company’s senior
unsecured notes issued in April 2021, in which interest is paid semi-annually in arrears on May | and
November 1. See Note 7, “Long-Term Debt,” for more information.

(c) Derivative liability represents the current portion of the fair value of the Company’s interest rate swap
agreements. The amount decreased due to an increase in interest rates and due to the agreements
approaching the February 2023 termination date. See Note 14, “Fair Value Measurements,” for more
information.
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7. Long-Term Debt
The Company’s long-term debt consisted of the following:

April 30,
2022 2021
(in thousands)

Term Loan Facility . ........ ... ... . .. . . . . . . . .. . ..., $ 504,613 $509,722
Unamortized discount and deferred financing costs on Term Loan

Facility ... ... (3,581) (4,735)
ABL Facility . ... ... 211,134 —
Senior NOES . . . . i o 350,000 350,000
Unamortized discount and deferred financing costs on Senior Notes . . . (4,836) (5,485)
Finance lease obligations ... ................. ... .......... 120,138 117,948
Installment notes at fixed rates up to 5.0%, due in monthly and annual

installments through 2025 .. ...... ... ... .. ... ... . ........ 7,086 11,716
Unamortized discount on installmentnotes . . ... ................ (364) (739)

Carrying valueof debt .. ...... ... .. ... .. ... ... . ... .. ... 1,184,190 978,427
Lesscurrent portion . . . ....... ...t 47,605 46,018

Long-termdebt . ........ ... . . . . . ... $1,136,585 $932,409

Term Loan Facility

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, GYP Holdings II Corp., as parent guarantor (in such
capacity, “Holdings”), and GYP Holdings III Corp., as borrower (in such capacity, the “Borrower” and,
together with Holdings and the Subsidiary Guarantors (as defined below), the “Loan Parties”), have a senior
secured first lien term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”). The Term Loan Facility permits the
Borrower to add one or more incremental term loans up to a fixed amount of $100.0 million plus a certain
amount depending on a secured first lien leverage ratio test included in the Term Loan Facility. The Company
is required to make scheduled quarterly payments of $1.3 million, or 0.25% of the aggregate principal
amount of the Term Loan Facility, with the balance due June 1, 2025. Provided that the individual affected
lenders agree accordingly, the maturities of the Term Loan Facility may, upon the Borrower’s request and
without the consent of any other lender, be extended. GYP Holdings I Corp., the sole entity between
borrower and financial reporting entity, is a holding company with no other operations, assets, liabilities or
cash flows other than through its ownership of the Borrower and its operating subsidiaries. As of April 30,
2022, the applicable rate of interest was 3.26%.

On September 30, 2019, the Company made a $50.0 million prepayment of outstanding principal
amount of its Term Loan Facility. On March 6, 2020, the Company made an additional $50.0 million
prepayment of outstanding principal amount of its Term Loan Facility. The Company recorded total
write-offs of debt discount and deferred financing fees of $1.3 million, which is included in write-off of
discount and deferred financing fees in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive
Income (Loss) for the year ended April 30, 2020.

On April 22, 2021, the Company entered into the Fourth Amendment to its First Lien Credit Agreement
(the “Fourth Amendment”) that, among other things, reduced the applicable interest rate to LIBOR plus
2.50%, with a 0% floor. The Company used net proceeds from the issuance of senior unsecured notes due
May 2029 (the “Senior Notes”) on April 22, 2021 to repay a portion of outstanding borrowings under the
Company’s Term Loan Facility. The Company recorded a write-off of debt discount and deferred financing
fees of $4.6 million, which is included in write-oft of debt discount and deferred financing fees in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income for the year ended April 30, 2021.

Asset Based Lending Facility

The Company has an asset based lending facility (“ABL Facility”) that provides for aggregate revolving
commitments of $545.0 million. GYP Holdings III Corp. is the lead borrower (in such capacity, the “Lead
Borrower”). Extensions of credit under the ABL Facility are limited by a borrowing base calculated
periodically based on specified percentages of the value of eligible inventory and eligible accounts receivable,
subject to certain reserves and other adjustments.
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On November 30, 2021, the Company amended its ABL Facility to, among other things, increase the
commitments thereunder by $100.0 million from $445.0 million to $545.0 million and change the interest
rate provisions from LIBOR to Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”).

At the Company’s option, the interest rates applicable to the loans under the ABL Facility are based at
SOFR or base rate plus, in each case, an applicable margin. The margins applicable for each elected interest
rate are subject to a pricing grid, as defined in the ABL Facility agreement, based on average daily
availability for the most recent fiscal quarter. The ABL Facility also contains an unused commitment fee
subject to utilization, as included in the ABL Facility agreement. As of April 30, 2022, the applicable base
rate of interest was 3.50%.

As of April 30, 2022, the Company had available borrowing capacity of $307.4 million under the ABL
Facility. The ABL Facility matures on September 30, 2024 unless the individual affected lenders agree to
extend the maturity of their respective loans under the ABL Facility upon the Company’s request and without
the consent of any other lender. The ABL Facility contains a cross default provision with the Term Loan
Facility.

Terms of the ABL Facility and Term Loan Facilities

Collateral

The ABL Facility is collateralized by (a) first priority perfected liens on the following assets of the
Loan Parties: (i) accounts receivable; (ii) inventory; (iii) deposit accounts; (iv) cash and cash equivalents;
(v) tax refunds and tax payments; (vi) chattel paper; and (vii) documents, instruments, general intangibles,
securities accounts, books and records, proceeds and supporting obligations related to each of the foregoing,
subject to certain exceptions (collectively, “ABL Priority Collateral”) and (b) second priority perfected
liens on the remaining assets of the Loan Parties not constituting ABL Priority Collateral, subject to
customary exceptions (collectively, “Term Priority Collateral”) and excluding real property.

The Term Loan Facility is collateralized by (a) first priority liens on the Term Priority Collateral and
(b) second priority liens on the ABL Priority Collateral, subject to customary exceptions.
Prepayments

The Term Loan Facility may be prepaid at any time. Under certain circumstances and subject to
certain exceptions, the Term Loan Facility will be subject to mandatory prepayments in an amount equal
to:

* 100% of the net proceeds of certain asset sales and issuances or incurrences of nonpermitted
indebtedness; and

* 50% of annual excess cash flow for any fiscal year, such percentage to decrease to 25% or 0%
depending on the attainment of certain total leverage ratio targets.

As of April 30, 2022, there was no prepayment required related to excess cash flow.

The ABL Facility may be prepaid at the Company’s option at any time without premium or penalty
and will be subject to mandatory prepayment if the outstanding ABL Facility exceeds the lesser of the
(1) borrowing base and (ii) the aggregate amount of commitments. Mandatory prepayments do not result in
a permanent reduction of the lenders’ commitments under the ABL Facility.

Guarantees

Holdings guarantees the payment obligations under the ABL Facility and the Term Loan Facility.
Certain of Holdings’ subsidiaries (i) guarantee the payment obligations under the Term Loan Facility (in
such capacity, the “Subsidiary Guarantors™) and (ii) are co-borrowers under the ABL Facility.

Covenants

The ABL Facility contains certain affirmative covenants, including financial and other reporting
requirements. The Company was in compliance with all such covenants as of April 30, 2022.
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The Term Loan Facility contains a number of covenants that limit the Company’s ability and the
ability of the Company’s restricted subsidiaries, as described in the respective credit agreement, to: incur
more indebtedness; pay dividends, redeem or repurchase stock or make other distributions; make investments;
create restrictions on the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends to us or make other
intercompany transfers; create liens securing indebtedness; transfer or sell assets; merge or consolidate;
enter into certain transactions with our affiliates; and prepay or amend the terms of certain indebtedness.
The Company was in compliance with all covenants as of April 30, 2022.

Events of Default

The ABL Facility and Term Loan Facility also provide for customary events of default, including non-
payment of principal, interest or fees, violation of covenants, material inaccuracy of representations or
warranties, specified cross default to other material indebtedness, certain bankruptcy events, certain ERISA
events, material invalidity of guarantees or security interest, material judgments and changes of control.

Senior Notes

On April 22, 2021, the Company issued $350.0 million of Senior Notes in a private offering. Proceeds
from the Senior Notes were used to repay a portion of outstanding borrowings under the Company’s Term
Loan Facility and to pay related transaction fees and expenses. The Senior Notes bear interest at 4.625% per
annum and mature on May 1, 2029. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on May 1 and November 1.

The Senior Notes are general senior unsecured obligations, rank equally in right of payment with all
existing and future senior indebtedness of the Company, including the Term Loan Facility and ABL Facility,
and are senior in right of payment to any existing and future subordinated indebtedness of the Company.
The Senior Notes and the related guarantees are effectively subordinated to all existing and future secured
indebtedness of the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries guaranteeing the notes, including indebtedness
under the Term Loan Facility and the ABL Facility, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such
indebtedness. The Senior Notes and the related guarantees are structurally subordinated to all of the existing
and future indebtedness and other liabilities of the Company’s subsidiaries that do not guarantee the
Senior Notes, including the senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility of Titan (the “Canadian
Facility”).

The Company may redeem some or all of the Senior Notes at any time on or after May 1, 2024, at the
redemption prices set forth in the indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest up to, but not including, the
redemption date. Prior to May 1, 2024, the Company may redeem some or all of the Senior Notes at a price
equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, plus the
“make-whole” premium set forth in the indenture. The Company may redeem up to 40% of the Senior
Notes at any time prior to May 1, 2024, with the proceeds of certain equity offerings at the redemption prices
set forth in the Indenture. If the Company sells certain assets or consummates certain change in control
transactions, the Company will be required to make an offer to repurchase the Senior Notes.

The indenture contains certain covenants that, among other things, limit the Company’s ability and the
ability of its restricted subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness, make certain dividends, repurchase
Company stock or make other distributions, make certain investments, create liens, transfer or sell assets,
merge or consolidate, and enter into transactions with the Company’s affiliates. Such covenants are subject to
important exceptions and qualifications set forth in the Indenture. The indenture also contains certain
customary events of default, including failure to make payments in respect of the principal amount of the
Senior Notes, failure to make payments of interest on the Senior Notes when due and payable, failure to
comply with certain covenants and agreements and certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency.

Canadian Revolving Credit Facility

The Company has a Canadian Facility that provides for aggregate revolving commitments of
$23.3 million ($30.0 million Canadian dollars), as amended. The Canadian Facility bears interest at the
Canadian prime rate plus a marginal rate based on the level determined by the total debt to EBITDA ratio
of the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries at the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter or year.
During the year ended April 30, 2021, the Company amended the Canadian Facility to, among other
things, extend the maturity date and remove the highest pricing level applicable to borrowings under the
Canadian Facility. As of April 30, 2022, the Company had available borrowing capacity of $23.3 million
under the Canadian Facility. The Canadian Facility matures on January 12, 2026.
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Installment Notes

The Company’s installment notes include notes for subsidiary stock repurchases from stockholders,
notes for the payout of stock appreciation rights and a note to the seller of an acquired company. See
Note 13, “Stock Appreciation Rights, Deferred Compensation and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests.”

Debt Maturities
As of April 30, 2022, the maturities of existing long-term debt and finance leases were as follows:
Term Loan ABL Senior Finance Installment
Facility Facility Notes Leases Notes Total
(in thousands)
Year ending April 30,
2023 $ 5110 § — 3 —  $ 38,208 $4,505 § 47,823
2024 .. 5,110 — — 31,606 1,881 38,597
2025 5,110 211,134 — 21,940 700 238,884
2026 ... 489,283 — — 14,899 — 504,182
2027 — — — 8,936 — 8,936
Thereafter ................. — — 350,000 4,549 — 354,549
$504,613  $211,134 $350,000 $120,138  $7,086  $1,192,971
8. Leases
The components of lease expense were as follows:
Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020
(in thousands)
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right-of-use assets . ................... $22,295 $23.769 $24,352
Interest on lease liabilities . . . . ......... .. ... .. ... . ... 8,179 11,164 13,316
Operating lease cost . . . ...t 47,778 42,383 42,846
Variable lease cost . . . .. .. ... .. ... 17,825 12,914 12,555
Total lease COSt . .. ... oo $96,077 $90,230 $93,069

Operating lease cost, including variable lease cost, is included in selling, general and administrative
expenses; amortization of finance ROU assets is included in depreciation and amortization; and interest on
finance lease liabilities is included in interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and

Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:

Year Ended April 30,

2022

2021

2020

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities

Operating cash flows from operatingleases . .................... $48,283

Operating cash flows from finance leases . . ..................... 8,179

Financing cash flows from finance leases . . ..................... 31,365
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations

Operating leases'™ . . .. ... ... ... 71,252

Financeleases . ... ... ... .. . 41,699

(in thousands)

$42,876
11,164
30,371

37,513
27,400

(a) Includes operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in acquisitions. See Note 2, “Business

Combinations” for more information on business combinations.
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Other information related to leases was as follows:

April 30,
2022 2021
(in thousands)

Finance leases included in property and equipment

Property and equipment . . .. ........... .. .. .. ... $193.380 $176,591

Accumulated depreciation . ... ........ ... ... (57,363) (51,869)

Property and equipment, net . .............. .. ... ... ..., $136,017 $124,722
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)

Operating 1eases . . .. ... u i 4.6 4.7

Financeleases . . . . .. ... 3.7 3.5
Weighted-average discount rate

Operating leases . .. ........ ... 4.7% 5.5%

Financeleases . . . . .. ..ot 4.2% 4.6%

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases as of April 30, 2022 were as follows:

Finance Operating
(in thousands)

Year Ending April 30,
2023 e $ 43,734 $ 44,730
2024 34,501 42,299
202 e 23,492 31,526
2026 . e 15,718 20,125
202 e 9,308 10,836
Thereafter . . . .. . ... e 4,688 18,924
Total lease payments . .. ......... ...t 131,441 168,440
Less imputed interest . ... ...... ...t 11,303 17,864
Total . ... $120,138  $150,576

9. Retirement Plan

The Company maintains a 401(k) defined contribution retirement plan for its employees. Participants
are allowed to choose from a selection of mutual funds to designate how both employer and employee
contributions are invested. Under the plan, the Company matches 50% of each employee’s contributions on
the first 4% of the employee’s compensation contributed. The Company contributed $6.8 million,
$3.2 million and $5.3 million, during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. In June 2020,
the Company suspended matching contributions under the plan. In January 2021, the Company reinstated
its matching contributions.

10. Income Taxes

The following table presents the components of income before taxes for the years ended April 30, 2022,
2021 and 2020:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020
(in thousands)
United States . . . . ... ... . e $320,353 $106,059 $106,850
Foreign . . ... ... . . .. . e 44,466 31,035 (60,525)
Income before taxes . . ... ... ... $364,819 $137,094 § 46,325
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The following table presents the components of income tax expense for the years ended April 30, 2022,
2021 and 2020:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020
(in thousands)
Current
Federal . .... ... ... . . . . . . . . $60,406 $ 27,171 $12,537
Foreign . ... ... . ... . 11,995 9,098 1,624
State . ... 19,327 5,594 7,857
Total Current . ..... ... ... .. 91,728 41,863 22,018
Deferred
Federal .. ... .. ... . . .. . . . 4,657 (4,653) 8,986
Foreign .. ... ... . .. . .. (4,216) (5,870)  (7,347)
State . .. .. (792) 194 (713)
Total Deferred . ........... .. ... ... . ... .. ... ... (351) (10,329) 926
Total provision for income taxes . ...................... $91,377 $ 31,534 $22.944

The following table summarizes the significant differences between the U.S. federal statutory tax rate
and the Company’s effective tax rate for financial statement for the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and
2020:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020
(in thousands)
Federal income taxes at statutoryrate . ................... $76,613 $28,793 $ 9,747
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit .. ... ... .. 14,730 4,000 4,054
Impact of foreign rate differences . ...................... (2,827)  (1,055) (2,861)
Impact of rate difference on impairment of goodwill . . ... ... .. — — 7,630
Net change in valuation allowance . ..................... 350 578 9,070
Equity-based compensation . .. ........................ (1,659) (1,012)  (1,196)
GILTI . .. 1,076 1,911 704
Financing structure . . .. ......... ... — (2,315)  (5,361)
Other . ... ... .. e 3,094 634 1,157
Total provision for incometaxes . ....................... $91,377 $31,534 $22,944
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The tax effects of temporary differences, which give rise to deferred income taxes as of April 30, 2022
and 2021 are as follows:
April 30,
2022 2021
(in thousands)

Deferred income tax assets:

Allowances on accounts and notes receivable . ... ............... $ 4314 $ 2617
Accrued payroll and related costs . ... ....... .. .. ... ... ... 3,758 5,093
INSUranCe reServes . . . . . . . oo it 4,079 4,086
Inventory costs . . .. ... 4,606 3,252
Deferred compensation .. ....... ... ... ... ... 9,038 7,892
Equity compensation . ............... ..t 3,253 2,612
Derivative inStrument . .. ... . ... .. .. 281 5,083
Acquisition related costs . . ... ... 1,356 1,202
Net operating loss carry-forwards . . .. ....................... 1,815 1,591
Disallowed interest eXpense . . . .. ... ...ovve et 1,330 974
Investment in partnerships . . . . ......... ... ... .. .. .. .. ... 26,700 24,316
Operating lease liability . .. .......... ... .. ... ... ... ........ 37,746 30,322
Other deferred tax assets, net . . ............. .. ... .. 2,359 1,147
Total deferred income tax assets . . . . . ... oot i ittt 100,635 90,187
Less: Valuation allowance . ............. ... ... 0. . (11,719)  (11,768)
Total deferred income tax assets, net of valuation allowance .......... 88,916 78,419
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Amortization of intangibleassets . ... ....................... (43,314)  (19,488)
Operating lease right-of-use assets . ......................... (37,043)  (29,493)
Depreciation ... ...... ... (37,027)  (25,668)
Other deferred tax liabilities, net . . .. ........................ (451) (783)
Total deferred income tax liabilities . .......................... (117,835) (75,432)
Deferred income tax (liabilities) assets, net . ..................... $ (28,919) § 2,987

GILTI. The Company is subject to current tax on global intangible low-taxed income (“GILTI”)
earned by certain foreign subsidiaries. The FASB Staff Q&A, Topic 740 No. 5, Accounting for Global
Intangible Low-Taxed Income, states that an entity can make an accounting policy election to either recognize
deferred taxes for temporary differences expected to reverse as GILTT in future years or provide for the tax
expense related to GILTI in the year the tax is incurred. The Company has elected to recognize the tax on
GILTI as a period expense in the period the tax is incurred.

As of April 30, 2022, the Company’s assertion has not changed from the year ended April 30, 2021 that
it does not intend to permanently reinvest its accumulated earnings in its non-U.S. subsidiaries and will
continue to periodically distribute the earnings on an as needed basis. The Company does not anticipate
significant tax consequences from any future distributions.

NOLs. During recent tax years, the Company generated certain state net operating loss carry-
forwards which are available for use against taxable income in each respective state. The Company had gross
state net operating losses available for carry-forward of $28.1 million and $29.7 million as of April 30,

2022 and 2021, respectively, which expire beginning in 2024.

Valuation allowance. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed by applying the federal and state
income tax rates in effect to the gross amounts of temporary differences and other tax attributes, such as
net operating loss carry-forwards. As of each reporting date, the Company considers new evidence, both
positive and negative, that could affect the future realization of deferred tax assets. Valuation allowances are
established if management believes that it is more likely than not the related tax benefits will not be
realized. The valuation allowance as of April 30, 2022 and 2021 primarily relates to a portion of the Titan
outside basis difference that was created as a result of the impairment of goodwill recognized during the year
ended April 30, 2020 and state tax attribute carry forwards. The net operating loss carryforwards expire
from 2024 to 2042.
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Uncertain tax positions. The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those
positions are more likely than not to be sustained. The Company’s policy for recording penalties and
interest associated with uncertain tax positions is to record such items as a component of selling, general
and administrative expense. The Company had no reserve for uncertain tax positions as of April 30, 2022 and
2021.

As of April 30, 2022, the tax years ended April 30, 2019 through 2022 remain subject to examination
by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. As of April 30, 2022, the tax years ended April 30, 2021 and 2022
remain subject to examination by the Barbados Revenue Authority and the tax years ended April 30, 2018
through 2022 remain subject to examination by the Canada Revenue Agency. In states in which the Company
conducts business, the statute of limitation periods for examination generally vary from three to four years.
Net operating losses dating back to 2008 are still being carried forward and remain subject to examination by
the taxing authorities. The Company regularly assesses the potential outcomes of future examinations to
ensure the Company’s provision for income taxes is sufficient. The Company recognizes liabilities based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due and believes that no liability for uncertain tax position is
necessary as of April 30, 2022 and 2021.

11. Stockholders’ Equity

Exchangeable Shares

In connection with the acquisition of WSB Titan on June 1, 2018, the Company issued 1.1 million
shares of equity that were exchangeable for the Company’s common stock (“Exchangeable Shares”). The
Exchangeable Shares contained rights that allowed the holders to exchange their Exchangeable Shares for
GMS common stock at any time on a one-for-one basis. On June 13, 2019, the holders of the Exchangeable
Shares exchanged all the Exchangeable Shares for 1.1 million shares of the Company’s common stock.
Following such exchange, the Exchangeable Shares ceased to be outstanding.

Share Repurchase Program

On November 30, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase
program to repurchase up to $75.0 million of outstanding common stock. The Company repurchased
715 thousand and 134 thousand shares of its common stock for $35.5 million and $4.2 million during
the years ended April 30, 2022 and April 30, 2021, respectively, pursuant to its share repurchase program.
The Company did not repurchase any shares of its common stock during the year ended April 30, 2020. The
repurchased common stock was retired. As of April 30, 2022, the Company had $18.8 million of remaining
repurchase authorization under this share repurchase program.

On June 23, 2022, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an expanded share repurchase program
under which the Company is authorized to repurchase up to $200.0 million of its outstanding common stock.
This expanded program replaces the Company’s previous share repurchase authorization of $75.0 million.
The Company may conduct repurchases under the share repurchase program through open market
transactions, under trading plans in accordance with SEC Rule 10b5-1 and/or in privately negotiated
transactions, in each case in compliance with Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
The timing and amount of any purchases of the Company’s common stock are subject to a variety of factors,
including, but not limited to, the Company’s liquidity, credit availability, general business and market
conditions, debt covenants and the availability of alternative investment opportunities. The share repurchase
program does not obligate the Company to acquire any particular amount of common stock, and it may
be suspended or terminated at any time at the Company’s discretion.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table sets forth the changes to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of
tax, by component for the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020:

Accumulated
Foreign Derivative Other
Currency Financial Comprehensive

Translation Instruments  Income (Loss)
(in thousands)

Balance as of April 30,2019 .. ... ... .. . . .. .. ... $(22,320) $ (4,254)  $(26,574)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassification . ............ (18,257)  (22,263) (40,520)
Reclassification to earnings from accumulated other

comprehensive income (10ss) . . .......... ... ... ..... — 2,012 2,012

Balance as of April 30,2020 . . ......... ... .. ... (40,577)  (24,505) (65,082)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassification ... ... 61,341 (311) 61,030

Reclassification to earnings from accumulated other

comprehensive income (1oss) . . .......... ... ... ..... — 8,811 8,811
Balance as of April 30,2021 ... ... ... . ... .. ... ... 20,764 (16,005) 4,759
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassification . ... .. (25,805) 6,127 (19,678)
Reclassification to earnings from accumulated other
comprehensive income (Ioss) . . ....................... — 8,876 8,876
Balance as of April 30,2022 . . ... ... ... ... ... $ (5,041) $ (1,002) $ (6,043)

Other comprehensive loss on derivative instruments for the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020
is net of tax of $2.0 million, $0.1 million and $6.4 million, respectively. Reclassification to earnings from
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020 is net of
tax of $2.9 million, $2.8 million and $0.6 million, respectively.

12. Equity-Based Compensation

General

The Company has granted options and restricted stock units to employees and non-employee directors
to purchase the Company’s common stock under various stock incentive plans. The plans are administered
by a committee of the Board of Directors, which determines the terms of the awards granted. The committee
may grant various forms of equity-based incentive compensation, including stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance awards, among others. Stock
options are granted with an exercise price equal to the closing market value of GMS common stock on the
date of grant, have a term of ten years, and vest over terms of three to four years from the date of grant.
Restricted stock units are granted with various vesting terms that range from one to three years from the
date of grant. The Company’s current stock incentive plan provides for the issuance of a maximum of
2.4 million shares, of which 2.0 million shares were still available for grant as of April 30, 2022. The Company
intends to use authorized and unissued shares to satisfy share award exercises.

Share-based compensation expense related to stock options and restricted stock units was $10.4 million,
$7.9 million and $6.5 million during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and is
included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss).
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Stock Option Awards

The following table presents stock option activity as of and for the year ended April 30, 2022:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of  Exercise  Contractual Intrinsic

Options Price Life (years) Value
(shares and dollars in thousands)
Outstanding as of April 30,2021 .. ................... 1,289 $20.86 6.8 $29.,465
Optionsgranted . . .. ... ... . .. .. 208 49.77
Optionsexercised . .. ... (222) 20.02
Options forfeited .. ....... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ~ (30 29.24
Outstanding as of April 30,2022 .. ................... 1,245 $25.65 6.4 $28,121
Exercisable as of April 30,2022 .. .................... 732 $20.24 4.9 $20,272
Vested and expected to vest as of April 30,2022 . ......... 1,241 $25.61 6.4 $28,086

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the excess of the Company’s closing stock price on the last
trading day of the period over the weighted average exercise price multiplied by the number of options
outstanding, exercisable or expected to vest. Options expected to vest are unvested shares net of expected
forfeitures. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020
was $7.5 million, $9.9 million and $11.5 million, respectively. As of April 30, 2022, there was $4.5 million
of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized over
a weighted-average period of 1.9 years.

The fair value of stock options granted during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions and resulting
weighted average grant date fair value:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020
Volatility . . ... ... 43.13% 51.28% 49.86%
Expected life (years) . . . ... .o 6.0 6.0 6.0
Risk-free interestrate . .. .......... ... 0.89% 0.30% 1.97%
Dividend yield ....................................... —% —% —%
Grantdate fairvalue . .......... ... ... .. . .. .. . .. ... ... $20.86 $11.13 $10.59

The expected volatility was based on historical and implied volatility. The expected life of stock
options was based on previous history of exercises. The risk-free rate was based on the U.S. Treasury yield
curve in effect at the time of grant for the expected term of the stock option. The expected dividend yield was
0% as we have not declared any common stock dividends to date and do not expect to declare common
stock dividends in the near future. The fair value of the underlying common stock at the date of grant was
determined based on the value of the Company’s closing stock price on the date of the grant.

Restricted Stock Units
The following table presents restricted stock unit activity for the year ended April 30, 2022:
Weighted
Number of Average
Restricted Exercise

Stock Units Price
(shares in thousands)

Outstanding as of April 30,2021 .. .............. .. .. ........... 361 $22.92
Granted . ....... ... ... 164 49.51
Vested . .o (182) 23.14
Forfeited . ... ... ... . .. _(13) 28.62
Outstanding as of April 30,2022 .. ......... ... ... ... ....... 330 $35.83
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As of April 30, 2022, there was $6.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
nonvested restricted stock units. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
1.9 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”) which allows for qualified employees (as
defined) to participate in the purchase of shares of the Company’s common stock at a price equal to 90% of
the lower of the closing price at the beginning or end of the last day of the purchase period, which is a
six-month period ending on December 31 and June 30 of each year. The ESPP authorizes the issuance of a
total 2.0 million shares, of which 1.6 million shares were still available for issuance as of April 30, 2022.

The Company recognized $0.6 million, $0.5 million and $0.5 million of stock-based compensation expense
in during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, related to the ESPP.

The following table presents the number of shares of the Company’s common stock purchased under
the ESPP and average price per share:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020
(shares in thousands)
Number of shares purchased under the ESPP . ... ............. 70 95 115
Average purchase price . . ... ...t $33.19 $21.78 $15.62

13. Stock Appreciation Rights, Deferred Compensation and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

The following table presents a summary of changes to the liabilities for stock appreciation rights,
deferred compensation and redeemable noncontrolling interests:

Stock Redeemable
Appreciation Deferred Noncontrolling
Rights Compensation Interests

(in thousands)

Balance as of April 30,2020 .. .................. $24,205 $1,660 $ 8,300
Amountsredeemed . ........... .. ... ......... (583) — —
Changeinfairvalue.......................... 3,173 215 1,073
Balance as of April 30,2021 . ................... 26,795 1,875 9,373
Amountsredeemed . .......... ... .. .. ... ... .. (320) — —
Changeinfairvalue.......................... 4,403 330 1,653
Balance as of April 30,2022 ... ................. $30,878 $2,205 $11,026
Classified as current as of April 30,2021 ... ........ § 1,305 § — $  —
Classified as long-term as of April 30,2021 ......... 25,490 1,875 9,373
Classified as current as of April 30,2022 .. ......... $ 1,532 $ — $ —
Classified as long-term as of April 30,2022 ......... 29,346 2,205 11,026

Total expense related to these instruments was $6.4 million, $4.5 million and $2.1 million during
the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and was included in selling, general and
administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
Current and long-term liabilities for stock appreciation rights, deferred compensation and redeemable
noncontrolling interests are included in other accrued expenses and liabilities and other liabilities, respectively,
in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company uses a lognormal binomial method to determine the fair value of stock appreciation
rights, deferred compensation and redeemable noncontrolling interests at redemption date. Significant
inputs used in this method include volatility rates, a discount rate, the expected time to redemption of the
liabilities, historical values of the book equity of certain subsidiaries and market information for comparable
entities. The use of these inputs to derive the fair value of the liabilities at a point in time can result in
volatility to the financial statements.

76



GMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Stock Appreciation Rights

Certain subsidiaries have granted stock appreciation rights to certain employees under which payments
are dependent on the appreciation in the book value per share, adjusted for certain provisions, of the
applicable subsidiary. Settlements of the awards can be made in a combination of cash or installment notes,
generally paid over five years, upon a triggering event. As of April 30, 2022, all stock appreciation rights
were vested. Liabilities related to these agreements are classified as share-based liability awards and are
measured at fair value.

Deferred Compensation

Subsidiaries’ stockholders have entered into other deferred compensation agreements that granted the
stockholders a payment based on a percentage in excess of book value, adjusted for certain provisions, upon
an occurrence as defined in the related agreements. These instruments are redeemed in cash or installment
notes, generally paid in annual installments over the five years following termination of employment. Liabilities
related to these agreements are classified as share-based liability awards and are measured at fair value.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests were issued to certain employees of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries.
The noncontrolling interest awards are subject to mandatory redemption on termination of employment for
any reason. These instruments are redeemed in cash or installment notes, generally paid in annual
installments over the five years following termination of employment. Under the terms of the employee
agreements, the redemption value is determined based on the book value of the subsidiary, as adjusted for
certain items. Liabilities related to these agreements are classified as share-based liability awards and are
measured at fair value.

Upon the termination of employment or other triggering events including death or disability of the
noncontrolling stockholders in the Company’s subsidiaries, we have to purchase, or redeem, the noncontrolling
interests at either an agreed upon price or a formula value provided in the stockholder agreements. This
formula value is typically based on the book value per share of the subsidiary’s equity, including certain
adjustments.

14. Fair Value Measurements

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table presents the estimated carrying amount and fair value of the Company’s liabilities
measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
April 30,

2022 2021
(in thousands)

Interest rate swaps (Level 2) .. ... ... ... . . . $1,136  $21,004

The Company has interest rate swap agreements with notional amounts totaling $500.0 million to
convert the variable interest rate on a portion of its Term Loan Facility to a fixed 1-month LIBOR interest
rate of 2.46%. The contracts were effective on February 28, 2019 and terminate on February 28, 2023. The
objective of the interest rate swap agreements is to eliminate the variability of interest payment cash flows
associated with variable interest rates. The Company believes there have been no material changes in the
creditworthiness of the counterparty to this interest rate swap and believes the risk of nonperformance by
such party is minimal. The Company designated the interest rate swaps as a cash flow hedges.

As of April 30, 2022, the $1.1 million interest rate swap liability was classified in other accrued expenses
and current liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. As of April 30, 2021, $11.8 million of
the interest rate swap liability was classified in other accrued expenses and current liabilities and $9.2 million
was classified in other liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company recognized
losses, net of tax, of $8.9 million, $8.8 million and $2.0 million in earnings during the years ended April 30,
2022, 2021 and 2020 respectively, related to its interest rate swaps. These losses are included in interest
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income and within cash flows
from operating activities within the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. As of April 30, 2022, the
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Company expects that approximately $1.1 million of pre-tax net losses will be reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) into earnings during the next twelve months.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined using Level 2 inputs. The Company obtains the
Level 2 inputs from its counterparties. Substantially all of the inputs throughout the full term of the
instruments can be derived from observable data or are supported by observable levels at which transactions
are executed in the marketplace. The fair value of the Company’s interest rate swap was determined using
widely accepted valuation techniques including a discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of
the derivative. This analysis reflected the contractual terms of the derivatives, including the period to
maturity, and used observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves and implied volatilities.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

Disclosures are required for certain assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring
basis in periods after initial recognition. Such measurements of fair value relate primarily to assets and
liabilities measured at fair value in connection with business combinations and asset impairments. For more
information on business combinations, see Note 2, “Business Combinations.” During the year ended
April 30, 2021, the Company recorded a $1.0 million impairment of operating lease ROU assets. During the
fourth quarter of 2020, the Company recognized a $63.1 million non-cash impairment charge to goodwill
related to its Canada reporting unit. See Note 5, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets,” for more information
regarding the impairment of goodwill and the fair value methodology. Also during the fourth quarter of 2020,
the Company initiated a restructuring plan to close one of its facilities and recorded a $1.9 million
impairment of the operating lease ROU asset. There were no other material long-lived asset impairments
during the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 or 2020.

Fair Value of Debt

The estimated fair value of the Company’s Senior Notes was determined based on Level 2 input using
observable market prices in less active markets. The carrying amount of the Company’s Term Loan Facility
and ABL Facility approximates its fair value as the interest rates are variable and reflective of market
rates. The following table presents the carrying value and fair value of the Company’s Senior Notes:

April 30, 2022 April 30, 2021

Carrying Amount  Fair Value  Carrying Amount  Fair Value
(in thousands)

Senior Notes . . . ................. $350,000 $310,625 $350,000 $350,000

15. Transactions With Related Parties

The Company purchases inventories from Southern Wall Products, Inc. (“SWP”) on a continuing
basis. During the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020, certain former executive officers and stockholders
and certain directors and stockholders of the Company were stockholders of SWP. As of April 30, 2021, these
executive officers and directors were no longer with the Company. The Company purchased inventory
from SWP for distribution in the amount of $7.3 million and $14.3 million during the years ended April 30,
2021 and 2020, respectively.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

General

The Company is a defendant in various lawsuits and administrative actions associated with personal
injuries, claims of former employees, and other events arising in the normal course of business. As discussed
in Note 1, “Business, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” under the
heading “Insurance Liabilities,” the Company records liabilities for these claims, as well as assets for amounts
recoverable from the insurer, for claims covered by insurance.

Favorable Class Action Settlement

During the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company received proceeds as part of a class
action settlement against certain drywall manufacturers related to purchases made during calendar years
2012 and 2013. The Company recorded a gain on legal settlement of $1.4 million and $14.0 million during
the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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17. Segments

General

The Company defines operating segments as components of the organization for which discrete
financial information is available and operating results are evaluated on a regular basis by the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in order to assess performance and allocate resources. The Company’s
CODM is its Chief Executive Officer. The Company has nine operating segments based on the Company’s
eight geographic divisions, which are Central, Midwest, Northeast, Southern, Southeast, Southwest, Western
and Canada, and Ames. The Company aggregates its eight geographic divisions operating segments into
one reportable segment based on similarities between the operating segments’ economic characteristics,
nature of products sold, production process, type of customer and methods of distribution. The accounting
policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant policies.

In addition to the Company’s reportable segment, the Company’s consolidated results include both corporate
activities and certain other activities. Corporate includes the Company’s corporate office building and
support services provided to its subsidiaries. Other includes Tool Source Warehouse, Inc., which functions
primarily as an internal distributor of tools, and Ames.

Segment Results

The CODM assesses the Company’s performance based on the periodic review of net sales, Adjusted
EBITDA and certain other measures for each of the operating segments. Adjusted EBITDA is not a
recognized financial measure under GAAP. However, we believe it assists investors and analysts in comparing
our operating performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by excluding items that we do
not believe are indicative of our core operating performance. Management believes Adjusted EBITDA is
helpful in highlighting trends in our operating results, while other measures can differ significantly depending
on long-term strategic decisions regarding capital structure, the tax jurisdictions in which companies
operate and capital investments. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations — Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for a further discussion of this non-GAAP
measure.

The following tables present segment results:

Year Ended April 30, 2022 April 30, 2022
Depreciation and Adjusted Total
Net Sales Gross Profit Amortization EBITDA Assets
(in thousands)
Geographic divisions .. .......... $4,559,477 $1,451,748 $111,452 $551,200  $2,809,394
Other . ...................... 75,398 36,527 6,120 15,721 290,341
Corporate . .. ................. — — 1,660 — 4,664
$4,634,875 $1,488,275  $119,232  $566,921  $3,104,399
Year Ended April 30, 2021 April 30, 2021
Depreciation and Adjusted Total
Net Sales Gross Profit Amortization EBITDA Assets
(in thousands)
Geographic divisions . .. ......... $3,263,893  $1,051,741 $106,152 $316,774  $2,459,344
Other . ...................... 34,930 10,962 364 2,597 20,339
Corporate . .. ...........oo.... — — 1,609 — 4,215

$3,298,823  §1,062,703 $108,125 $319,371  §2,483,898
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Year Ended April 30, 2020 April 30, 2020
Depreciation and Adjusted Total
Net Sales Gross Profit Amortization EBITDA Assets
(in thousands)
Geographic divisions . . .......... $3,213,938  $1,053,555 $114,279 $297,646  $2,299,880
Other ......... ... ... ....... 27,369 9,659 233 2,113 18,745
Corporate . .. ................. — — 2,021 — 5,829

$3,241,307 $1,063,214  $116,533  $299,759  $2,324,454

The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020
(in thousands)
NEtINCOME .« . o v v o et e e e e e $273.442  $105,560 $ 23,381
Interest eXpense . .. ... ..ottt 58,097 53,786 67,718
Write-off of debt discount and deferred financing fees . . . ... — 4,606 1,331
Interestincome . ............ ... ...t (163) (86) (88)
Provision for income taxes . ............... ... ... 91,377 31,534 22,944
Depreciation eXpense . . .. .. ..ot 55,437 50,480 51,332
AmOrtization €XPense . . . . ..o v vt 63,795 57,645 65,201
Impairment of goodwill .. ......................... — — 63,074
Stock appreciation expense™ . ... .. ... .. ... ... ... 4,403 3,173 1,572
Redeemable noncontrolling interests™ . ... ... .. ... .. ... 1,983 1,288 520
Equity-based compensation® . ... ...... ... ... .. ..... 10,968 8,442 7,060
Severance and other permitted costs L. 1,132 2,948 5,733
Transaction costs (acquisitions and other)® .. ... ... ..... 3,545 1,068 2,414
(Gain) loss on disposal and impairment of assets® ... ... .. (913) (1,011) 658
Effects of fair value adjustments to inventory® . .. ... ... .. 3,818 788 575
Gain on legal settlement . ... ....................... — (1,382)  (14,029)
Secondary public offering costs™ . .. ... L L. — — 363
Debt transaction costs” . ... ... — 532 —
Adjusted EBITDA ... ... ... .. ... ... . $566,921  $319,371  $299,759

(a)
(b)
©
(d)

(©

()

(2)

(h)
()

Represents changes in the fair value of stock appreciation rights.
Represents changes in the fair values of noncontrolling interests.
Represents non-cash equity-based compensation expense related to the issuance of share-based awards.

Represents severance expenses and other costs permitted in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA
under the ABL Facility and the Term Loan Facility, including certain unusual, nonrecurring costs and
credits due to COVID-19.

Represents costs related to acquisitions paid to third parties.

Includes gains from the sale of assets and impairment of assets resulting from restructuring plans to
close certain facilities.

Represents the non-cash cost of sales impact of acquisition accounting adjustments to increase
inventory to its estimated fair value.

Represents costs paid to third-party advisors related to secondary offerings of our common stock.

Represents costs paid to third-party advisors related to debt refinancing activities.

80



GMS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Revenues by Product

The following table presents Company’s net sales to external customers by main product line:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020
(in thousands)
Wallboard .. ........ .. .. .. ... . ... .. .. .. ... $1,710,851 $1,346,648 $1,329,775
Ceilings . . . .. oo 567,700 451,766 475,827
Steel framing . .. ...... ... . ... . ... ... . .. ... .. 1,027,941 469,048 502,122
Complementary products . ..................... 1,328,383 1,031,361 933,583
Totalnetsales . .......... .. .. .. .. . ... $4,634,875 $3,298,823  $3,241,307

Geographic Information

The following table presents the Company’s net sales by major geographic area:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020
(in thousands)
UnitedStates . .. ......... .. . $3,993,717  $2,770,450  $2,805,920
Canada . .......... ... 641,158 528,373 435,387
Total Nt SAlES . . o\ v v $4,634,875 $3,298.823  $3,241,307

The following table presents the Company’s property and equipment by major geographic area:
April 30, April 30,

2022 2021
(in thousands)
United States . . .. .. ... $311,061 $271,346
Canada . .. ... 39,618 39,980
Total property and equipment, net .. .......................... $350,679  $311,326

18. Earnings Per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share of common
stock:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020

(in thousands, except per share data)
Netincome . . . ..ot $273,442  $105,560 $23,381
Less: Net income allocated to participating securities . . ... ... — — 74
Net income attributable to common stockholders . ......... $273,442  $105,560 $23,307
Basic earnings per common share:
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding . ....... 43,075 42,765 41,853
Basic earnings per common share . .................... § 635 § 247 § 0.56
Diluted earnings per common share:
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding . ....... 43,075 42,765 41,853
Add: Common Stock Equivalents . .................... 823 578 651
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding . . . . . .. 43,898 43,343 42,504
Diluted earnings per common share . . . ................. § 623 § 244 § 0.55

During the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020, approximately 0.3 million and 0.8 million, respectively,
stock options and restricted stock units were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share
because their effect would have been anti-dilutive. During the year ended April 30, 2022, the number of
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Common Stock Equivalents excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share was not material. Anti-
dilutive securities could be dilutive in future periods.

19. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Allowances for Accounts Receivable

Balance Charged to Balance
at Beginning Other at End of
of Period Provision  Accounts®  Deductions Period

(in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended April 30,2022 . ... .. $(6,282)  $(1,588) $(2,714)  $1,238  $(9,346)
Fiscal Year Ended April 30,2021 ... ... (5,141) (1,774) 477) 1,110 (6,282)
Fiscal Year Ended April 30,2020 ... ... (6,432)  (2,348) 938 2,701 (5,141)

(a) Charged to other accounts represents the net (increase) decrease for specifically reserved accounts, as
well as the net change in reserves for sales discounts, service charges and sales returns.

Valuation Allowance on Deferred Tax Assets Rollforward

Balance Additions Balance
at Beginning  Charged to Costs at End of
of Period and Expenses Deductions Period

(in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended April 30,2022 ......... $(11,768) $(1,248) $1,297  $(11,719)
Fiscal Year Ended April 30,2021 ......... (10,183) (1,585) — (11,768)
Fiscal Year Ended April 30,2020 ......... (1,112) (9,071) — (10,183)

20. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth certain unaudited financial information for each quarter of the years
ended April 30, 2022 and 2021. The unaudited quarterly information includes all adjustments (consisting of
normal recurring adjustments) that, in the opinion of management, are necessary for the fair presentation
of the information presented.

Year Ended April 30, 2022

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(in thousands, except per share data)
Netsales ........................ $1,042,076  $1,150,551  $1,153,595 $1,288,653
Grossprofit ...................... 335,833 371,870 367,772 412,800
Netincome . ..................... 61,202 74,361 61,383 76,496
Per share data
Weighted average shares outstanding'":
Basic ............ . ... ... .. 43,089 43,135 43,094 42,977
Diluted . . ...................... 43,972 43,894 43,945 43,776
Net income per share!:
Basic ........... ... ... .. ... ... $ 142§ 1.72  $ 142§ 1.78
Diluted . . .. $ 139 $ 169 $ 140 $ 175
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Year Ended April 30, 2021

Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data)

First
Quarter
Netsales . ... ... $802,573
Grossprofit . ......... .. ... ... . . ... ..., 260,458
Netincome . .. ............ ... 27,219

Per share data
Weighted average shares outstanding'":

$812,856 $751,191 $932,203
265,071 243,324 293,850
28469 16,126 33,746

42,723 42,726 42,994
43,174 43,361 43,828

§ 067 $ 038 § 0.78

Basic ....... .. .. 42,624

Diluted . . ....... ... ... ... 43,017
Net income per share!":

Basic .......... . .. ... $ 0.64

Diluted . . ... ... .. ... ... $ 0.63

§ 066 $ 037 § 077

()

21.

Basic and diluted net income per share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented.

Therefore, the sum of the quarterly basic and diluted net income per share amounts may not equal

annual basic and diluted net income per share amounts.

Subsequent Event

On June 1, 2022, the Company acquired certain assets of Construction Supply of Southwest Florida,

Inc. (“CSSWE”). CSSWF is a distributor of various stucco, building and waterproofing supplies serving
markets in the southwest Florida area.
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company has established disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission and, as such, is
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management,
together with our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of
April 30, 2022.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, our management evaluated, with the participation
of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that,
as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to
provide reasonable assurance that the objectives of disclosure controls and procedures are met.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Internal
control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of April 30, 2022 based upon “Internal Control — Integrated Framework™ (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on
criteria described in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” (2013) issued by COSO, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of April 30, 2022. Management
has excluded Westside Building Material (“Westside) and Ames Taping Tools Holding LLC (“Ames”) from
its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2022 because these companies
were acquired on July 1, 2021 and December 1, 2021, respectively, and there was not sufficient time to assess
the design and effectiveness of their key internal controls prior to the conclusion of management’s
evaluation. Total assets and total revenues of Westside were approximately 5%, or $150.5 million, and 4%,
or $191.0 million, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended
April 30, 2022. Total assets and total revenues of Ames were approximately 9%, or $265.2 million, and 1%, or
$41.8 million, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended
April 30, 2022.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2022 has
been audited by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report
which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) that occurred during the three months ended April 30, 2022 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2022
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which information is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2022
Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the sections titled “Executive Compensation,” which information is
hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management of our
voting securities will be set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders in the section titled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management,”
which information is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth information as of April 30, 2022 concerning the shares of our common
stock which are authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans:
©

Number of securities
remaining available for

(a) (b) future issuance under
Number of securities to Weighted-average equity compensation
be issued upon exercise exercise price of plans (excluding
of outstanding options,  outstanding options, securities reflected
Plan Category warrants, and rights warrants and rights in column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders . ................... 1,575,036 $25.65@ 2,025,649
Equity compensation plans not approved by
securityholders . ................... — —

Total .. ... ... ... ... ... . ... 1,575,036 $25.65 2,025,649

(1) Includes 1,244,656 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options and
330,380 shares of Common Stock issuable upon vesting of outstanding restricted stock units.

(2) The weighted-average exercise price does not take into account the restricted stock units described in
footnote (1) because the restricted stock units do not have an exercise price upon vesting.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2022
Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the sections titled “Board of Directors’ Independence” and “Transactions
with Related Persons,” which information is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2022
Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the section titled “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Fees and Services,” which information is hereby incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 15.

PART IV

Exhibits and Financial Statements Schedules

(a) Documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

(D

2)

(€)

Exhibit No.

Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of April 30, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended
April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and
2020

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended April 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedules

The Financial Statement Schedule(s) described in Regulation S-X are omitted from this Annual
Report on Form 10-K because they are either not required under the related instructions or the
information is otherwise included in the consolidated financial statements.

Listing of Exhibits

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2

Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of GMS Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 23,
2020 (File No. 001-37784)).

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of GMS Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 23, 2020
(File No. 001-37784)).

Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 5 to GMS Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
May 16, 2016 (File No. 333-205902)).

Description of Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to GMS Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on June 25, 2020 (File No. 001-37784)).

Amended and Restated ABL Credit Agreement, dated September 30, 2019 among GYP
Holdings II Corp., GYP Holdings III Corp., as lead borrower, the other borrowers party
thereto, the lenders party hereto and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and
collateral agent for the lenders from time to time party thereto, and as Swing Line Lender and
L/C Issuer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on September 30, 2019 (File No. 001-37784)).

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of November 30,
2021, by and among GYP Holdings II Corp., GYP Holdings 111 Corp., as lead borrower, the
other borrowers party thereto, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders from time to time party thereto, and
as Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GMS
Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed December 2, 2021 (File No. 001-37784)).
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Exhibit No.

Exhibit Description

10.2

10.2.1

10.2.2

10.2.3

10.2.4

10.3

10.4

10.5+

10.6+

10.7+

10.8%

First Lien Credit Agreement, among GYP Holdings 111 Corp., the entities listed on
Schedule I thereto, GYP Holdings II Corp., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., the other lenders party
thereto, Royal Bank of Canada, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, UBS Securities LLC,
SunTrust Bank and RBC Capital Markets, LLC, dated April 1, 2014 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 2 to GMS Inc.’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on October 5, 2015 (File No. 333-205902)).

Incremental First Lien Term Commitments Amendment to First Lien Credit Agreement,
among GYP Holdings III Corp., as borrower, GYP Holdings II Corp., the financial
institutions from time to time party thereto, and Credit Suisse AG, as administrative and
collateral agent, dated September 27, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GMS
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 29, 2016 (File No. 001-37784)).

Second Amendment to First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of June 7, 2017, among GYP
Holdings IIT Corp., GYP Holdings IT Corp., the other guarantors party thereto, and Credit
Suisse AG, as administrative agent and as 2017 Incremental First Lien Lender (as defined
therein) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on June 9, 2017 (File No. 001-37784)).

Third Amendment to First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2018, among GYP
Holdings ITT Corp., GYP Holdings IT Corp., the other guarantors party thereto, Credit Suisse
AG, as administrative agent, and Barclays Bank PLC, as 2018 Incremental First Lien Lender
(as defined therein) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2018 (File No. 001-37784)).

Fourth Amendment to First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2021, by and
among GYP Holdings III Corp., GYP Holdings II Corp., the subsidiary guarantors party
thereto, Credit Suisse AG, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (including
the Senior Credit Agreement as amended thereby, as an exhibit thereto) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 22, 2021
(File No. 001-37784)).

ABL/Term Intercreditor Agreement, among GYP Holdings III Corp., GYP Holdings II
Corp., the other Grantors party thereto, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Credit Suisse AG and each
additional Representative from time to time party thereto, dated April 1, 2014 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Amendment No. 2 to GMS Inc.’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on October 5, 2015 (File No. 333-205902)).

Indenture, dated as of April 22, 2021, by and among GYP Holdings III Corp., GYP
Holdings I Corp., the guarantors listed therein and U.S. Bank, National Association
(including the form of Note attached as an exhibit thereto) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 22, 2021

(File No. 001-37784)).

Employment Agreement with John C. Turner, Jr., dated as of March 29, 2019 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 3, 2019
(File No. 001-37784)).

Amendment to Employment Agreement with John C. Turner, Jr., dated as of June 22, 2021
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to GMS Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
June 24, 2021 (File No. 001-37784)).

Employment Agreement with Scott Deakin, dated as of October 21, 2019 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 3, 2019
(File No. 001-37784)).

Amendment to Employment Agreement with Scott M. Deakin, dated as of June 22, 2021
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to GMS Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
June 24, 2021 (File No. 001-37784)).
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10.9%

10.10F

10.11%

10.12+

10.13%
10.13.1%

10.14%

10.15+

10.16+

10.17+

10.18%

10.19%

10.20F

10.21%

10.22+

10.23+

10.24%

Employment Agreement, by and between Craig Apolinsky and the Company, dated June 30,
2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Amendment No. 5 to GMS Inc.’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on May 16, 2016 (File No. 333-205902)).

Amendment to Employment Agreement with Craig D. Apolinsky, dated as of June 22, 2021
(incorporate by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to GMS Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
June 24, 2021 (File No. 001-37784)).

2014 GMS Inc. Stock Option Plan, effective April 1, 2014 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No. 2 to GMS Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
on October 5, 2015 (File No. 333-205902)).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18
to Amendment No. 2 to GMS Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 5,
2015 (File No. 333-205902)).

GMS Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to GMS Inc.’s
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed August 22, 2017 (File No. 333-205902)).

Amendment to GMS Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
GMS Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed December 4, 2018 (File No. 001-37784)).

Form of Nongqualified Stock Option Agreement under the GMS Inc. Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
October 20, 2017 (File No. 001-37784)).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the GMS Inc. Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
October 20, 2017 (File No. 001-37784)).

Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Award Agreement under the GMS Inc. Equity
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to GMS Inc.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed August 29, 2019 (File No. 001-37784)).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the GMS Inc. Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to GMS Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed August 29, 2019 (File No. 001-37784)).

GMS Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to GMS
Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed August 27, 2020
(File No. 333-205902)).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the GMS Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed November 10, 2020 (File No. 001-37784)).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the GMS Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to GMS Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
November 10, 2020 (File No. 001-37784)).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the GMS Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to GMS Inc.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed September 2, 2021 (File No. 001-37784)).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the GMS Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to GMS Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed September 2, 2021 (File No. 001-37784)).

GMS Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to GMS
Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed August 22, 2017
(File No. 333-205902)).

GMS Inc. Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment
No. 2 to GMS Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 5, 2015
(File No. 333-205902)).
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Exhibit No. Exhibit Description

10.25% Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.23 to GMS Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed June 27, 2019
(File No. 001-37784)).

10.26 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and its directors and officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Amendment No. 6 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on May 23, 2016 (File No. 333-205902)).

21.1% List of subsidiaries of GMS Inc.

23.1* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.

24.1* Power of Attorney (included on signature page hereto).

31.1% Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

31.2% Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

32.1% Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2% Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101 INS* XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data

file because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document..
101 SCH*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101 CAL*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101 DEF*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101 LAB*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101 PRE*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

1 Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
*  Filed herewith.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

GMS INC.

Date: June 23, 2022 By: /s/ JOHN C. TURNER, JR.
John C. Turner, Jr
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
( Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints John C. Turner, Jr. and Scott M. Deakin, jointly and severally, his attorney-in-fact,
with the power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said
attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K
has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ JOHN C. TURNER, JR. Chief Executive Officer, President and Director Tune 23. 2022
John C. Turner, Jr. (Principal Executive Officer) ?
/s/ SCOTT M. DEAKIN Chief Financial Officer June 23. 2002
Scott M. Deakin (Principal Financial Officer) >
/sl WILLIAM FORREST BELL Chief Accounting Officer j 3. 2022
William Forrest Bell (Principal Accounting Officer) une 22,
/s/ JOHN J. GAVIN
> - Chairman of the Board June 23, 2022
John J. Gavin
/s/ LISA M. BACHMANN )
Lisa M. Bachmann Director June 23, 2022
[/ PETER C. BROV.VNING Director June 23, 2022
Peter C. Browning
/sf THERON I. GILLIAM .
Theron . Gilliam Director June 23, 2022
/sf MITCHELL B. LEWIS .
Mitchell B. Lowis Director June 23, 2022
/s TERI P. MCCLURE .
Tori P McClure Director June 23, 2022
/sy RANDOLPH W. MELVILLE
Direct J 23,2022
Randolph W, Melville rrector e 2o
/s/ J. DAVID SMITH
> Director June 23, 2022

J. David Smith
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APPENDIX

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow are non-GAAP measures. GMS reports its financial results in
accordance with GAAP. However, it presents Adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow, which are not recognized
financial measures under GAAP. GMS believes that Adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow assist investors
and analysts in comparing its operating performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by
excluding items that the Company does not believe are indicative of its core operating performance. The
Company’s management believes Adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow are helpful in highlighting trends in
its operating results, while other measures can differ significantly depending on long-term strategic
decisions regarding capital structure, the tax jurisdictions in which the Company operates and capital
investments. In addition, the Company utilizes Adjusted EBITDA in certain calculations under its senior
secured asset based revolving credit facility and its senior secured first lien term loan facility.

The Company’s presentation of Adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow should not be construed as an
inference that its future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items. In addition, Adjusted
EBITDA and free cash flow may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies in
GMS’s industry or across different industries. Adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow have limitations as an
analytical tool and should not be considered in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of the Company’s
results as reported under GAAP.

Reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA

The following is a reconciliation of net income to Adjusted EBITDA for the fiscal years ended
April 30, 2022, 2021, 2020, 2019 and 2018:

Year Ended April 30,
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
(in thousands)

Netincome . ..................... $ 273,442 § 105,560 $§ 23381 $§ 56,002 $§ 62,971
Interestexpense . .................. 58,097 53,786 67,718 73,677 31,395
Write-off of debt discount and deferred

financingfees . .................. — 4,606 1,331 — 74
Interestincome . .................. (163) (86) (88) (66) (177)
Provision for income taxes . ........... 91,377 31,534 22,944 14,039 20,883
Depreciation expense . .. ............ 55,437 50,480 51,332 46,456 24,075
Amortization expense . . ............. 63,795 57,645 65,201 71,003 41,455
Impairment of goodwill . . .. .......... — — 63,074 — —
Stock appreciation expense® . ... ... ... 4,403 3,173 1,572 2,730 2,318
Redeemable noncontrolling

interests®® . ... ... ... .. ... ... 1,983 1,288 520 1,188 1,868
Equity-based compensation . . ... ... .. 10,968 8,442 7,060 3,906 1,695
Severance and other permitted

costs Y L 1,132 2,948 5,733 8,152 581
Transaction costs (acquisitions and

other)® . ... ... ... ... 3,545 1,068 2,414 7,858 3,370
(Gain) loss on disposal and impairment of

assets® L (913) (1,011) 658 (525) (509)
Effects of fair value adjustments to

inventory® . ... ... .. ... ... ... 3,818 788 575 4,176 324
Gain on legal settlement . ............ — (1,382) (14,029) — —
Change in fair value of financial

instruments™ . ... ... .. — — — 6,395 6,125
Secondary public offering costs® . . . . .. .. — — 363 — 1,525
Debt transaction costs? . . . .. ... ... ... — 532 — 678 1,285
Adjusted EBITDA . ................ $ 566,921 $ 319,371 $ 299,759 $§ 295,669 $§ 199,258
NetSales . ...................... $4,634,875 $3,298,823  $3,241,307 $3,116,032  $2,511,469
Adjusted EBITDA margin . ........... 12.2% 9.7% 9.2% 9.5% 7.9%



(a) Represents changes in the fair value of stock appreciation rights.
(b) Represents changes in the fair values of noncontrolling interests.
(c) Represents non-cash equity-based compensation expense related to the issuance of share-based awards.

(d) Represents severance expenses and other costs permitted in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA
under the ABL Facility and the Term Loan Facility, including certain unusual, nonrecurring costs and
credits due to COVID-19.

(e) Represents costs related to acquisitions paid to third parties.

(f) Includes gains from the sale of assets and impairment of assets resulting from restructuring plans to
close certain facilities.

(g) Represents the non-cash cost of sales impact of acquisition accounting adjustments to increase
inventory to its estimated fair value.

(h) Represents the mark-to-market adjustments for derivative financial instruments.
(1) Represents costs paid to third-party advisors related to the secondary offerings of our common stock.

(j) Represents costs paid to third-party advisors related to debt refinancing activities.

Reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Free Cash Flow

The following is a reconciliation of cash provided by operating activities to free cash flow for the
fiscal years ended April 30, 2022, 2021, 2020, 2019 and 2018:

Year Ended April 30,

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
(in thousands)
Cash provided by operating activities ........ $179,611 $153,304 $303,079 §$193,615 $ 91,263
Purchases of property and equipment . . ... ... (41,082)  (29,873)  (25,193) (18,770) (23,741)
Free cash flow® . ... ... ... .. ........... $138,529 $123,431 $277,886 $174,845 § 67,522

(a) Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure that we define as net cash provided by operations less
capital expenditures.



Reconciliation of Selling, General and Administrative Expense to Adjusted SG&A

The following is a reconciliation of selling, general and administrative expense to Adjusted SG&A for
the fiscal years ended April 30, 2022 and 2021:

Year Ended April 30,

2022 2021
Selling, general and administrative expense . ....................o..... § 950,125 $§ 763,629
Adjustments
Stock appreciation expense'™® . .. ... (4,403) (3,173)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests™ . . .. ... ... .. L (1,983) (1,288)
Equity-based compensation’® . ... ... ... (10,968) (8,442)
Severance and other permitted costs'” . ... ... L (1,216) (2,864)
Transaction costs (acquisitions and other)® . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... .... (3,545) (1,068)
Gain on disposal of assets® . . . ... ... 913 1,011
Debt transaction costs'® . . ... — (532)
Adjusted SG&A . . . .o § 928,923 § 747,273
Netsales . ... $4,634,875 $3,298,823
Adjusted SG&A margin . . ... ... 20.0% 22.7%

(a) Represents changes in the fair value of stock appreciation rights.
(b) Represents changes in the fair values of noncontrolling interests.
(c) Represents non-cash equity-based compensation expense related to the issuance of share-based awards.

(d) Represents severance expenses and other costs permitted in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA
under the ABL Facility and the Term Loan Facility, including certain unusual, nonrecurring costs and
credits due to COVID-19.

(e) Represents costs related to acquisitions paid to third parties.
(f) Includes gains from the sale of assets.

(g) Represents costs paid to third-party advisors related to debt refinancing activities.
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Board of Directors

John J. Gavin (A) (C)
Non-Executive Chairman GMS Inc.
Retired Senior Operating Advisor LLR Partners

Lisa M. Bachmann (A) (C)

Retired Executive Vice President,

Chief Merchandising and Operating Officer
Big Lots, Inc.

Peter C. Browning (B) (C)
Managing Director
Peter Browning Partners, LLC

Theron . Gilliam (B) (C)
Chief Executive Officer
NES Global Talent

Mitchell B. Lewis (A) (C)
Retired President and Chief Executive Officer
BlueLinx Holdings Inc.

Investor Information

Exchange Listing

GMS Inc’s common stock is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange under the ticker
symbol GMS.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc.
P.O. Box 1342

Brentwood, NY 11717
www.shareholder.broadridge.com
877.830.4936 or shareholder@broadridge.com

Independent Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP

Financial Publications

Most of the company’s reports and financial
filings can be retrieved from the company’s
website, www.gms.com. They can also be
accessed via the Securities & Exchange
Commission (SEC) website at www.sec.gov.

Teri P. McClure (B) (C)

Retired Chief Human Resources Officer

and Senior Vice President, Labor United Parcel
Service, Inc.

Randolph W. Melville (A) (C)
Retired SVP and General Manager, PepsiCo
Frito-Lay North America, Western Division

J. David Smith (A) (B) (C)
Retired Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
and President Euramax International, Inc.

John C. Turner, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer GMS Inc.

Board Committees:

(A) Audit Committee

(B) Compensation Committee

(C) Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Investor Relations

Investors and analysts should direct inquiries to:
Carey Phelps

Vice President, Investor Relations
770.723.3369 or ir@gms.com

Annual Meeting

GMS will hold this year's Annual Meeting in a virtual format
only at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/GMS2022

on Wednesday October 19, 2022 at 8:00 am ET.
Stockholders of record as of August 25, 2022 are entitled
to receive notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting
and any adjournments or postponements thereof.

Corporate Offices

100 Crescent Centre Parkway, Suite 800
Tucker, GA 30084

770.939.1711
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